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Corporate Profile

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation and listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 00506).
The primary business of the Company includes wines, beverages, kitchen foods and
confectionery. The Company is committed to providing consumers with nutritious, healthy,
delicious and quality food. Currently the Company’s product portfolio includes a number
of well-known brands, such as “Greatwall” wine, “/&E&F3” consumer-pack edible oil,
“Le conté” chocolate and “& M £” Shaoxing rice wine. As a strategic partner of The Coca-
Cola Company in China, the Company also bottles and distributes Coca-Cola beverages.

o wlRED

TERBARAR (A TEES [ARR]) STEEEERARNMBAR - LEEEH
BRGAARABER LT (RFERN - 00506) - KRR EEXKEIEEE - KK - BE
RmEARER AARBAIRBHEEERTEEE  2F  XKNEERM - ARFR
RNEMESBERZMEME Sl [RE | BT - [REFT] RKRAHK 2% 115
RAOR[ERE] BEBEE - (ERAI ORI LRRETBENERBEHY - NORTERNEE
A AT ZE Z DI BREY ©



Contents

2 Business Structure

3 Financial Highlights

4 Milestones 2010

8 Chairman’s Statement

12 Statement from Managing Director

16 Management Discussion & Analysis

36 Directors and Senior Management Profile

46  Social Responsibility Report

57  Corporate Governance Report

79  Directors’ Report

105 Independent Auditors’ Report

107 Consolidated Income Statement

108 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
109 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
111 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
113 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

117 Statement of Financial Position

118 Notes to the Financial Statements

221 Five Year Financial Summary

222 Corporate Information

224  Financial Calendar

H &%

A W N

16
36
46
57
79
105
107
108
109
111
113
117
118
221
202
224

FIERE
MR E
2010 F K= D
F R
EREEE R
EREFmET

EXNEREEAREN

SEMERE
EEREAME
BERgWmE
BB RE
A ARE

2ERATRE

A MBARREK
SYPEN IR
EE%//ILE%
%%#ﬂ%

FA TS ERR BT RE
hEMHRE
RAEIER
BUEAS R

‘bk\ ‘)?'\\ e ‘bk\
aF S Sr o Sir
n> n> n> n>

WEERAERAE 201055

1



ucture

OBl
BEVERAGES

WINES

rp 5] £ A PR 2 |
" CHINA FOODS LIMITED

—

/ B £

KITCHEN FOODS

B
FECTIONERY



B 5 4 22
Financial Highlights
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BEVERAGES
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COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited entered into the
league of global top 10 Coca-Cola bottling groups.

g B O AT SR EH B IR 22 A5 A O AT 2 BX X
KREETT °

10th Anniversary Ceremony of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited was held at the China National
Convention Centre.

g R O AT B IR 2 7]+ B FE A B 5 2
FOEEERTT

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner Mongolia)
Limited officially commenced production.

g RO AT E (AR S ) BIR A FIEEEFIZ -

New products “Minute Maid 10 Super V" juice drink,
“Yuan Ye” Light Aromatic Jasmine tea flavored
beverage and “Yuan Ye” Honey Aromatic Jasmine tea
flavored beverage were launched.
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Milestones 2010

“Greatwall Chateau Sungod Special Reserve Dry
Red” won a gold medal at the Wine & Alcohol World
Championships in Brussels.

RIGTTBHIF R A TALE 5215 B2 i B ) 2,8 %
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“Greatwall Chateau Sungod Reserve Merlot/Cabernet Dry
Red” and “Chateau Sungod Reserve Dry Riesling” were —
awarded gold medals at the 4th Asian Wine Competition. | I‘
RGRTFOHERPIGET TFERKTFARRBRFE
HEBRE 7)< T E IR EE N2 NEEHEEX
BHHE -

“Greatwall” won the first “Outstanding Contribution to
the Global Wine Industry Award” from the International
Organisation of Vine and Wine (OIV).

ErEE ILREE s HE e meE o) Fzas W 5
B 5B MR - P -

We successfully expanded to overseas by acquisition of
vineyard and production base in Chile.
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KITCHEN
OODS BUSINESS

J&F 55 B i s

& “Fortune DHA Grain Blended Oil” and “Z% & % /B
FE—AR7E4 ] 7 were launched into market.
[ 7865 FT | DHA 1) 2% 58 F1H FI < & 5 R PR — AR 72
EHETT e

& For the second consecutive year, “Fortune”
was honoured with the “Chinese Famous and
Trustworthy Brand Award” at the China Advertising
Great Wall Awards ceremony.

[#5Ha T R F R LT R [HE
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= & Millward Brown ranked “Fortune” among the
T = e W e i L s s “2010 Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese Brands”.
A [ #8852 FT | AZ Millward Brown #7569 2010524

1BlEF EmpE50% |

"'-h._

lf "'Tn-
ﬁ#ﬁij_«?

ﬁﬁ-‘l?ﬁﬂﬂiﬂiﬁﬂ E



2010 4E K = 0] g
Milestones 2010

CONFECTIONERY

5% H BUSINESS |
P T hEUS

“Merveille” collaborated with Hunan Television to launch
a series of brand promotion activities with the Blooming of
Spring Flowers programme through product placement.

B B EABE B(TE R )W & (EF/R da
L EIREEE
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New products including “Cupcolate” chocolate drink, “Le
conté” aerated chocolate and Merveille’s fruit juice jelly
candy were launched.
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Chairman’s Statement

Offer nutritious, healthy,
delicious and quality food
and realize maximum value
for customers, shareholders
and employees

EREE  BF  XHKNE

ER'm EREEF  REM
ETHEERKI

Ning Gaoning 5
Chairman E /&



Dear Shareholders,

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
branded foods and beverages businesses and the Group’s major
businesses currently include wines, beverages, kitchen foods and
confectionery.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
was HK$19,956 million, representing an increase of 18.6% over
2009. Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
decreased by 24.7% to HK$428 million from 2009. Basic earnings
per share attributable to owners of the Company for the year was
HK15.31 cents.

The setback in profitability was largely due to the necessary restructuring
of the sales and distribution model of wines business. We are confident
that this temporary setback will serve to pave the way for the long term
sustainable growth of our wines business. There is significant growth
potential in the China branded consumers foods industry and we believe
our businesses are well positioned to benefit from this.

The board of directors (the “Board”) has recommended the payment
of a final dividend of HK3.21 cents per share for the year ended 31
December 2010, subject to approval at the annual general meeting
to be held on 8 June 2011. Together with the interim dividend of
HK2.30 cents per share, the total dividend for 2010 will be HK5.51
cents per share. The proposed final dividend will be distributed on 17
June 2011 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’
register of the Company on 8 June 2011.

REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Building a large scale downstream consumer foods business

The Group responded to operational pressures and keen market
competition proactively in 2010. We refined our business processes
to facilitate the sustainable development of our businesses.
Leveraging on COFCO group’s complete value chain strategic
business model, the Company clearly positions itself as a large scale
downstream branded consumer foods player with a key responsibility
to create demand pull for the entire upstream value chain. Our aim is
to become a leading branded consumer foods conglomerate in China
of international standard.
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Chairman’s Statement

Execution of food safety risk management strategy

Consumers are increasingly concerned with health and food safety
issues. The complete value chain strategy that is being implemented
across the COFCO group enables control to be exercised over
the entire value chain from raw materials sourcing, production
processing, warehousing to sales and distribution. Together with
the continuing optimization of our food safety risk management
systems, we are well positioned to provide safe, reliable and healthy
foods to consumers. We believe this strategy gives us an advantage
in consumer confidence and trust in our branded consumer foods
business and fulfills our corporate social responsibility.

Continuously improve our core competitiveness

In 2010, the Company continued to improve its core competitiveness
through brand management activities, improved control over sales
and distribution channels, optimization of strategic retail coverage,
driving product innovation and continuously improving the quality
of our products. Through these efforts, we will continue to fulfill
our customers’ needs and establish our brands as popular Chinese
household names.

Strategy execution and performance assessment

To improve strategy execution, we will implement a comprehensive
performance assessment system. This is a critical component of
our corporate management system which emphasizes a result-
oriented culture. Assessment results will form basis for the design and
implementation of training programs to managers and staff, providing
them with additional room for superior performance.

Sustainability and value creation

China’s branded consumer foods market is characterized by keen
competition and rapid growth. The emergence of truly large scale
consumer foods conglomerates is a natural course of development.
Our Company aims to become a market leader in this respect. To
achieve this goal, we aim to grow at a much faster pace than before.
Both organic growth and external expansion will be pursued in
parallel in order to drive continuous and healthy growth of the Group’s
business scale and profitability. In response to the ever-changing
business environment, we will continuously adjust and optimize our
business model, improve our businesses mix and strive to realize
synergies among our businesses. We are committed to improving

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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our corporate governance and fulfilling our social responsibility. With
a sound corporate governance structure and effective management
systems, we will be able to provide effective assurance of sustainable
development and value creation for the company, and greater returns
to shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our shareholders for their support to and trust in our management
team. My gratitude also extends to my fellow members of the Board
for the support and contribution they made in 2010. | would also like
to thank our staff for fulfilling their duties and their unremitting efforts
in the development of the business of the Group.

Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as the managing director of the Company with
effect from 10 February 2011 while Mr. Wang Zhiying resigned as
a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 28 March
2011 to take-up other appointments. On behalf of the Board, | would
like to take this opportunity to thank both Mr. Qu and Mr. Wang for
their invaluable contributions to the Company during their tenures of
office. The Board has appointed Ms. Luan Xiuju to succeed Mr. Qu
as the managing director and ensured the smooth transition of work.
| would also like to express my warm welcome to Mr. Chi Jingtao as
he joins the Board of the Company as the executive vice-chairman
and Ms. Liu Ding as she joins the Board of the Company as a non-
executive director.

Mr. Chi and Ms. Luan both have extensive experience in the PRC
market and in the respective fields of their expertise in the foods
industry. | believe that these appointments will help further promote
the overall management standards and execution ability of the
Company. | also believe the Company will write a new, bright chapter
under the new management team.

Ning Gaoning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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Statement from Managing Director

The Company has set
challenging performance
targets and adopted a theme
of “advance through reform,
teamwork for win-win” for
the year.

RRAFET ARBENER
RIgFRE - BOXRIOF

EXE -

Luan Xiuju %%
Managing Director & Z 84518
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Statement from Managing Director

Dear Shareholders,

REVIEW

In 2010, due to rapidly rising raw material costs and frequent
unusual weather events, the Company faced very severe challenges.
Nevertheless, we remained focused on the long-term development of
the Company and continued to enhance our core competitiveness, to
optimize our sales and distribution model and to push forward with

product innovation.

Through the proactive efforts of our team, each business has
made varying degrees of progress according to their respective
competitive advantages. The beverages business continued to
enjoy healthy growth via precise management execution. A newly-
built bottling plant in Inner Mongolia helped extend our sales
coverage and enhance our operating efficiency. The wines business
restructured its sales and distribution model and undertook
a brand-driven marketing strategy in response to changing
consumption patterns, which provided a solid foundation for
sustainable future growth. In addition, the wines business acquired
a production base in Chile as a source of good quality, competitively
priced wine for importation into China. The kitchen foods business
successfully expanded its retail sales network which resulted in
rapid growth in sales volume. The confectionery business continued
its optimization of management systems, and devoted additional
resources to improving brand image and recognition. Overall
improvements were made in product innovation management of
the Group. With products such as “Greatwall Chateau Sungod,” the
ratio of new products launches continued to see healthy increase in
recent years, reflecting a favorable development trend.
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Statement from Managing Director

In the year under review, we overcame difficulties brought about
by extreme weather conditions early in the year and cost pressure
from rapidly rising commodity prices. Notwithstanding the different
levels of market competition faced by our businesses, overall
business turnover of the Group continued to grow. The Group
recorded revenue of HK$19,956 million, representing an increase
of 18.6% over that of previous year. The strategic restructuring of
the sales and distribution model of our wines business resulted in
a decrease in its sales volume while branding investments were
made according to budget. This has negatively impacted the
overall profitability of the Group, resulting in a decrease of net profit
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company by 24.7%
to HK$428 million. We are expecting a strong rebound in our wines
business in the near future as a result of the efforts made in 2010.

PROSPECTS

2011 will present both challenges and opportunities. China’s
rapidly growing economy and increased consumer affluence will
provide us with tremendous growth opportunities. To capture these
opportunities via organic growth and external expansion and to
outperform industry growth thereby providing higher returns to
shareholders are the immediate tasks for the new management
team. The Company has set challenging performance targets and
adopted a theme of “advance through reform, teamwork for win-win”
for the year. We will revamp the organization structure and incentive
mechanism to improve operational efficiencies and to enhance
capabilities in external expansion. With continuing focus on brand
building, product innovation and distribution network development,
brand recognition, market share and core competitiveness will be
further improved. Particular attention will be paid to the cultivation
of a corporate culture that embraces professionalism, morale and
cohesion with a view to building a passionate and energetic team
that will be highly acclaimed in this industry. Through our efforts,
we expect to become a leading flagship enterprise in the China’s
branded consumer foods industry.
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Statement from Managing Director

APPRECIATION

| would like to extend my gratitude to my fellow colleagues for their
hard work and dedication, and heartfelt appreciation to our suppliers
and customers for their cooperation and support. My appreciation
also extends to our shareholders who have chosen to invest in our
Company. Last but not least, | wish to give my sincere thanks to
the Board for placing their trust in me. | look forward to delivering
satisfactory results in return.

Luan Xiuju
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2011
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The Group’s Coca-Cola beverages bottling group
is engaged in the bottling production and sale and
distribution of Coca-Cola sparkling beverages, as well as
the sale and distribution of Coca-Cola still beverages, such
as juices, juice milk, tea and water, in sixteen provinces,
cities and autonomous regions in the PRC under franchise
agreements with The Coca-Cola Company.
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Coca-Cola Bottling Plants and Franchise Territories of the Group
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Beverages Business

In 2010, our beverages business achieved outstanding results
despite the negative impacts of extreme cold weather in northern
China in the beginning of the year, severe rainstorms and floods
in central China in the mid-year, keen competition in the industry
and a significant increase in sugar prices. The business recorded
a sales revenue of approximately HK$7,921 million, an increase of
11.6% over the previous year, and a segment result of approximately
HK$524 million, an increase of 35.3%. The sales volume was 486
million unit cases, representing a growth rate of 14%, which propelled
us into the league of global top 10 Coca-Cola bottling groups.

In the still beverages category, our annual sales volume for Minute
Maid juices increased 26% from previous year. In the first half of
the year we launched various new flavors and new products, such
as “Minute Maid” 10 Super V juice drink, “Yuan Ye” Light Aromatic
Jasmine tea flavored beverage and “Yuan Ye” Honey Aromatic
Jasmine tea flavored beverage, which were all well perceived by
consumers. According to market research by AC Nielsen at the end
of December 2010, the Minute Maid brand continues to be ranked
No. 1 in the juice category in China.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In respect of marketing, we captured growth opportunities by fully
leveraging on Chinese New Year, 2010 FIFA World Cup, Mid-
Autumn Festival and National Day holidays through various effective
marketing campaigns. We will continue our work on effective
merchandising execution and promotion of products at points of
sale. We will continue to expand our distribution network through
developing markets at county, town and village level, fostering
strategic partnerships with our key customers, improving product
category management, establishing regional logistics centers, and
maintaining quality customer services.

In respect of production capacity expansion, our new production line
in the Beijing bottling plant and newly-built bottling plant in Inner
Mongolia were commissioned in the mid-year and at the end of the
year, respectively, which will help extend our sales coverage and
enhance our operating efficiency. Currently our annual sparkling
beverages bottling capacity is approximately 583 million unit cases,
an increase of 27% over the previous year.

In 2011 the beverages industry will continue to be pressured by the
rising costs of raw materials. We plan to manage our costs through
improvements in production efficiency and use of more light-weight
packaging materials.
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The Group's wines business is principally engaged in the
production, marketing and sales of wine under the “ R4
and “Greatwall” brands, in addition to importing wine and the
production and marketing of yellow rice wine. The business
is vertically integrated, encompassing the management
of vineyards, wine-making, marketing and sales, brand
management and development. In addition to its three
wineries and two chateaux in Yantai, Shacheng and Changli,
the Group acquired a vineyard and production base in Chile
during the year as a source of good quality, competitively
priced wine for importation into China. The construction of
a fourth domestic winery in Ningxia is currently in progress,
which will help extend our sales coverage and enhance our
operational efficiency.
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The year was a difficult one for our wines business. In particular
during the first-half of the year, the business was heavily involved
in the strategic restructuring of the sales and distribution model
including re-engineering of the model. In-depth negotiations with
certain large distributors over new distribution agreement terms
resulted in a negative growth of 7.3% of sales revenue and a
decline in segment result of 46.5% during the first-half of the year.
Subsequently, following the successful conclusion of negotiations
in late third quarter, sales revenue began to improve. Annual sales
revenue amounted to approximately HK$3,114 million, down by
only 2.6%, and there was an encouraging improvement in gross
profit margin from 58.0% to 59.9%. However, the disruption to
the business in the earlier part of the year resulted in a decline in
segment results to HK$365 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With regards to the wine market, consumption patterns reveal
a gradual switch away from on-premise channels to off-premise
channels. In response, we have made appropriate adjustments
to our channel and brand marketing strategies, while at the same
time migrating to a new sales and distribution model with a view to
achieving:

. Improvements of distribution agreement terms including
increasing ex-factory selling price.

. Rationalization of multi-layered sales and distribution system.

. Optimal management of existing distribution territories of
certain distributors.

o Greater control over use of brand and marketing resources.

In addition to the orderly implementation of the above, we are
executing a strategy of continual optimisation of our wine product
mix in favour new medium-to high-end key wine series, and the
strengthening of brand recognition. The Group is looking forward to
the ultimate goal of a dynamic balance of the three key elements in
the wines business — effective branding and marketing, continuing
product mix enhancement and efficient channel management — and
strongly believes that this balance will create a solid foundation for
growth momentum and profitability in the long run.

During the year, a pilot project version of our new sales and
distribution model was adopted to promote our premium “Greatwall
Chateau Sungod” series. The new model was validated and
demonstrated its effectiveness as this series successfully gained a
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Management Discussion and Analysis

sizable market share in the premium wine market, with annual sales
revenue generated from “Greatwall Chateau Sungod” increasing
by approximately 4.3 times, with good acceptance by consumers.
At present, we are actively preparing the launch of a new medium-
to high-end key wine series with a unified marketing plan covering
the whole country based on a similar sales and distribution model
to “Greatwall Chateau Sungod” series. Besides, our imported wines
business is also growing at a high rate as we have accelerated the
pace of building sales channels for these products. Sales revenue
from this imported wines business recorded a growth of 60% over the
previous year.

In respect to brand building, we have capitalised on the prestige of
our “Greatwall” product’s identification as “The Only Official Wine of
Shanghai World Expo 2010” (“Shanghai Expo”) and its presence in
state banquets. We participated in the relevant food expo displays
and sales activities and relevant roadshow in six major cities
organised by the Shanghai Expo, and a wide range of other sales
and promotional activities which effectively maximise our brand’s
exposure and reputation.

In respect of vineyard diversification, in addition to the acquisition of
a vineyard and production base in Chile, we are also actively pursuing
other acquisition opportunities for targeted overseas vineyards with
similar strategic goals.

As the fruition of the efforts made in 2010, we expect to see a strong
rebound in the result of our wines business.
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KITCHEN

F OODS BUSINESS
J&5F 55 B il s

Our kitchen foods business principally engages in sales and distribution of consumer-
pack edible oil, seasoning sauces and related products in the PRC under the “#g##/"7”,

“Fortune” “PYHE” “Zil "and “FEK ~ brands.

T )7 Bt B L ZEU [T ~ [Fortune ~ [ P9# ) ~ [ Zeif] ] 1 [ 5K i i

17 [ 5 B R 7 531 /I 40 T oty 5 1T i 1y @

In 2010, annual sales revenue amounted to approximately
HK$8,344 million, representing a 38.9% increase over previous
year. Sales volume reached 803,000 tonnes, an increase of 25.6%
over the previous year. The increase was primarily due to the
successful implementation of new measures by the management
team in product innovation, sales channel building and foundation
work at distribution and display. The gross profit margin decreased
from 9.7% to 8.5% due to rising raw material cost pressure,
that call for efficient procurement of bulk oil and continuing
enhancement of product mix.

In keeping with the trend of increasing health awareness among
consumers and consumer demand for enhanced product types,
we are continuously pursuing product innovation and the launch
of delicious, nutritious and healthy edible oils. During the year, we
focused on promoting “Natural Grain Blended Oil” and a number of
key products such as “DHA Grain Blended Oil”, “ZX B EEE— R L
A5 7, further enhancing our high-end healthy oil product line and
satisfying the demand of general consumers in China.
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Leveraging on the opportunity of Shanghai Expo as our products
under the Fortune brand were the only official oil products of
Shanghai Expo”, we organised a series of relevant public relations
activities under the themes of “Year of Shanghai Expo, Joyful Year”
and “DHA for the Shanghai Expo”. Through the themes of Shanghai
Expo and the promotion of our mission and contribution to healthy
dining, the reputation of our “Fortune brand” was effectively raised.

We increased our efforts to extend the penetration and building of
our sales channels. With the urbanisation of China accelerating,
momentum in this region is increasingly being devoted to third-and
fourth-tier cities by strengthening our cooperative relationships with
county distributors.

In response to increased market demand for our edible oils our parent
COFCO group, as our key supplier, has embarked on a program to
expand its crushing and processing capacity. Gradual completion
of projects in Shandong, Guangxi, Tianjin and Jiangxi will enable
us to further capitalise on our cost advantages, develop new sales
regions, and increase market share, thus providing additional growth
momentum to our kitchen foods business.
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The confectionery business is mainly engaged in the production and distribution

of chocolates and other confectionery products in the PRC under the £, “Le
1l conté”and “Merveille” brands.

Despite such adverse factors as stiffening competition and the impact of Chinese
A New Year and Valentine s Day (both traditional chocolate-giving days) falling on
'f the same date, we managed to achieve a record sales revenue of approximately
HKS$576 million, representing an increase of 10.9% over the previous year. Gross
1l profit margin decreased from 48.9% to 46.8% due to rising raw material cost
pressure, that call for continuing enhancement of product mix and improvement

in production efficiency according to our management plan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A number of new products were launched in 2010. Most notable were “Le conté” aerated chocolate and “cupcolate”
chocolate drinks, both of which were “first of their kind” new products which have gone on to redefine the taste of
chocolate in China. Another new product — “Merveille” fruit juice jelly candies — was launched to a similarly positive
reception in the market.

Considerable resources were invested in brand building over the course of 2010. “ % ” launched a promotion early in
the year using the theme of “Le conté, My Love, So Smooth and Rich”, appearing in 13 cities across China. Television
advertisements for “& " were broadcast on channels such as Beijing Satellite TV and outdoor media in a bid to favorably
reposition the brand and enhance brand awareness. The “Merveille” brand also collaborated with Hunan Television’s
Blooming of Spring Flowers programme through product placement as an effective means of conveying the “Merveille”
core message.

Looking ahead in 2011, the Company will strengthen the classic image of “£# " chocolate, and expand upon the
“Brightening up your happy life” core message of the “Merveille” brand. Our general aim, as always, is to solidify the
competitiveness of our existing products, design new products, expand coverage of retail outlets and enhance control over
distribution channels so as to further improve the results of our business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 75 1ol

Supplemental information to segment results of the Group for the year AEEHZE2010F 12 A31 HIEFEDEE
ended 31 December 2010 with comparative figures, are set out below: B2 ERLBRLLBEESHINNT

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A310LLFE

2010 2009
% %
Growth of revenue by segment: BEBERE D 2 WAEER
— Beverages — 8K 11.6 55.2
— Wines —B%a -2.6 14.6
— Kitchen Foods —BERmMm 38.9 7.7
— Confectionery NGNS 10.9 425
Contribution of revenue by segment: &2 758 5IE 5 2 WA BBMELL
— Beverages — &Kt 39.7 42.2
— Wines — B4 15.6 19.0
— Kitchen Foods —HERM 41.8 35.7
— Confectionery —KER R 2.9 3.1
Gross profit margin by segment LEBER (TeEeE)
(excluding Beverages): g2 EFE
— Wines — B8 59.9 58.0
— Kitchen Foods —BERmMm 8.5 9.7
— Confectionery NG 46.8 489
Selling and distribution costs REBER (TREER)
to revenue ratio by segment g5 HEKDH
(excluding Beverages): ARSI A LL K
—Wines —B%E 43.5 355
— Kitchen Foods —-EHERMR 7.1 85
— Confectionery —KER R 53.0 54.1
Segment result to revenue ratio: DEPFEELTMALLE -
— Beverages — &R 6.6 5.5
— Wines — B85 11.7 183
— Kitchen Foods —BHERM 0.4 0.3
— Confectionery —KER M -13.8 -11.5
Effective tax rate of the Group REBEH B E
(Note 1) (fsE1) 31.9 25.8
Note: B3 -
1. The calculation of effective tax rate of the Group is based on tax divided by 1. 7R £ B 75 0B R Ty 1R F TE M DA S S B R B A
adjusted profit before tax after excluding the contributions by share of profits of (TEFEIEBEARHSANER) ETE -
associates.
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REVENUE
The Group’s total revenue for the year grew by approximately 18.6%
over the last year, as the combined effects of:

° approximately 38.9% revenue growth rate of Kitchen Foods
segment, with continuing growth in sales volume attributable to
increasing coverage of retail sales outlets and general increase
in market price of edible oil products;

° approximately 11.6% revenue growth rate of Beverages
segment, with strong recovery in sales volume during the
second half of the year under review that outweighed the
impact of cold weather during January to April of the year under
review;

° approximately 10.9% revenue growth rate of Confectionery
segment, with normalized growth under the effort of its
management team; and

° a slight decline in revenue of approximately 2.6% of Wines
segment, primarily caused by the fact that Wines segment has
been in the process of a strategic restructuring exercise on its
sales and distribution model. Consequently, orders from certain
distributors involved in the restructuring have decreased
resulting in decline in sales volume.
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GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Overall gross profit margin dropped slightly from approximately
27.9% to approximately 25.5%. Improvement of gross profit margin
in Wines segment is a result of our general increase in selling price
to distributors and continuing product mix enhancement, together
with maintenance of gross profit margin in Beverages segment that
is attributable to the great effort of management team in effective
procurement of raw material and production cost saving. But the
aggregate effects of improvements were entirely offset by the drop
in gross profit margins of Kitchen Foods segment and Confectionery
segment under the raw material cost pressure and intensified market
competition of products.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS

Overall selling and distribution costs sharply rose by approximately
14.2% for the year over the previous year, mainly driven by
the approximately 8 percentage point increment of selling and
distribution costs to revenue ratio in Wines segment. As Wines
segment has been in the process of a strategic restructuring exercise
on its sales and distribution model, the relevant costs and the general
increase branding expenses of “Greatwall”, especially for premium
types of product categories, were incurred together during the year
under review.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Overall administrative expenses increased by approximately 20.0%
for the year over the last year which was attributable by the general
expansion of management functions of each business division
and corporate level, recording of full-year office expenditures after
relocation to new office premise and pre-operating expenses of new
subsidiaries in China and in overseas.

FINANCE COSTS

Overall finance costs cut by approximately 15.8% for the year over
the last year which was mainly due to the combined effects of less
cash discount given to certain distributors of Wines segment in 2010
that outweighed the higher finance costs caused by the increase in
outstanding balance of bank loans.
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SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates increased by approximately 6.0% for the
year over the previous year which was due to moderate increase in
net profits of certain associates.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Effective tax rate of the Group substantially increased from
approximately 25.8% to approximately 31.9%, which was mainly
due to uncertainty of tax deductibility of prolonged losses of certain
subsidiaries.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function formulated financial risk
management procedures, which are also subject to periodic review
by the senior management of the Company. This treasury function
operates as a centralized service for managing financial risks,
including interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, reallocating
surplus financial resources within the Group, procuring cost-efficient
funding and targeting yield enhancement opportunities. The treasury
function regularly and closely monitors its overall cash and debt
positions, proactively reviews its funding costs and maturity profiles to
facilitate timely refinancing, if appropriate.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s unpledged cash and cash
equivalents totalled approximately HK$1,741 million (31 December
2009: approximately HK$1,943 million), and the Group’s net current
assets were approximately HK$1,525 million (31 December 2009:
approximately HK$1,662 million). Due to working capital changes
during the year, the net cash inflow from operating activities of
approximately HK$125 million (2009: approximately HK$1,060
million) was recorded whereas the earnings before finance cost,
income tax expense, depreciation, amortization of other intangible
assets, recognition of prepaid land premium and share of profits
of associates amounted to approximately HK$1,209 million (2009:
approximately HK$1,244 million).

PEAL T E 1 R A
REEREHEATENBEF EAD
6.0% ' Ty eI % T 2 B T8 28
RATE -

FrisBi< i

7R 9 B ) 7 OB i 4925.8% £ FHE 4
319% " WYEBRRETHBARNRS
B RBUR . B EAAE 17 (T AARANE TR o

RBESRUBER

AR EREPIRE ST M RARERE
Fro YHARRSREEEEHNEN - B
ERFIER P B IR B R A R K I R R A 2
BRER - ENOENFERBSR R AANEE
FRAERA M@ ER  WNERSWEZ
#is - BEREPIEHL T ERERRES &
BB - EEIRAT B E R K 2 BB ILIA
HEREZBEATBRE -

20106128318 » A%LE 2 EEKIFIR
CRBeEEBEBARNABITLEST
(2009412 A31H : £919.4318%87m) » A&
B2 nEEEFELNA15.25EB T (2009
F£12A318 : Y1662EET) - HRER
KEESHNE  CEEBEEZFRER
A#E1.251878 7T (2009 F : 49/410.6018
BIL) o B ERA ~ B - T8
HipEp A ER  BREMN LS RES
e N ENEF BT FE R4 B 12.09 BT
(20094 : #)12.44{&BTT) °

v B £ A R 2 D

2010 4E4E 3]



o B s B g e

Management Discussion and Analysis

Having considered the normalized cash flow from operating
activities, unpledged cash and bank deposits and current bank
and other borrowings and banking facilities available to the Group,
the management believes that the Group’s financial resources are
sufficient to fund its debt payments, day-to-day operations, capital
expenditures and prospective business development projects.

Held-to-maturity investments represented corporate bonds with
expected redemption dates falling within the coming two years or
three years at dates of purchase. The Company has no exposure in
mortgage-backed securities, collateralized debt obligations or similar
asset classes.

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The management is of the view that the exchange rate
risk exposure of the Group is limited.

The Company cautiously uses derivatives principally in the form of
future contracts and interest rate swaps as appropriate for financial
risk management purpose only, in hedging cash flows against the
exposure caused by sharp rise raw in material price and interest
rate volatility. Entering into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes and investing liquidity resources in financial products with
significant underlying leverage or derivative exposure are absolutely
prohibited.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the total number of issued shares of the Company
increased by 947,680 shares as a result of certain employees of
the Group exercising their share options granted in 2007. As at 31
December 2010, the total number of issued shares of the Company
was 2,792,459,756.
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As at 31 December 2010, the Group had certain interest-bearing
bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,487 million (31 December
2009: approximately HK$788 million) and other borrowing of
approximately HK$29 million (31 December 2009: approximately
HK$15 million). A loan from a non-controlling shareholder of
approximately HK$114 million was early repaid during the year.

Bank borrowings carried annual interest rates ranging between
0.72% and 5.31% (31 December 2009: between 1.1% and 4.37%).
Other borrowing carried annual interest rate of 4.59% (31 December
2009: 4.86%). A loan from a non-controlling shareholder carried
annual interest rate at 2.78% as at 31 December 2009.

As at 31 December 2010, net assets attributable to owners of the
parent were approximately HK$5,947 million (31 December 2009:
approximately HK$5,483 million) and net cash position of the Group
(unpledged cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and a loan from a non-controlling shareholder) was
approximately HK$225 million (31 December 2009: approximately
HK$1,026 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS PLEDGED
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2010, certain bank borrowings of the Group were
secured by charges over certain investment properties, property,
plant, equipment, prepaid land premiums and bank deposits of
the Group with aggregate net book value of approximately HK$168
million (31 December 2009: approximately HK$109 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2010, the Group employed approximately
16,027 staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December
2009: 13,160). Employees are paid according to their positions,
performance, experience and prevailing market practices, and are
provided with management and professional training. Employees
in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits, either under a
Mandatory Provident Fund exempted ORSO scheme or under the
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life insurance and
medical insurance. Employees in Mainland China are provided with
basic social insurance and housing fund in compliance with the
requirements of the laws of China. Details of these benefit schemes
are set out in “Other employee benefits” under note 2.4 “Summary
of significant accounting policies” to the financial statements in this
annual report.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 November
2006 (the “Option Scheme”) for a term of ten years and the purpose
of the Option Scheme is to reward eligible employees of the Group
(including executive directors and non-executive directors of the
Company) based on individual merits.

As at 31 December 2009, a total of 18,054,780 share options of the
Company remained outstanding. During the year, no share options
were granted pursuant to the terms of the Option Scheme, while a
total of 573,922 share options were cancelled and a total of 188,678
share options lapsed. In addition, a total of 947,680 shares were
issued and allotted by the Company upon the exercise of share
options by a director of the Company and certain employees of the
Group. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2010, a total of 16,344,500
share options of the Company remained outstanding. Share
options granted under the Option Scheme are valid for seven years,
exercisable over five years after 24 months from the date on which
they are granted subject to the satisfaction of certain requirements
under the Option Scheme.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHANGE IN THE STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP
During the year, two new wholly-owned subsidiaries namely Fig
RHEEE(ZE)BRAF (COFCO Greatwall Wine (Ningxia)
Co., Ltd.) and 18 (£E)BEHBEER QT (COFCO (Ningxia)
Vine Plantation Co., Ltd.) were established in the PRC and a new
wholly-owned subsidiary namely Vina Santa Andrea Limitada
was incorporated in Chile by the Group. The Group’s total capital
commitments of these three new companies amounted to
approximately USD31.16 million.

On 10 January 2011, a new wholly-owned subsidiary namely Top
Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS was incorporated in France. The
Group’s capital commitments of this new company amounted to
approximately EUR4.15 million.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the view of the board, the Company complied with the principles
and code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
throughout the year, except for the deviation from code provision
E.1.2 of the Code as explained in the Company’s interim report for the
six months ended 30 June 2010.

Details of the Company’s work in corporate governance during the
year are disclosed in the corporate governance report on pages 57 to
78 of this annual report.
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NING GAONING &%

CHI JINGTAO EZE

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

DIRECTORS

NING GAONING

Mr. Ning, 52, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company and chairman of the board in January
2005. Mr. Ning is also the chairman of COFCO
Corporation (“COFCO"), the chairman of COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)"), as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of COFCO. Currently, Mr. Ning
is a non-executive director and chairman of China
Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”), a
company listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director of
CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
and a non-executive director and vice chairman of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“China Mengniu”), a
company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ning is also an independent director of Huayuan
Property Co. Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai and
a director of BOC International Holdings Limited. Mr.
Ning was a non-executive director of Lippo China
Resources Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
until August 2009; and a director of Smithfield Foods,
Inc., a company listed in New York, until 2 March 2011.
Mr. Ning has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management, investment and corporate finance,
business restructurings and governmental relations.

Mr. Ning graduated from Shandong University in China
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics and from the
University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master
of Business Administration degree in finance.

CHI JINGTAO

Mr. Chi, 48, was appointed as an executive director, the
executive vice chairman of the Company and a member
of the remuneration committee with effect from 10
February 2011. Mr. Chi is also a vice president of COFCO;
a non-executive director of China Agri, a company listed
in Hong Kong; and an independent director of China
Hainan Rubber Industry Group Co., Ltd, a company
listed in Shanghai. Mr. Chi joined COFCO in August 2003
and was the director of human resources department of
COFCO during October 2004 and February 2011. Prior
to joining COFCO, Mr. Chi held various positions in China
Minmetals Corporation, including his position as the
general manager of human resources department.

Mr. Chi holds a Bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
the Academy of Armored Forces Engineering in Beijing
and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of International Business
and Economics.
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LUAN XIUJU

Ms. Luan, 46, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in March 2007 and re-designated as the
managing director of the Company with effect from 10
February 2011. Ms. Luan has been the chief executive
officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO
Coca-Cola”), a 65% subsidiary of the Company, since
2003. Ms. Luan is currently a director of certain
members of the Company and its subsidiaries. Ms. Luan
joined COFCO in 1989 and has extensive experience in
beverage production, trade and management.

Ms. Luan graduated from Renmin University of China
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics and a Master
of Arts degree in economics.

MAK CHI WING, WILLIAM

Mr. Mak, 49, was appointed as an executive director and
a deputy general manager of the Company in October
2006. Mr. Mak is also the chief financial officer of COFCO
(HK). Mr. Mak is also a director of Global Lander Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Mak
is a member of each of the Institute of Management
Accountants, Institute of Internal Auditors, Association
of Certified Fraud Examiners, Information Systems Audit
and Control Association and an international affiliate of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Prior to joining COFCO (HK) in May 2006, Mr. Mak had
worked with Philips Electronics for over 15 years. Mr.
Mak has extensive corporate governance experience.

Mr. Mak graduated from the University of British
Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in finance.

ZHANG ZHENTAO

Mr. Zhang, 47, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in March 2007. Mr. Zhang is currently
the general manager of the strategy department. Prior
to joining the strategy department of the Company, Mr.
Zhang was the general manager of COFCO Food Sales
& Distribution Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined COFCO in 1984 and has more
than 20 years of experience in oil trade and management.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
economics and from Peking University with a Master of
Business Administration degree.
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CHINA FOODS LIMITED

LIU DING

Ms. Liu, 56, was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 28 March 2011. Ms. Liu joined
COFCO in April 2005 and is currently a member of
the Communist Party Committee and the head of the
Communist Party Discipline and Inspection Team of
COFCO; and a director of COFCO Property (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (“COFCO Property”), a company listed in Shenzhen.
Prior to joining COFCO, she was deputy director of the
Propaganda and Education Bureau of the Propaganda
Department of the Communist Party of China. Ms. Liu
has more than 20 years of experience in legal affairs,
general management, government relation, public
relation, corporate culture development, organization
development and propaganda and education. Ms.
Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a
Bachelor’s degree in history and holds an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business.

MA JIANPING

Mr. Ma, 47, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in March 2007 and was re-designated as
a non-executive director of the Company on 1 March
2008. Mr. Ma was a deputy general manager of the
Company from June 2003 to February 2008 and was a
director of certain members of the Group. Mr. Ma joined
COFCO in 1986 and is currently a vice president and the
director of the strategy department of COFCO, a director
of COFCO Property, a company listed in Shenzhen, and
a non-executive director of China Mengniu, a company
listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma has extensive experience
in corporate finance, investment, strategic planning and
management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Ma graduated from University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing with a degree of
Executive Master of Business Administration.

WU WENTING

Ms. Wu, 47, was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company in March 2007. Ms. Wu joined COFCO in
1992 and is currently the director of the audit department
of COFCO. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in auditing
and financial management.

Ms. Wu graduated from Beijing Technology and Business
University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics
and from Central University of Finance and Economics
with a Master of Arts degree in professional accounting.
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STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK

Mr. Clark, 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in January 2005 and
is currently the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the board.
Mr. Clark is a joint managing director of The Anglo
Chinese Investment Company, Limited, the chairman
of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel and a member of
the Takeovers Appeal Committee of the Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC"), a former director of the
Hong Kong Securities Institute and has served as an
alternate member of the Listing Committee of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Mr. Clark has extensive experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Clark holds a joint honors degree of Bachelor
in History and History of Art from the University
of Nottingham in England and a degree of Master
in Business Administration from the University of
Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.

LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

Mr. Li, 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in November 2008
and is currently a member of the audit committee of
the board. Mr. Li is currently a director of My Top Home
(China) Holdings Limited. Mr. Li was a member of each
of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel of SFC and the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange and an expert
member of the Finance Committee of the Kowloon
Canton Railway Corporation and the chief finance officer
and an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has more than 30
years of experience in finance and accounting.

Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in
economics and sociology from The University of Hong
Kong, and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.
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YUEN TIN FAN, FRANCIS &X R

YUEN TIN FAN, FRANCIS

Mr. Yuen, 58, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 1993
and is currently the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee of
the board. Mr. Yuen is currently the deputy chairman
of Pacific Century Regional Developments Limited,
a company listed in Singapore, and an independent
non-executive director of China Pacific Insurance
(Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai and
Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen was a former chief executive of
the Stock Exchange from 1988 to 1991 and a non-
executive director of Kee Shing (Holdings) Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, until November 2010.

Mr. Yuen holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
economics from the University of Chicago and is
currently a member of the university’s board of
trustees. Mr. Yuen is also the chairman of the board of
trustees of Hong Kong Centre for Economic Research,
a member of Shanghai People’s Political Consultative
Conference and a member of the board of trustees of
Fudan University in Shanghai.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ZHANG JIXIANG

Mr. Zhang, 49, has been the general manager of the
beverages business unit of the Company since February
2011. Mr. Zhang joined COFCO in 1987, and has
served as the deputy general manager of Hainan COFCO
Coca-Cola since 1996 and the general manager of
that company since 1999. In 2002, he was appointed
as the general manager of Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Company Limited and was appointed as the
general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co.,
Ltd. in 2010. Mr. Zhang has extensive operations and
management experience and has more than 20 years
of experience in the beverage industry. Mr. Zhang
graduated from China Agricultural University and holds a
Master of Science degree in agriculture.

WU FEI

Mr. Wu, 40, has been the general manager of the wines
business unit of the Company since February 2007.
Mr. Wu joined COFCO in 1992 and has held various
management positions in the wines business unit of
the Company since 1999. Mr. Wu has over 19 years of
experience in corporate management and wines business.
Mr. Wu graduated from University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing with a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree and is currently studying
at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business for a degree
of Executive Master of Business Administration.

CHEN GANG

Mr. Chen, 39, has been the general manager of the
kitchen foods business unit of the Company since April
2008. Mr. Chen joined COFCO in 1994 and prior to taking
up this position, he was a deputy general manager of
the oilseeds processing unit of China Agri, a company
listed in Hong Kong, and was the general manager of
the confectionery business unit of the Company from
April to November 2008. Mr. Chen has over 17 years
of experience in oilseeds processing, oil trade and
management and currently he is a deputy head of the
oils division of the Chinese Cereals and QOils Association, a
member of the National Cereals and Oils Standardisation
Technology Committee and a deputy head of Beijing
Brand Association. Mr. Chen graduated from Peking
University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in law, and
from Tsinghua University with a Master of Business
Administration degree. Currently, Mr. Chen is studying
a doctorate degree in Institute of Population and Labour
Economics.
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CHINA FOODS LIMITED

TANG HONG

Mr. Tang, 42, has been the general manager of the
confectionery business unit of the Company since
November 2008. Mr. Tang joined COFCO in August 1990.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tang was an assistant to
general manager and then a deputy general manager of
COFCO Tunhe Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai. Mr.
Tang has extensive experience in corporate management
and sale and distribution of foods. Mr. Tang graduated
from University of International Business and Economics
in Beijing with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics and
from Leeds University with a degree of Executive Master of
Business Administration.

HE HUI

Mr. He, 39, has been the general manager of the
human resources department and officer of corporate
administration department of the Company since March
2007. Mr. He joined COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(China) Investment Ltd. (“COFCO Coca-Cola (China)”), a
subsidiary of the Company, as the director of its human
resources and administration department in May 2005.
Mr. He has nearly 15 years of experience in human
resources management with over ten years in Fortune
500 companies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He
was the general manager of the human resources and
administration in Vanda Group (China), a subsidiary of
Hutchison Whampoa. Mr. He has extensive experience
in corporate strategic human resources management,
organization development, talent development and
performance review. Mr. He graduated from Beijing
Information Science & Technology University with a
Bachelor of Sciences degree in management information
system and studied graduate-level courses in human
resources management in Peking University. Currrently,
Mr. He is studying a degree of Executive Master of
Business Administration in China Europe International
Business School.

CHEN DEBIAO

Mr. Chen, 39, has been the general manager of the
finance department of the Company since October 2006.
Mr. Chen joined COFCO in 1993 and has over 17 years
of experience in accounting and financial management.
Mr. Chen is a PRC certified public accountant. Mr. Chen
graduated from University of International Business and
Economics in Beijing with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in economics and also holds a Master of Arts degree
in finance from the University of New South Wales in
Australia. Currrently, Mr. Chen is studying a degree of
Executive Master of Business Administration in China
Europe International Business School.
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MAN KWOK LEUNG

Mr. Man, 35, has been the financial controller of the
Company since May 2004 and the head of Investor
Relations Department of the Company since May 2010.
Mr. Man possesses extensive experience in auditing
and financial management across a broad spectrum
of industries. Mr. Man is a member of each of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
and has also been awarded the Financial Risk Manager
(FRM) designation by the Global Association of Risk
Professionals. Mr. Man holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
in professional accountancy from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

CHEN ZHANJIANG

Mr. Chen, 48, has been the general manager of the
marketing and research development department of
the Company since March 2011. Mr. Chen is currently
also the general manager of COFCO Cereal Way
Foods Limited. Mr. Chen joined COFCO Coca-Cola
since February 2002, since then he has held senior
positions as the financial controller and the general
manager in certain subsidiaries of COFCO Coca-Cola.
He was the deputy general manager of beverages
business unit of the Company during the period from
April 2008 to October 2010. Mr. Chen has more than
22 years of experience in fast moving consumer goods
industry and has extensive experience in finance,
brand and marketing planning, team management
and general management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law and
Research Institute for Fiscal Science, Ministry of
Finance with a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics
and a Master of Arts degree in economics.
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LIU MIAO

Mr. Liu, 39, has been the general manager of the sales
and operation department of the Company since March
2011. He joined COFCO Coca-Cola in August 2008,
served as the sales director of COFCO Coca-Cola and
also the general manager of Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Company Limited. Prior to joining COFCO
Coca-Cola, he has served as the regional manager of
The Procter & Gamble (China) Co Limited, national
sales manager and trade marketing manager of Reckitt
Benckiser Household Products (China) Co. Ltd. and the
general manager of Northern China Region of Unilever
Services (He Fei) Co Limited. Mr. Liu has 16 years of
experience in fast moving consumer goods industry and
has extensive experience in sales and management. Mr.
Liu graduated from Peking University with a Bachelor of
Science degree in geology.

MA YUE

Mr. Ma, 44, has been the general manager of each of
the supply chain department and the quality and safety
management department since March 2011. Mr. Ma
joined COFCO Coca-Cola as the director of supply chain
department in February 2005, and then the assistant to
general manager of the beverages business unit of the
Company in June 2009. Prior to joining COFCO Coca-
Cola, he served as operation manager of Sinosteel Raw
Materials Co., Ltd. in 1992 and a senior manager of the
production technology department of Beijing Coca-Cola
Beverage Co., Ltd. since July 2000. Mr. Ma has more
than 10 years of experience in fast moving consumer
goods industry and has extensive experience in supply
chain management. Mr. Ma graduated from University of
Science and Technology Beijing with a Master ofScience
degree in Metal Materials Science and Engineering.

CAO JIE

Mr. Cao, 38, has been the deputy general manager of the
audit department of the Company since May 2009. Mr.
Cao joined COFCO Coca-Cola (China), a subsidiary of the
Company, as the director of its internal audit department
in January 2003. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cao had
worked with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants Ltd. and Swire Beverages Limited, and he
has more than 14 years of experience in audit, internal
control, risk management and financial management. He
is a certified internal auditor and a member of each of
the Institute of International Auditors and China Institute
of Internal Audit. Mr. Cao graduated from Peking Union
University and received a Master of Science degree in
international consultancy and accounting from University
of Reading in the United Kingdom.

Annual Report 2010

27k

Bt BFE9 - B011F3AREER
AABIHEEL AL - 70 20084F8 A
AR AR FREEP A ARHERE
KRR g ] QAT R AR A R AL -
MARE AR ZA - BIEERERER(P
) BRARIKEEIR - MR (RE)
FRAFZHEHEELEREFIRETIHK
12 REESNE(RE)ERAFETEERA
K8 - BIEAHER I6FRBMITEER - £
HERERTHBEGLELR - BITERE
RIERKE - EESIRBEF B -

BiE

B4 BEALE - R2011E3 AEERE
BARARHEESBCEREEHTSER
Hum 1P o 5525 A | 20054F 2 A B T ]
AR IEGEIBAE - W MR 200946 A
AR BRI B EBACIRNE - FEMMAF
AN EIAT B SR 1992 HE 4T AR 8 E R
BRRARIFEBLIE : R H2000F 7 ARBET
bR A O A 248k R B R A Rl A E T2 m A&
IR BAEMABBIOFIERITEL
% EREEEEIERALELH - B
HFEEMEERIBARE  BESBEMHRBIET

BB+ Sy -

=

AL IFE385 0 H20094F 5 AREIEIA
NABERPRRLIE o B EER 2003 F
1AMARABMBRAGIPIEAL(FER) -
BENIPEAEE - EIMALRE®RF - B
ENMERENESE KRS EBER
AR RAKXGEEERAF - EE - AL
#il - BB RSB IR B ES T UE
LA EREEES o 2B NI ETAD - &
BRI e P E AR e e
8 BAERENERHAKRE  WESK
HETASBBERB ARG EHETEM0 -



ZHANG Wei

Mr. Zhang, 35, has been the assistant general manager
of the legal department of the Company since March
2011. Mr. Zhang joined COFCO in December 2008 and
served as senior legal counsel. Mr. Zhang has been
admitted to New York State Bar Association. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law with an LLB and an LLM degree and holds an LLM
and a JD degree from Indiana University School of Law.

CHEN QING

Mr. Chen, 40, has been the assistant general manager
of the information technology department of the
Company since March 2011. Mr. Chen joined COFCO
Coca-Cola in December 2002, since then he has
served as sales information manager, ERP project
Manager, project director and assistant procurement
director. He has studied information technology
and management in Australia and has served as
database and network engineer in Australia Wide
Direct Marketing. Mr. Chen has extensive experience
in sales information management, business process
optimization, ERP system design and implementation.
Mr. Chen graduated from Beijing University of
Technology with a Bachelor’s degree in economics
and University of New South Wales in Australia with a
master of Engineering degree.
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Social Responsibility Report

PROLOGUE

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) regards its corporate social
responsibilities as inherent in the sustainable development of its
business and the society to which it belongs. We fulfill our corporate
mission and responsibilities by “offering nutritious, healthy, delicious
and quality foods and realising maximum value for customers,
shareholders and employees”.

This report summarises the various social responsibility programs
undertaken by the Company during the year from the perspective
of our code of ethics, and how we approach our responsibilities to
staff, customers, shareholders and the public at large so that you may
comprehend our efforts and improvements.

l. Code of ethics

The Company has taken a proactive approach to encourage
its staff to strictly adhere to our code of ethics, as well as laws
and regulations, through practical guidance and actions.
The Company has formulated a Code of Business Conduct
and Staff Behavior Principles and provided training for all
the staff. During annual distributor meetings, distributors
would be informed of our requirement that staff adhere to our
Code of Business Conduct. Hence, ensuring the Company
is legally operated and every staff conduct is coherent with
the Company’s principles and ethical standards with a
view to reinforcing its core values of “integrity, enthusiasm,
professionalism, teamwork, understanding and innovation”.
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Our responsibilities to staff

The Company consistently adheres to the principle of human
orientation. We respect and care for staff, and safeguard their
legal rights and interests. By encouraging their professional and
personal development, we enter into a “growth partnership”
with them.

1.  Talent planning and development

The Company has developed a scientific management
system which includes evaluation and development
components pertaining to all staff. With respect to staff
evaluation, the Company has established an evaluation
system that equally emphasise performance and
ability. In the area of personal development, we provide
specific training and assistance to staff based on their
performance and abilities assessments, and with the
assistance of their supervisors and the human resources
department, we provide specific training and guidance
to help staff plan their career coherent to the Company’s
development with a view to achieving mutual success. In
2010, total accumulated training time reached 324,000
hours, or an average of 21.2 hours per staff member.
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Il.  Our responsibilities to staff (continued)
2.
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Staff rights and staff caring

As at 31 December 2010, the group employed 16,027
staff, a 21.8% increase over 2009. The Company has
established trade unions to protect the legal rights and
interests of staff members at all levels and strengthen
their participations in the Company’s management.
Policies and procedures such as a Staff Handbook
and Labour Contract Management Regulations have
been formulated and constantly refined to codify
staff members’ rights to work, rest and reasonable
compensation.

We adhere to a remuneration philosophy based on
position and performance which is based on prevailing
market standards. We offer competitive remuneration
and provide comprehensive staff benefits to our staff,
including a housing reserve fund, pension insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, accident
insurance and maternity insurance, as required by
the laws and regulations of the state. In addition,
annual physical examinations, supplementary medical
insurance and personal accident insurance are provided.
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COFCO Food Sales & Distribution Co., Ltd. was named as the “2010
Model Unit in Food Safety” at China Food Safety Annual Conference
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Our responsibilities to customers

The most fundamental social responsibility of the Company
is to offer products which are safe and consistently meet or
exceed accepted standards of quality. We have put in place a
stringent food tracking system to ensure that we fulfill this basic
responsibility.

During the year, the Company established an independent
safety and environmental protection management department
with a professional team which is dedicated to safety and
environmental protection. During the year, we formulated and
issued five management procedures, such as OEM Quality
and Food Safety Management Procedures and Safety and
Environmental Issues Accountability System. We determined
that our quality and food safety policies would focus on safety,
nutrition, health and taste and have worked intensively to put
in place controls for ensuring food safety at source and during
all stages of the supply chain. COFCO Food Sales & Distribution
Co., Ltd. and COFCO Greatwall Winery (Yantai) Co., Ltd. were
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CHINA FOODS LIMITED

named as a 2010 Model Unit in Food Safety by the judging panel
comprising six major ministries and commissions, including State
Administration of Industry and Commerce, State Quality Inspection
Administration and Food & Drug Administration, as well as relevant
authorities. COFCO Food Sales & Distribution Co., Ltd. was
recognized as an Outstanding Contribution Enterprise.

The Company has worked intensively to put in place a quality and
food safety protection management system which complies with
international standards. It is a three-tier audit system covering self-
inspection, internal audit and external certification which provides
verification standards to ensure certification of the Company’s
service quality, and a continuous improvement mechanism.
During the year, the Company entered into a system certification
framework agreement with a successful bidder and all system
certifications are now conducted by a single certification institute.

Our responsibilities to shareholders

Details of our responsibilities to shareholders are set out in
“Communication with shareholders” and “Investor relations”
under “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 76 to 77 of this
annual report.

Our responsibilities to society

The Company views corporate efficiency and environmental
protection as matters of equal importance. We take an active
stance in honouring what we perceive as our social obligations
and work hard at being a good corporate citizen so that the
Company may progress and grow with the society.

Annual Report 2010
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V.  Our responsibilities to society (continued)

1.

Environmental protection

All operating plants with the Group have established
and are implementing the 1ISO14001 environmental
management system. Verification and audit were
conducted regularly by international recognized
certification institutes. Environmental protection
requirements are taken into account during the planning
process for establishment of a new plant, and new plants
are required to establish a full ISO14001 environmental
management system within two years.

All our subordinate enterprises have established
management procedures and systems for emission
reduction and energy conservation, and employ
monitoring mechanisms to gauge their actual
effectiveness. Compared with last year, the Company’s
comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000
added value decreased by 10.7%, while both the wines
and confectionery business units each achieved 20%
reductions. The energy utilisation rate of the beverages
business amounted to 0.30MJ/L (power consumption in
megajoules/beverages produced in litres). The total fresh
water consumption dropped by 1.11%. The water usage
in our wines business dropped 4.5% per tonne of wine.
The fresh water utilisation rate of the beverages business
was 2.1L/L (water consumption/beverages produced in
litres), being a leader in the industry, and the fresh water
usage of confectionery business dropped by 11%.
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V.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Our responsibilities to society (continued)

1.

Environmental protection (continued)

The Company advocates a low carbon way of working and
organised related campaigns such as Power Conservation
for Less Emissions Week and Earth Hour. The Company
also requires its subordinate enterprises to cut down
their greenhouse gases (ghg) emissions and to establish
policies on the use of renewable and clean energy; to
formulate sustainable packaging processes and package
waste reduction plan and targets; and to encourage their
employees to use public transport for low-carbon travel. As
compared to 2009, the use of paper decreased by 5.46%
and all of our enterprises and units have revised their
business travel policies and effectively cut down the level of
energy consumed and carbon emission arising in business
travel. We are glad to see that our enterprises are attaching
more importance to water and power conservation and
low carbon targets during the formulation of business
strategies. Environmental protection has become one of
the key performance indicators of strategy setting.

As compared to 2009, our carbon dioxide emissions
decreased by 4.91%, and emissions of sulphur dioxide
decreased by 5.47%. Five plants managed by the
beverages business unit were accredited by China Beverage
Industry Association as 2010 Outstanding Enterprise in
Water and Energy Conservation in the Beverages Industry
of China. COFCO LeConte Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. was
accredited as a Clean Production Enterprise in Guangdong.
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V.  Our responsibilities to society (continued)

2.

Charity

The Company sponsored and/or organised a number of
charity activities during the year, including fund raising in
aid of the disadvantaged and victims of natural disasters,
which achieved good social effects and influence.

Actively sponsor charity activities

The Company joined hands with The All-China Women's
Federation to kick off a series of activities under
the theme of “Low carbon family, stylish life”. The
programme helped promote our image as a provider of
low carbon, safe, nutritious and healthy foods. We also
won the Caring Enterprise Award, jointly given by three
ministries and bureaus in China.

In 2010, for the second consecutive year, the Company
was an active participant in the China’s Children Fund
orphan protection initiative by way of charity sales
of olive oil. The campaign was initiated by the China
Children Insurance Special Fund under the aegis of
China’s Children and Youth Fund and aims to provide
free insurance on major disease to orphans and children
living in poverty.
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Care for the elderly
HWEEFA

Actively sponsor charity activities (continued)

At the Jinling Glittering New Year Charity Party jointly
organized by Jinling Evening News and Nanjing Red
Cross, the wines business unit of the Company donated
several bottles of Greatwall Chateau Sungod World Expo
Special Dry Red for auction and the funds raised were
allocated to the Jinling Baby Caring Fund under Nanjing
Red Cross for helping the children aged between 0 and
14 of families living in poverty.

In order to share warmth with the elderly and let
them feel the caring from the society during festive
times, the Company paid visits to 105 “empty nest”
senior citizens living around ChaoYang Avenue area
in Beijing and some nutritious and health products,
such as new plant sterol ester maize edible oils and
naturally aging wild bee honey, were presented to
them as gifts.
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Active participation in disaster relief

With the assistance of the Zunyi Municipal Government
of Guizhou, the Company donated 200 boxes of edible
oil to victims in the flood-hit area of Zunyi. Relief supplies
were also donated to the people of Wanning, Hainan, who
had suffered from two severe rainstorms. A large stock of
Ice Dew Purified Water was delivered to Qianpai Town,
Xingyi, Guangdong, and Hainan for the use of typhoon
and flood victims.

The Company cares about education and sets up
scholarship programmes in various universities to assist
students with outstanding academic performance and
good character for further education, encouraging them
to strike for success and become the pillars of society. A
Scholarship programme with a funding of RMB564,000
was launched in 2010 to help 1,080 needy students who
suffered from the earthquake in Yushu, Qinghai to finish
their three-year study.

Funds raised at the Fine and Rare Wine Auction and
Collections held during the 4th Yantai International
Wine Festival were donated to the SOS Children’s Village
Yantai to finance its daily operations and special skills
development for children.

As of the end of 2010, there were 16 Project
Hope Schools supported by the Company, and the
accumulated contributions thereto amounted to over
RMB3.1 million.
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Social Responsibility Report

AFTERWORD

The healthy development of the Company depends on the support of
its shareholders, employees, and the society to which we all belong.
Fulfilling our social responsibilities as a corporate citizen and our
economic goals as a business are not mutually exclusive propositions:
by living up to our corporate mission of offering nutritious, healthy,
delicious and quality food. The Company is committed to doing better
in fulfilling our social responsibilities and creating an environment for
a harmonious society and our sustainable development.
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Corporate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The board of directors of the Company (the “board”) firmly
believes that a good and solid corporate governance framework is
essential to the healthy and sustainable growth of the Company
and ultimately the enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value.
The board strives to adhere to corporate governance principles and
adopt sound corporate governance practices in line with legal and
commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control,
accountability to shareholders, open communication and fair
disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company adopts as its corporate governance code the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In the
view of the board, the Company complied with the principles and
code provisions set out in the Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2010, except for the deviation from code provision E.1.2
of the Code which is explained below in detail.

EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Bearing in mind that sound corporate governance practices provide
a solid foundation for sustainable growth, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) make continuous efforts in improving
the Group’s corporate governance. Key improvement initiatives
commenced over the past years and under continuous refinement
are summarized below:

2007

A clear “tone from the top” was formally set with
well-defined mission, vision, core competence,
corporate values and ethical direction, including
emphasis on and commitment to food safety
throughout the value chain of the Group;

e A clear strategic direction was formally set and
deployed to operation via key management
performance targets, and strategy execution was
monitored by the executive directors and senior
management;

e A corporate governance improvement roadmap was
developed based on industry best practices, which
serves as a blueprint for continuous improvement;

e  Significant investment was made in SAP system
to improve overall accuracy, timeliness and
transparency of management information to enable
fact-based decision making;
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EVOLUTION OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES (continued)

2008

2009

2010

A code of business conducts was developed and
deployed throughout the Group. Ethical business
conducts are reinforced by continuous emphasis on
core corporate values and culture;

Internal control structure was strengthened by the
establishment of internal audit, compliance and
risk management and control functions, and the
adoption of the internal control integrated framework
of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the “COSQ”");

Organization was further strengthened to help
realize our strategic objectives through leadership
development program, competence model, talent
development plan, continuing development plan
for newly appointed management and best practice
sharing platform;

Commenced improvement initiatives in the
risk management process based on the COSO
framework. Key objectives were to provide
reasonable assurance to the achievement of our
strategic objectives and to more structurally integrate
risk management activities into our strategy and key
business processes;

Considerable efforts were made in setting a solid
foundation for the food safety management system,
including the introduction of the Company’s food
safety management measure; and

the Group continued to establish and further refine
company policies and procedures to address key
risks, including crisis management contingency
plan, OEM quality and food safety management
procedures, tendering and bidding procedures for
construction and capital investment projects and
various human resources management measures
and procedures.

As an ongoing commitment, the Group continues to actively
undertake its social responsibilities in various areas. Details of the
Group’s activities in social responsibilities are set out in the social
responsibility report included in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR

Key corporate governance practices of the Company during the year
are summarised below. For easy reference, the summary adopts the
paragraph references in the Code.

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company

A. Directors

Al The board

Al.1l The Company adopts the practice of holding regular
board meetings at least four times a year. The information
on the number of full board meetings attended by each
director during the year is set out below. Figures in
brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings held
during the year when an individual was a board member.
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/

ERATRRBFEANEREERRE

RAFER  RRARNEIBEEEARATER
BT - BHTEL2E - AT ERTA
SR AR AR BE o

SFRIRS AR ANERERER

A. 2=

Al EFE

Al.l ARRRNEFRLBARAMNRE
HeFeNME AEEREE
EHEPEEFTESINNHE
PIINR - FESRAMEBFIEEEA
thEETERERRIEERNE

GEOl=E4 == PN S

Board members Attendance
EESRE HERE
Executive directors iﬁﬁ'ﬁ%
Ning Gaoning (chairman) BRE(FE) 1/(4)
Qu Zhe (Note 1) ghEs (Mrat 1) 4/(4)
Wang Zhiying (Note 2) FeB(E2) 2/(3)
Mak Chi Wing, William BB 4/(4)
Zhang Zhentao SRR 4/(4)
Luan Xiuju (Note 3) BB (HFE3) 4/(4)
Non-executive directors EETES
Ma Jianping BET 4/(4)
Wu Wenting Rz 4/(4)
Independent non-executive directors B FHITEE
Stephen Edward Clark E IRV 4/(4)
Li Hung Kwan, Alfred e 4/(4)
Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RAN 4/(4)
Notes: MG

(1) Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director with effect from 10
February 2011.

(2)  Mr. Wang Zhiying was appointed as an executive director with effect
from 15 April 2010 and re-designated as non-executive director
with effect from 10 February 2011 and resigned as a non-executive
director with effect from 28 March 2011.

(3)  Ms. Luan Xiuju was re-designated as the managing director with
effect from 10 February 2011.

A1.2 In each of the notices for regular board meetings or board
committee meetings, directors or committee members are
advised that they may request for inclusion of matters in
the agenda for such meetings.

(1) HEERECERERTES  R2011F2710HE
R o

(2) EZBELEEZERNITES  R201094H15
HRAER : 2201152 A 10 B R ERIETT
B RERBERIFNITES  R201143 A
28 BB

() EFFHLLEFTREFLLE  N201152 A

10 HABAERL -

Al2 BHEREEgTeESEESL
BEggRmEIHESENES
BRERIEREBHMERBEEN
IR EIE o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

>
—

Al7

A.l8

Directors (continued)

The board (continued)

Notices for regular board meetings or board committee
meetings are sent to directors or committee members at
least fourteen days prior to such meetings. For ad hoc
meetings, reasonable notices are given.

All board members have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary to ensure that board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection during office hours on reasonable
notice by any director.

Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings have recorded in sufficient detail matters
considered by the board and board committees, decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions
of minutes of board meetings and/or board committee
meetings are sent to directors or committee members
(as the case may be) for their comment and records
respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after
the meetings.

The Company’s handbook for directors provides that, in
connection with discharging their duties to the Company,
all directors have access to independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense where necessary, and
upon reasonable request, the board may resolve to obtain
for individual directors separate independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense to assist them to
discharge their duties to the Company.

Important matters reserved for the board for its decision
are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions with
supporting explanatory materials so that all directors
including independent non-executive directors can note
and comment on or enquire about, as appropriate, the
matters before approval.

A director must declare his/her interest in matters or
transactions to be considered and approved by the board,
where applicable.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of
interest in a matter or transaction which the board has
determined to be material, independent non-executive
directors who, and whose associates, have no material
interest in the matter or transaction shall take an active
role and make independent judgement on issues relating
to such matter or transaction. When warranted, additional
board meetings are held.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A.
Al
A.l9

A2
A21

A2.2

A2.3

Directors (continued)

The board (continued)

During the year, the Company arranged appropriate
insurance for directors and officers of the Group.

Chairman and chief executive officer
The chairman’s and the managing director’s roles are
clearly defined to ensure their independence.

The chairman takes lead in formulating overall strategies
and policies of the Company, and ensures effective
performance by the board of its functions, including
compliance with good corporate governance practices.

The managing director, supported by other board
members and senior management, is responsible for
managing the day-to-day business of the Company. He/
She is accountable to the board for the implementation of
the Company’s overall strategies as well as coordination of
overall business operations.

With the support of executive directors and management,
the chairman ensures that all directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at board meetings. This objective
is achieved through the adherence to proper procedures
and comprehensive agenda and papers in English and
Chinese. Directors are encouraged to discuss issues
and make enquiries at board meetings in their working
languages, and bilingual interpretation is provided
to ensure that all directors are properly informed on
the issues and enquiries. The chairman encourages
and facilitates active contribution of directors in board
activities and constructive relations between executive
and non-executive directors.

With the support of executive directors and management,
the chairman ensures that board papers including
supporting documents with complete and reliable
information are sent to directors or committee members
at least three days before board meetings or board
committee meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A.
A3
A3.1

A4
A4l

A4.2

Directors (continued)

Board composition

Composition of the board, by category of directors
(currently including five executive directors, three non-
executive directors and three independent non-executive
directors), is disclosed in all corporate communications of
the Company. The Company maintains on its website an
updated list of directors identifying their categories and
role together with a detailed profile for each director.

Throughout the year, the Company complied with the
requirement under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, and the
board currently includes three independent non-executive
directors, namely, Messrs. Stephen Edward Clark, Li
Hung Kwan, Alfred and Yuen Tin Fan, Francis.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from the three independent non-executive
directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the independent non-executive
directors are independent according to the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointments, re-election and removal

Formal appointment letters are signed by non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors of
the Company. According to the appointment letters,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors are appointed for a term of three years and
subject to re-election.

The Company does not have a nomination committee.
The board as a whole is responsible for the procedures
of nominating appropriate persons and appointing its
members either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
director to the board.

The executive directors of the Company were appointed
based on their qualifications and experience in relation
to the Group’s business. The non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) were
appointed based on their qualifications and experience
and the requirements of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A.
A4

Directors (continued)

Appointments, re-election and removal (continued)

There were board changes on 10 February 2011 and 28
March 2011 respectively. With effect from 10 February
2011, Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director and
managing director of the Company, the board appointed
Mr. Chi Jingtao as an executive director and the executive
vice chairman of the board while Ms. Luan Xiuju and
Mr. Wang Zhiying were re-designated as the managing
director and a non-executive director of the Company,
respectively; and with effect from 28 March 2011, Mr.
Wang Zhiying resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company, while Ms. Liu Ding was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company.

Each director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after his/her appointment in accordance with the
Code. During the year, no director was appointed to fill a
casual vacancy.

Pursuant to bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s bye-laws,
each director (including those appointed for specific
terms) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years, i.e., the term of appointment of
each director is effectively three years. In this regard,
Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Stephen Edward Clark and
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred, shall retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “2011 AGM”).

Pursuant to bye-law 94 of the Company’s bye-laws, any
director appointed by the board either to fill a casual
vacancy or an additional director to the existing board
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after the appointment and be subject to election
at such meeting. In this regard, Mr. Chi Jingtao and Ms.
Liu Ding shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the 2011 AGM.

The circular for the 2011 AGM contains detailed
information on the re-election of directors including
biographies of all directors subject to re-election to ensure
that shareholders make informed decisions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A.
Ab
A5.1

Ab5.2

Directors (continued)

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed
director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware
of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements
and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company. A newly appointed
director receives from the chairman, executive directors
and senior management of the Company briefings on
the operations and business of the Group before his/her
appointment and/or a package containing information
on directors’ responsibilities and duties and other
requirements upon his/her appointment.

The Company ensures that directors are apprised
of legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and take these into
consideration when making decisions for the Group.
From time to time, the company secretary disseminates
relevant materials to the directors for their reference,
and the Company organizes seminars on specific topics
of significance or interest for executive directors and
management staff. The Company also sponsors directors
to attend professional development seminars or programs
where necessary. During the year, in response to the
amendments to the rules on connected transactions
and market practices, the Company updated and
supplemented the information package on directors’
responsibilities and duties and sent to the executive
directors for their reference. Certain management staff
in the Group attended trainings in connected transaction
rules organized by the Company.

The board currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors who bring strong independent
judgment, knowledge and experience to the board’s
deliberations.

The independent non-executive directors take an
active role in board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions
of a material nature. They will take lead where potential
conflicts of interest arise. They are also members of board
committees and devote sufficient amount of time and
attention to the affairs of the Group including attending
general meetings of the Company.

The board also comprises three non-executive directors
with one of them bringing corporate finance and strategy
development and management experience and the other
two bringing accounting and internal audit knowledge
and experience, and corporate culture development
and organization development experience to the board,
respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

A.
Ab
A5.3

A5.4

A6
A6l

Ab.2

A6.3

Directors (continued)

Responsibilities of directors (continued)

Each director is committed that he/she can give sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Details of
each director’s attendance at board meetings and board
committee meetings during the year are set out in A.1.1
above and B.1.1 and C.3.1 below.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Following specific enquiries by the
Company, all directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities
transactions by relevant employees (the “Employees
Trading Code”) based on the Model Code concerning
dealings by relevant employees in the securities of the
Company. Relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Group are required to comply with the Employees
Trading Code in respect of their dealings in the securities
of the Company. The terms of the Employees Trading
Code are no less exacting than the required standards set
out in the Model Code. No non-compliance reports were
received from any such employees during the year.

Supply of and access to information

Board papers including supporting documents were sent
to the directors at least three days before board meetings
or board committee meetings during the year.

The company secretary, the financial controller and
other senior management of the Group attend all board
meetings and board committee meetings, as appropriate,
to report on corporate governance, statutory compliance,
and accounting and financial matters. Queries raised and
clarifications sought by the directors during the meetings
are dealt with in a timely manner, and further information
is provided, if necessary.

All directors have access to board papers and related
materials. Details are set out in A.2.3 and A.6.2 above.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

B. Remuneration of directors and senior management

B.1 The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

B.1.1 The Company established a remuneration committee
in April 2005 with specific written terms of reference
which set out its authority and duties. The role of
the remuneration committee is to review and make
recommendations to the board on the Company’s policy
and structure for remuneration of directors and senior
management.

The remuneration committee currently consists of two
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Yuen
Tin Fan, Francis (committee chairman) and Mr. Stephen
Edward Clark and an executive director, namely, Mr. Chi
Jingtao.

The information on the remuneration committee meetings
attended by its members during the year is set out below.
Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number
of remuneration committee meetings held during the
year when an individual was a remuneration committee
member.
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Remuneration committee members Attendance
FHEEERE HERE
Yuen Tin Fan, Francis (chairman) RRN(EE) 1/(1)
Stephen Edward Clark ETRVA 1/(1)
Qu Zhe L 1/(1)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

B.

B.1

Remuneration of directors and senior management
(continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
(continued)

The remuneration committee may consult with the
chairman and/or managing director of the Company
regarding proposals for the remuneration of other
executive directors. Where necessary, the remuneration
committee may have access to external professional
services at the Company’s expenses.

During the year, the remuneration committee reviewed
the following matters:

— the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company’s executive directors and senior
management;

—  the remuneration packages of all executive directors
and senior management for the year 2010;

— the status of the options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme; and

— a plan for the grant of share options to the eligible
participants of the Company’s share option scheme.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee
closely follow the requirements of the Code.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
published on the Company’s website www.chinafoodsltd.com.
For shareholders who do not have access to the internet,
hard copies of the terms of reference of the remuneration
committee are available free of charge upon request to
the company secretary.

The human resources department of the Company,
with the support of the company secretary, provides
administrative support to the remuneration committee,
and implements the approved remuneration packages
and other human resources related decisions. The
Company will pay for all professional advice and other
services as required by the remuneration committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.1
C.l1

C.1.2

Accountability and audit

Financial reporting

Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major
business activities and key financial information on a
quarterly basis.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing all information and representations contained
in the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2010. The directors consider that
the financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong
Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment
of the board and the management with an appropriate
consideration to materiality. As at 31 December 2010,
the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, were
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the directors have prepared the financial
statements of the Company on a going concern basis.

During the year, the Company announced its annual
and interim results within three months and two months
respectively after the dates on which relevant financial
periods ended as required under Rules 13.49(1) and (6)
of the Listing Rules.

A statement by the external auditors about their reporting
responsibilities is included in its report on pages 105 to
106 of this annual report.

The board is committed to presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the Company’s affairs
to its shareholders and the public pursuant to all statutory
requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
cz2
c.21l

Accountability and audit (continued)

Internal controls

By reference to the framework recommended by COSO,
the Company conducts regular review of the Group’s
internal control system. Management is primarily
responsible for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal controls, with the board and the
audit committee overseeing the actions of management
and monitoring the effectiveness of the internal
controls that have been put in place. Monitoring of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls is supported
by three interrelated functions, namely, internal audit,
compliance and risk management and control.

The internal audit function, reporting directly to the audit
committee and the managing director, expresses an
independent and objective opinion on the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. This function
conducts risk-based audits on the business operations
of the Group in accordance with the annual audit plan
approved by the audit committee. Results of internal
audit activities are reported to the audit committee
semiannually. Steps are being taken for management
to respond to the recommendations set out in the audit
reports for further and continuous improvement in the
Group’s internal control system.

The compliance function manages legal risks and
litigation, monitors and analyzes emerging legal and
regulatory trends that may impact the Group, and works
closely with management of the Group on compliance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, as well as
implementation of corporate values and ethical standards
throughout the Group.

The risk management and control function works closely
with management of the Group to develop a systematic
risk management process, and to refine policies and
procedures to continuously improve the Group’s internal
control system.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C. Accountability and audit (continued)

c.2 Internal controls (continued)
In December 2009, the Company engaged an external
professional risk management consultant to advise the
Group on improvement in the risk management process
based on the COSO framework. Key objectives are to
provide reasonable assurance to the achievement of our
strategic objectives and to more structurally integrate risk
management activities into our strategy and key business
processes. In 2010, we continued the improvement
initiatives to adopt a systematic risk management
approach, including the following key aspects:

interviewed key members of management team to
understand their views and concerns on business
risks;

established a company specific risk model with
formal risk definitions and detailed risk descriptions,
forming the basis of a common risk language
throughout the Group;

conducted formal risk assessment to evaluate and
prioritize risks with the participation of executive
directors and senior management;

reported the risk management process and
assessment results to the board and the audit
committee;

identified specific risk owners to establishing clear
risk ownership and accountability;

analyzed inherent food safety risks in detail in
the whole value chain of our businesses, with
recommended control best practices from external
consultants;

prepared standard controls for each key risk
identified (to facilitate control gap analysis in next
step); and

provided risk assessment results to internal audit as
input for the formulation of a risk-based audit plan,
with a view to forming a sustainable plan-do-check-
act continuous improvement cycle.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C. Accountability and audit (continued)

c.2 Internal controls (continued)
In respect of the year, the board considered that
the internal controls of the Group were in place and
functioned effectively.

C.2.2 The audit committee was tasked by the board to review
and consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programs
and budget. Details are set out in C.3.1 below.

C.3 Audit committee

C.3.1 The role of the audit committee is to assist the board
in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight
responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, internal
control, risk management and external audit functions.

The audit committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Messrs.
Stephen Edward Clark (committee chairman), Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred and Yuen Tin Fan, Francis. All of them have
extensive experience in the accounting, financial and
commercial sectors.

Minutes of the audit committee meetings have been
recorded by the company secretary in sufficient detail on
the matters considered by the audit committee, decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by its members
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the audit committee meetings are sent to its
members for their comment and records respectively, in
both cases within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The information on the audit committee meetings
attended by its members during the year is set out below.
Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of
audit committee meetings held during the year when an
individual was an audit committee member.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C. Accountability and audit (continued)

C.3 Audit committee (continued)
The work performed by the audit committee during the
year is summarized below:

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general
scope of their audit work for the year 2009;

—  reviewed external auditors’ management letter and
management’s response;

- reviewed its terms of reference;

— reviewed the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2009 and the annual results
announcement, with a recommendation to the board
for approval;

- reviewed continuing connected transactions;

— recommended to the board a proposal to the
shareholders to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the
Company’s external auditors for the year 2010;

—  reviewed and approved the appointment of external
auditors for providing non-audit services to the Group;

—  discussed with management on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems;

— reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for
the year 2010;

—  reviewed the internal audit results and discussed
areas for further improvement in the Group’s internal
control system;

—  reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programs and budget,
and made its reports and recommendations to the
board on 29 March 2010;

—  reviewed the interim financial statement for the six
month ended 30 June 2010 and the interim results
announcement, with a recommendation to the board
for approval;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.3

C.3.2
C3.3

C34

C.3.5

Accountability and audit (continued)

Audit committee (continued)

The work performed by the audit committee during the
year is summarized below: (continued)

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general
scope of their audit work for the year 2010; and

— reviewed and recommended to the board for
approval of the audit fee proposal for the Group for
the year 2010.

No member of the audit committee is a former partner of
the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The terms of reference of the audit committee closely
follow the requirements of the Code.

The terms of reference of the audit committee are published
on the Company’s website www.chinafoodsltd.com.
For shareholders who do not have access to the internet,
hard copies of the terms of reference of the audit
committee are available free of charge upon request to
the company secretary.

The audit committee was satisfied with the audit and
non-audit service fees, process and effectiveness,
independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditors Ernst & Young. The board agreed to the audit
committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as the Company’s auditors for the year 2011. The
recommendation will be put forward for the approval of
shareholders at the 2011 AGM.

During the year, the major remuneration paid or to be
payable to Ernst & Young includes the following:
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Fees paid/payable
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Total a5 4,893,865
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to continuing connected transactions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

C.
C.3
C.3.6

D.1
D.1.1

Accountability and audit (continued)

Audit committee (continued)

The audit committee has unrestricted access to
personnel, records, external auditors and senior
management, as appropriate, in the discharge of its
functions.

The audit committee is authorized by the board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and
is tasked with recommending to the board appropriate
actions based on its investigations.

The senior management of the Group is required
to provide adequate and timely support to the audit
committee to discharge its duties. The Company will pay
for all professional advice and other services as required
by the audit committee.

Delegation by the board

Management functions

The board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Company, formulation
of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the
performance of the Group and management, and
approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or
those requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules.

Management, under the leadership of the managing
director, is responsible for the business and day-to-
day operations of the Group and implementation of
the strategies and policies set by the board. Each of
the executive directors is delegated with individual
responsibility for overseeing and monitoring the
operations of specific business units or functional
divisions in accordance with their respective areas of
expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

D.
D.1
D.1.2

D.2
D.2.1

D.2.2

Delegation by the board (continued)
Management functions (continued)
The major responsibilities of the board include:

—  reviewing and approving operational strategies and
plans of the Group;

—  setting and monitoring key business and financial
objectives of the Group;

—  monitoring the performance of the management;

— reviewing and approving policies for major
activities, such as major acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposal of assets or any significant
capital expenditure of the Group;

— ensuring a sound and effective internal control
system; and

— reviewing and approving corporate governance
policies, including setting an ethical tone for the
Group.

The board has delegated certain authority and
responsibilities to the audit committee and the
remuneration committee, which are clearly set out in the
terms of reference of these committees.

Board committees

Two board committees, namely, remuneration committee
and audit committee, have been established with specific
terms of reference as mentioned in B.1.1, B.1.3, C.3.1
and C.3.3 above.

On 28 March 2011, the Company established an
executive committee with specific written terms of
reference which set out its authority and duties. The
executive committee currently consists of five executive
directors, namely, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Chi Jingtao
(committee chairman), Ms. Luan Xiuju, Mr. Mak Chi
Wing, William and Mr. Zhang Zhentao. Under the terms
of reference, the primary responsibility of the executive
committee is to deal with and supervise the day-to-day
business operations, management and administration of
the Group.

Board committees report to the board their decisions
and recommendations at board meetings or such other
occasions as appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF
THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR (continued)

Code ref. Corporate governance practices of the Company (continued)

E.
E1l
El1

EZ2
E21

Communication with shareholders

Effective communication

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The chairman of the board was unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company in 2010 as he
had other engagement. The directors present at the
meeting elected Mr. Qu Zhe, the then managing director
of the Company, to chair the meeting in accordance with
bye-law 73 of the Company’s bye-laws.

During the year, chairmen and/or members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee attended the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June
2010 and the special general meeting held on the same
day to approve certain continuing connected transactions
that were subject to independent shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the notices for the annual general
meeting and the special general meeting were sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days and 10 clear
business days, respectively before the meetings.

Voting by poll

During the year, the chairman of each of the annual
general meeting and the special general meeting of the
Company explained detailed procedures for conducting
a poll and encouraged shareholders to ask questions
regarding voting by poll. Tricor Progressive Limited, the
branch share registrar of the Company, was engaged
as scrutineers to monitor and count the poll votes. Poll
results were posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange on the same day following the annual
general meeting and the special general meeting.

During the year, a special resolution in relation to
amendments to the bye-laws of the Company to bring
them in line with certain recent changes to the Listing
Rules and provide the Company with more flexibility
to adapt to changing market practices and needs
was proposed and approved at the annual general
meeting held on 8 June 2010. Details of the proposed
amendments to the bye-laws of the Company were set out
in the circular dated 23 April 2010.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company as a listed company regards its relations with
existing and prospective investors as an important matter, and is
dedicated to maximizing shareholder value through effective two-way
communication with investors.

Our policy is to make timely, accurate, fair and consistent disclosures
about the Company’s outlook and development.

We communicate with investors through activities, including briefings
to analysts and non-deal roadshows; regular physical meetings and
teleconferences with analysts and investors; and posting of reminders for
the Company’s announcement and investor relations events to registered
parties at our investor relations website www.chinafoodsltd.com/ir.

During the year, the key activities of investor relations include:

1. Publication of a comprehensive presentation at our investor
relations website, together with a non-deal roadshow, to explain
the strategic restructuring of the sales and distribution model
of our wines business after the profit warning announcement
made in July 2010.

2. Arranging a few days post-results roadshows after interim and
annual results announcements respectively.

3. Participation in various investor conferences and corporate
days held by numerous investment banks.

4. Arranging site visits of investors to our wine production bases
and bottling plants.

Our business performance is covered by numerous investment
banks. For a complete list of analysts tracking of the Company, please
visit our investor relations website www.chinafoodsltd.com/ir.

By the same token, the Company values investors’ views and public
opinion and has been collecting them for regular internal reporting
and management meeting references.

We believe that the two-way communications with investors add
values to the Company and its investors.
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GOING FORWARD

It is recognized that improvement in corporate governance is a
continuous effort. Looking ahead, the main tasks in this area for the
coming years include:

Governance structure — the Company will further refine its
governance structure to ensure that roles, responsibilities and
authorities are clear and appropriate for the effective execution
of its strategies, and that the Company will be well prepared
to meet the evolving requirements of the Code and the Listing
Rules;

Risk management — the Company will continue to adopt
a more effective and systematic approach to integrate risk
management activities into the strategy formulation and
execution processes with a view to better securing the
achievement of our strategic objectives;

Control processes, policies and procedures — the Company will
further strengthen the inter-linkage between risks and controls,
and continue to review and refine key operational, financial
and compliance control processes, policies and procedures to
ensure adequate checks and balances are in place; and

Deployment — the Company will continue to deploy and
to reinforce its corporate values and ethical direction as a
foundation for good corporate governance.
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Directors’ Report

The board of directors (the “board”) are pleased to present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2010, which were approved by the board on 28 March
2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries and associated
companies operates four principal businesses involving beverages,
wines, kitchen foods and confectionery.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 107 to 220.

The board recommended a final dividend of HK3.21 cents (2009:
HK3.45 cents) per share in respect of the year. An interim dividend of
HK2.30 cents per share was paid on 22 October 2010 (2009: HK3.88
cents). Subject to shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting to be held on Wednesday, 8 June 2011, the total dividend in
cash for the year would be HK5.51 cents (2009: HK7.33 cents) per
share, and the recommended final dividend will be payable on Friday,
17 June 2011, to shareholders of the Company whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 8 June
2011 (the “Record Date”).

According to the Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of
Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management dated 22 April
2009 issued by the State Administration of Taxation of the People’s
Republic of China, the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the
Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the Enterprise Income
Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, all implemented from
1 January 2008, since the Company is an offshore incorporated
company and is, among others, controlled by a Chinese enterprise,
the Company is likely to be regarded as a Chinese resident enterprise
and, if so, it could be required to withhold a 10% enterprise income
tax when it distributes the final dividend to its enterprise shareholders
other than those enterprises which are duly incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") or under the laws of foreign
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countries (or regions) but with PRC-based de facto management
bodies (such enterprises are defined as resident enterprises in the
Enterprise Income Tax Law). The withholding and payment obligation
lies with the Company.

In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s
register of members on the Record Date and who are not individuals
(including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate nominees or trustees
such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organizations, which are all considered as enterprise shareholders),
the Company will distribute the final dividend after deducting the
enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and
pay income tax in respect of the final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register
of members on the Record Date.

If any enterprise shareholder listed on the Company’s register of
members considers itself to be a resident enterprise and does not
wish the Company to withhold the 10% enterprise income tax, it shall
lodge with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, documents from its governing tax
authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and
pay the enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend to which it is
entitled no later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2011.

If anyone would like to change the identity of the shareholders in the
register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures
with the nominees or trustees. The Company will withhold for
payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise
shareholders strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and
requirements of the relevant government authorities and adhere
strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of
members on the Record Date.

In the event that the Company is not regarded as a Chinese resident
enterprise and hence no enterprise income tax should have been
withheld, to the extent that such tax remains in the custody of the
Company and so far as it is legally able to do so, the Company
will procure such tax to be refunded to the relevant enterprise
shareholders in respect of whom enterprise income tax had been
withheld pursuant to the arrangements set out above. The Company
would make a further announcement in such event.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 221. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year, together with the reasons therefore, are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 November 2006
(the “Scheme”). Pursuant to the resolution passed on 28 March 2011
at the board meeting, the vesting and exercise periods for the options
granted under the Scheme have been modified. The following are the
principal terms of the Scheme:

1.  Purpose of the Scheme
To attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel
and key employees of the Company, and provide eligible
participants with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage eligible participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

2. Participants of the Scheme

Participants of the Scheme include (i) any executive or
non-executive directors of any members of the Group; (ii)
any senior executives, key technical staff, professional staff,
managers and employees of any members of the Group; or (iii)
any other individuals as may be proposed by the board. For the
avoidance of doubts, participants do not include independent
non-executive directors.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted under the Scheme and all
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the number of shares in issue from time to time. As
at 31 December 2010 and at the date of this report, a total of
16,344,500 shares (representing approximately 0.59% of the
issued share capital of the Company) may be issued by the
Company if all options which were granted under the Scheme
have been exercised.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any grantee (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
(the “Individual Limit”) at the relevant time. Any further grant
of options in excess of the Individual Limit shall be subject to
shareholders’ approval with such grantee and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Period within which an option must be exercised

The directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which an option may be exercised, save that in
any event such period of time shall not exceed a period of seven
years commencing on the date of acceptance of the option and
expiring on the last date of such seven-year period, subject to
early termination thereof as provided in the Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An option must be held for a minimum period of two years from
the date of grant before it can be exercised. In addition, an
option shall be subject to the following vesting schedule:
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Maximum percentage
of an option which
may be exercised

Periods BZATE

HAR BREZBEIL

— Upon and after the second anniversary of the grant BRI H AR E B 20%
until the third anniversary of the grant MEBEEZRF

— Upon and after the third anniversary of the grant BRI B R EZ RS 40%
until the fourth anniversary of the grant NEEEEYEF

— Upon and after the fourth anniversary of the grant B H AR A 60%
until the fifth anniversary of the grant MEBEERRBF

— Upon and after the fifth anniversary of the grant BRI B R E RS 80%
until the sixth anniversary of the grant NEEBEENEF

— Upon and after the sixth anniversary of the grant B H AR BB 100%
until the seventh anniversary of the grant NEEEECESF

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance
of the option

The offer of an option made pursuant to the Scheme may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer and the
amount payable on acceptance of the option is HK$1.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the board and shall
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (c) the nominal value of a share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) ﬂﬁﬂﬂg“l'iJ (#&)
9. Duration of the Scheme Zat Bl 2B M
The Scheme is valid until 20 November 2016. ZatEl 2 BEN 2016411 A20 H
=N
10. Movement of share options 10. IBREZEH
Details of the movements in the share options during the HZE2010F12A31HIEFE @ B
year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows: 2 FEFEWOT
Number of share options
ERENEE
Date of Exercise
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed grant of Exercise price of
Name or category At during during during during At share options period of  share options
of participants 01.01.2010 the year the year the year the year  31.12.2010 R4 share options BRE
SEEML RSN R0L012010  ERRE  ERTE O FAESE O EAXY W31122000 EBRERE BREGES g4 |
HK$
BT
Directors
ES
Mr. Ning Gaoning 880,000 - - - - 880,000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009 - 4952
HEELE 2609.2014
M. Luan Xiuju 700,000 - (140,000) - - 560,000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009 - 4,952
Lo an (Note 1) 2609.2014
(1)
Mir. Mak Chi Wing, William 800,000 - - - - 800000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 4957
b St 2609.2014
Mr. Ma Jianping 800,000 - - - - 800000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 4957
RETRE 26.09.2014
Nir. Zhang Zhentao 700,000 - - - - 700000 27.09.2007  27.09.2009- 4952
Sy 26.09.2014
Ms. Wu Wenting 700,000 - - - - 700,000 27.09.2007  27.09.2009 - 4952
RAERL 26.09.2014
Mr. Qu Zhe 830,000 - - - - 880,000  27.09.2007  27.09.2009 - 4,957
dhsE s 2609.2014
(Note 2)
(H3k2)
Other employees
EitEs
In aggregate
it 12,594,780 - (807680)  (573922)  (188678) 11024500  27.09.2007 27.09.2009 - 4,957
(Note 3) 2609.2014
(MizE3)
18,054,780 - (947680)  (573922)  (188678) 16,344,500
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were exercised was HK$7.78.

(2) Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 10 February 2011.

3) The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was
HK$7.44.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 33(b) to the financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, amounted to approximately HK$5,322,014,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group sold less than 30% of its goods to its five
largest customers. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 65% of the Group’s total purchases for the year,
with the largest supplier accounting for approximately 44%.

Apart from the Company’s ultimate holding company, COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQ”), which is one of the Group’s five largest
suppliers, none of the directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the other four largest suppliers or the
five largest customers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Ning Gaoning
Mr. Chi Jingtao (appointed as an executive director
with effect from 10 February 2011)
Ms. Luan Xiuju

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William
Mr. Zhang Zhentao

Mr. Qu Zhe (resigned as an executive director with

effect from 10 February 2011)

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Liu Ding (appointed as a non-executive director
with effect from 28 March 2011)

Mr. Ma Jianping
Ms. Wu Wenting
Mr. Wang Zhiying (appointed as an executive director
with effect from 15 April 2010 and re-
designated as non-executive director
with effect from 10 February 2011 and
resigned as a non-executive director

with effect from 28 March 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors are appointed with specific terms.

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years as required by bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s bye-laws.
Accordingly, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Stephen Edward Clark and Mr. Li
Hung Kwan, Alfred will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

According to bye-law 94 of the Company’s bye-laws, any director
appointed by the board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional director to the board shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject
to election at the meeting. In this regard, Mr. Chi Jingtao and Ms. Liu
Ding will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
PROFILE

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 45 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The board is authorized by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The directors’ emoluments are
determined by the board based on the recommendations of the
remuneration committee of the board with reference to their job
complexity, workload and responsibilities with the Company and the
remuneration policy of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”) which are required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register of interests of the Company, or which are required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
(collectively the “Discloseable Interests”) were as follows:

(a) Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying shares of

EERERG - AERO ZERR
xR ()
FEDREMGARA R RMRAE (5178 [ 2
WEER ) ZREmT -

(@ RAERXFAZBRHRMEEROZARE

the Company =

Total number Approximate

Number of of shares percentage

underlying  and underlying of issued

Number of shares held shares held share capital

Name of director Capacity shares held BERE BERHK KB RT

EEpg FERGANER  FERAEEA RIPEE HERHES BREABD

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)

(F& 1) (PzE2) X))

Mr. Ning Gaoning Beneficial owner - 880,000 880,000 0.03%
ERELE EREAA

Ms. Luan Xiuju Beneficial owner - 560,000 560,000 0.02%
Bx%ut BRBEAA

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William Beneficial owner - 800,000 800,000 0.03%
BEREAE EREAA

Mr. Ma Jianping Beneficial owner - 800,000 800,000 0.03%
SeTisE BRBEAA

Mr. Zhang Zhentao Beneficial owner - 700,000 700,000 0.03%
RIRBEE EREAA

Ms. Wu Wenting Beneficial owner - 700,000 700,000 0.03%
RX R+ BRBEAA

Mr. Qu Zhe Beneficial owner 670,000 880,000 1,550,000 0.06%
ikt Hah A

(Note 4)
(Ftsx4)
Notes: BiE -

(1)

Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants or convertible bonds.

(2) Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company under share
options granted to directors pursuant to a share option scheme of the
Company.

(3) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2010, i.e. 2,792,459,756
shares.

(4) Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 10 February 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

(b) Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying shares

of an associated corporation, China Agri-Industries Holdings

Limited (“China Agri”)
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xR ()

(b)  RA—RiEEEE (FEEHERERD
F(TREEH ) 2RO RABBRE 2
AR B

Total
number of
shares and Approximate
Number of underlying percentage
underlying shares held of issued
Number of shares held BERHG share capital
Name of director Capacity shares held BEHE R WEE BT
=g BERGHNEHR HERGEA ROEE ARrEE RAEABZL
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(PR3t D) (fzE2)
Mr. Ning Gaoning Beneficial owner - 700,000 700,000 0.02%
Notes: iz :

(1) Long positions in the underlying shares of China Agri under share options

granted to Mr. Ning Gaoning pursuant to a share option scheme of China

Agri.

(2) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of
China Agri in issue as at 31 December 2010, i.e., 4,038,369,839 shares.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2010, none of the

directors or their associates had any other discloseable Interests.
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ZEBREA T T B m AR ) 24T R o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The interests and short positions of substantial shareholders in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December

FTERRRHEMALRRDRE

R 2 EER AR

S

Az
m=

EZE2010F 12 A31 B RIBEFHFLHAEIK

PIF 336 FFE 2 EaERLMACHE - T2

2010, as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept BRRR AR R I RARBRR () 2 s SR A

under Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company

The Company had been notified of the following substantial
shareholders’ interests in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company as at 31 December 2010:

LU

o

REARDRDREBRD ZEHR

AATIEE HE20I0612A318 =
DGR EA A TAR AR R AEREAR 1D = 1

Number of shares held (Note 1)

BERGEE (1)
Approximate
percentage
Through of issued
Name of Directly controlled share capital
substantial shareholder beneficially owned corporations Total HNEB BT
TERRER ERERER ERZELE By BRABSL
(Note 2)
(Hizx2)
Wide Smart Holdings Limited 1,922,550,331 - 1,922,550,331 68.85%
(“Wide Smart”)
([wide Smart])
COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited 140,000,000 - 140,000,000 5.01%
("COFCO (BVI) 108™)
(TCOFCO (BVI) 108])
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited 10,138,000 2,062,550,331 2,072,688,331 74.22%
HEESE (BB ERAH (Note 3)
(“COFCO (HK)") GER)
([HEEE]
COFCO - 2,072,688,331 2,072,688,331 74.22%
L VNS (Note 4)
(HizE4)
FEE -
Notes:

(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity derivatives such

as share options, warrants or convertible bonds.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

(2) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2010, i.e. 2,792,459,756 shares.

3) COFCO (HK) is deemed to be interested in 2,062,550,331 shares in aggregate
held by Wide Smart and COFCO (BVI) 108 which are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of COFCO (HK).

(4) COFCO is deemed to be interested in 2,072,688,331 shares in aggregate held
by Wide Smart, COFCO (BVI) 108 and COFCO (HK) which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of COFCO.

Mr. Ning Gaoning, an executive director and the chairman of the
board, is also the chairman of COFCO, the chairman of COFCO (HK)
and a director of Wide Smart. Mr. Chi Jingtao, an executive director
and the executive vice chairman, is a vice president and former
director of human resources department of COFCO. Mr. Qu Zhe,
former managing director who resigned as executive director and
managing director with effect from 10 February 2011, is an assistant
president of COFCO. Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William, an executive
director and a deputy general manager, is the chief financial officer
of COFCO (HK). Mr. Ma Jianping, a non-executive director, is also
the vice president and director of the strategy department of COFCO.
Mr. Wang Zhiying, was appointed as an executive director in April
2010, re-designated as non-executive director in February 2011 and
subsequently resigned as a non-executive director with effect from
28 March 2011, is the director of human resources department of
COFCO. Ms. Wu Wenting, a non-executive director, is the director of
the audit department of COFCO. Ms. Liu Ding, was appointed as a
non-executive director with effect from 28 March 2011, is a member
of the Communist Party Committee and the head of the Communist
Party Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2010, the director
of the Company were not aware of substantial shareholders and
other persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be notified
to the Company or the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2010, the directors are
not aware of any director being a director or employee of the entities
which had interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares
of the Company as disclosed above.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group, in the ordinary and usual course of
business, conducted various transactions with certain connected
persons of the Company including COFCO, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, and its associates (collectively
the “COFCO Group”). These transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions or connected transactions which need to be
disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the requirements under
the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.  China Agri Purchase Agreement
On 21 November 2008, the Company and China Agri,
a subsidiary of COFCO, thus a connected person of the
Company, entered into a purchase agreement for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2009 and expiring on
31 December 2011 (the “China Agri Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the China Agri Purchase Agreement, China Agri
and its associates (the “China Agri Group”) shall supply bulk
edible oil and other raw materials and products and provide
logistics and other related services to the Group. Details of
the China Agri Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 21 November 2008
and a circular of the Company dated 12 December 2008 (the
“December 2008 Circular”).

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the China Agri Group for the
purchase of edible oil and other raw materials and products
and procurement of related services was approximately
RMB5,816,565,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

2.

CPMC Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and CPMC Holdings
Limited (“CPMC"), a subsidiary of COFCO, thus a connected
person of the Company, entered into a packaging materials
purchase agreement for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2009 and expiring on 31 December 2011
(the “CPMC Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the CPMC
Purchase Agreement, CPMC and its subsidiaries (the
“CPMC Group”) shall supply packaging materials (including
miscellaneous cans and crown caps) and related parts to the
Group for the production of confectionery products and the
bottling production of beverage products. Details of the CPMC
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of
the Company dated 1 December 2008 (the “December 2008
Announcement”) and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the CPMC Group for the purchase of
packaging materials (including miscellaneous cans and crown
caps) was approximately RMB7,998,000.

Sugar Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and COFCO entered
into a sugar purchase agreement for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2009 and expiring on 31
December 2011 (the “Sugar Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant
to the Sugar Purchase Agreement, the Group shall purchase
sugar from certain members of the COFCO Group for the
bottling production of beverage products. Details of the Sugar
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the December 2008
Announcement and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Group for the purchase of
sugar was approximately RMB56,952,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

4.

Beverage Base Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Tianjin Jin Mei
Beverage Company Limited (“Jinmei”), a connected person
of the Company, entered into a beverage base purchase
agreement for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2009 and expiring on 31 December 2011 (the
“Beverage Base Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Beverage Base Purchase Agreement, bottlers of the Group
shall purchase beverage base from Jinmei at prices determined
by Coca-Cola Beverages (Shanghai) Company Limited
(“Coca-Cola (Shanghai)”). Details of the Beverage Base
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the December 2008
Announcement and the December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to Jinmei for the purchase of beverage
base was approximately RMB40,060,000.

Concentrate Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a concentrate purchase agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2009 and expiring on 31
December 2011 (the “Concentrate Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Concentrate Purchase Agreement, bottlers
of the Group shall purchase concentrate from Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-Cola (Shanghai).
Details of the Concentrate Purchase Agreement were disclosed
in the December 2008 Announcement and the December
2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to Coca-Cola (Shanghai) for the purchase
of concentrate was approximately RMB991,440,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

6.

Still Beverages Purchase Agreement

On 28 November 2008, the Company and Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing (Dongguan) Co. Ltd. (“Coca-Cola
(Dongguan”), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a still beverages purchase agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2009 and expiring on 31
December 2011 (the “Still Beverages Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement,
Coca-Cola (Dongguan) and its associates (the “Coca-Cola
(Dongguan) Group”) shall supply still beverages to bottlers of
the Group for distribution and resale within designated areas
in the PRC. Details of the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement
were disclosed in the December 2008 Announcement and the
December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola (Dongguan)
Group for the purchase of still beverages was approximately
RMB1,520,387,000.

Zijiang Packaging Materials Purchase Agreement

On 25 November 2008, Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd.
(the “Tianjin Bottler”), a deemed subsidiary of the Company,
and Tianjin Shifa Zijiang Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Zijiang”), a
connected person of the Company, renewed the term of a
packaging materials purchase agreement entered into between
the parties in August 2001 for a term of two years and ten
months commencing from 1 January 2009 and expiring on
31 October 2011 (the “Zijiang Packaging Materials Purchase
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Zijiang Packaging Materials
Purchase Agreement, Zijiang shall supply packaging materials
and provide conversion services to the Tianjin Bottler. Details
of the Zijiang Packaging Materials Purchase Agreement were
disclosed in the December 2008 Announcement and the
December 2008 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Tianjin Bottler to Zijiang for the purchase of
packaging materials was approximately RMB96,960,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

8.

Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement

On 24 February 2009, COFCO Le conté Food (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Le conté”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Shanghai Tiangong Coca Food Co., Ltd.
(“Shanghai Tiangong”), a connected person of the Company,
entered into a cocoa butter purchase agreement for a term
commencing from 24 February 2009 and expiring on 31
December 2011 (the “Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement, COFCO
Le conté shall purchase cocoa butter for the production of
confectionery products from Shanghai Tiangong. Details of
the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, no transaction was
conducted under the Cocoa Butter Purchase Agreement.

Property Leasing and Property Management Services
Agreement

On 2 November 2009, the Company and COFCO entered into a
property leasing and property management services agreement
(the “Property Leasing and Property Management Services
Agreement”), which shall expire on 31 December 2011.
Pursuant to the Property Leasing and Property Management
Services Agreement, certain members of the Group shall
lease from the COFCO Group various premises for their own
use as offices and warehouses in Hong Kong and the PRC,
as applicable. The COFCO Group will also provide property
management services, property management related food
and beverage services and other related services to members
of the Group. Details of the Property Leasing and Property
Management Services Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 3 November 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount of
rentals and management fees paid/payable by the Group to the
COFCO Group was approximately RMB23,276,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

10.

11.

Distribution Agreements

On 18 January 2010, COFCO Le conté and COFCO Innovative
Foods (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Innovative”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of COFCO, thus a connected person of the Company
entered into a distribution agreement and its supplemental
agreement (the “Distribution Agreements”), which expired on
31 December 2010. Pursuant to the Distribution Agreements,
COFCO Le conté should purchase cheese products under the
trademark “tenone X" from COFCO Innovative for sale and
distribution in the Beijing region and COFCO Innovative should
be responsible for certain promotion expenses incurred under
promotion plans approved by it in relation to the promotion
of the cheese products (the “Promotion Expenses”). Such
Promotion Expenses should first be paid by COFCO Le conté
and then reimbursed by COFCO Innovative. Details of the
Distribution Agreements were disclosed in an announcement of
the Company dated 18 January 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount
paid/payable by COFCO Le conté to COFCO Innovative for the
purchase of cheese products was approximately RMB986,000
and the total amount of the Promotion Expenses was
approximately RMB549,000.

Products Distribution Agreement

On 9 March 2010, COFCO Food Sales & Distribution Co.,
Ltd. (“COFCO Food”) and COFCO Tunhe (Beijing) Sales &
Distribution Co., Ltd. (“Tunhe (Beijing)"), a connected person
of the Company, entered into a products distribution agreement
(the “Products Distribution Agreement”), which expired on
31 December 2010. Pursuant to the Products Distribution
Agreement, COFCO Food should purchase consumer-pack
sugar products from Tunhe (Beijing) for sale and distribution
in supermarkets throughout the PRC. Tunhe (Beijing) should
be responsible for certain costs in relation to the promotion
and distribution of such consumer-pack sugar products (the
“Promotion and Distribution Costs”). Details of the Products
Distribution Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of
the Company dated 9 March 2010.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

11.

12.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Products Distribution Agreement (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by COFCO Food to Tunhe (Beijing) for the purchase
of consumer-pack sugar products and the total amount of the
Promotion and Distribution Costs incurred was approximately
RMB13,238,000 and RMB477,000 respectively.

COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement

On 5 May 2010, the Company and COFCO entered into a
products mutual supply agreement for a term of one year
commencing from 5 May 2010 and expiring on 4 May 2011
(the “COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement”). Pursuant
to the COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement, the COFCO
Group shall supply seasoning sauces, honey products, tea
products, peanut products, vegetable and fruit juices and
other products (excluding edible oils, consumer-pack sugar
products, sugar, cheese products and packaging products)
to the Group while the Group shall supply wine products,
confectionery products and other products to the COFCO
Group. In addition, the COFCO Group shall reimburse the
Group for certain sale and distribution expenses incurred
by the Group in connection with the sale and distribution of
the products supplied by the COFCO Group (the “Sale and
Distribution Expenses”). The Sale and Distribution Expenses
shall first be paid by the Group and then reimbursed by
the COFCO Group. Details of the COFCO Products Mutual
Supply Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 5 May 2010 and a circular of the Company
dated 20 May 2010 (the “May 2010 Circular”). The COFCO
Products Mutual Supply Agreement was terminated upon a
new products mutual supply agreement entered between the
Company and COFCO on 31 January 2011.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Group for the supply
of relevant products was approximately RMB31,229,000,
the total amount paid/payable by the COFCO Group to the
Group for the supply of relevant products was approximately
RMB22,486,000, and the total amount of the Sale
and Distribution Expenses incurred was approximately
RMB6,727,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

13.

14.

CPMC Products Supply Agreement

On 13 October 2010, the Company and CPMC entered into
a products supply agreement which commencing on 13
October 2010 and expiring on 31 December 2011 (the “CPMC
Products Supply Agreement”). Pursuant to the CPMC Products
Supply Agreement, the CPMC Group shall supply to the Group
two-piece beverage cans and other packaging materials and
products (excluding crown caps and miscellaneous cans)
and ancillary parts. The expected annual transaction value in
respect of the relevant supply for the year ended 31 December
2010 was subsequently revised from RMB5,000,000 to
RMB15,000,000 on 10 December 2010. Details of the CPMC
Products Supply Agreement and the revision of the transaction
cap were disclosed in announcements of the Company dated
13 October 2010 and 10 December 2010 (the “December
2010 Announcement”), respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the CPMC Group for the supply of
two-piece beverage cans and other packaging materials and
products (excluding crown caps and miscellaneous cans) and
ancillary parts was approximately RMB7,666,000.

COFCO Junding Supply Agreement

On 19 March 2010, COFCO Wines & Spirits Holdings Limited
(“COFCO Wines & Spirits”), a wholly—owned subsidiary of the
Company, and COFCO Junding Vineyard Co., Ltd. (“COFCO
Junding”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
then connected person of the Company, entered into a
framework agreement for a term of one year commencing
from the execution date of the agreement (the “COFCO
Junding Supply Agreement”). Pursuant to the COFCO
Junding Supply Agreement, COFCO Junding shall supply wine
products to the COFCO Wines & Spirits and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “COFCO Wines & Spirits Group”). Details of
the COFCO Junding Supply Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 19 March 2010 (the
“March 2010 Announcement”).

During the period from 1 January 2010 until 2 June 2010, the
total amount paid/payable by COFCO Wines & Spirits Group
to COFCO Junding for the purchase of wine products was
approximately RMB10,577,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

15.

16.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

COFCO Wines & Spirits Supply Agreement

On 19 March 2010, COFCO Wines & Spirits and Shandong
COFCO Junding World Famous Chateaus Club Co., Ltd.
(“Shandong Junding”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company and a then connected person of the Company,
entered into a framework agreement for a term of one year
commencing from the execution date of the agreement (the
“COFCO Wines & Spirits Supply Agreement”). Pursuant to
the COFCO Wines & Spirits Supply Agreement, the COFCO
Wines & Spirits Group shall supply imported alcohol products
to Shandong Junding. Details of the COFCO Wines & Spirits
Supply Agreement were disclosed in the March 2010
Announcement .

During the period from 1 January 2010 until 2 June 2010, the
total amount paid/payable by Shandong Junding to COFCO
Wines & Spirits Group for the supply of imported alcohol
products was approximately RMB130,000.

COFCO Coca-Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement

On 10 May 2010, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited
(“COFCO Coca-Cola”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Tianjin Bottler, a deemed subsidiary of
the Company and a then connected person of the Company,
entered into a mutual supply agreement for a term of two
years commencing from its effective date (the “COFCO Coca-
Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement”). The COFCO Coca-
Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement took effect on 8
June 2010 (the “Effective Date”). Pursuant to the COFCO
Coca-Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement, each of the
COFCO Coca-Cola and its subsidiaries (the “COFCO Coca-
Cola Group”), excluding the Tianjin Bottler, shall supply and
provide raw materials, packaging materials and related services
to the Tianjin Bottler while the Tianjin Bottler shall supply and
provide processed and bottled beverages and related services
to the COFCO Coca-Cola Group. Details of the COFCO Coca-
Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 10 May 2010 (the “May
2010 Announcement”) and the May 2010 Circular.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

16.

17.

COFCO Coca-Cola Products Mutual Supply Agreement
(Continued)

During the period from 1 January 2010 until 2 June 2010,
the total amount paid/payable by the Tianjin Bottler to the
COFCO Coca-Cola Group for the supply and provision of
raw materials and packaging materials and related services
was approximately RMB109,853,000 and the total amount
paid/payable by the COFCO Coca-Cola Group to the Tianjin
Bottler in respect of the supply and provision of processed
and bottled beverages and related services was approximately
RMB5,862,000.

Financial Services Agreement

On 10 May 2010, COFCO Coca-Cola and the Tianjin Bottler
entered into a financial services agreement for a term of
two years from the Effective Date (the “Financial Services
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement,
the COFCO Coca-Cola Group shall provide certain financial
services to the Tianjin Bottler. Details of the Financial Services
Agreement were disclosed in the May 2010 Announcement
and the May 2010 Circular.

During the period from 1 January 2010 until 2 June 2010, the
aggregate outstanding amounts of the short-term entrusted
loans advanced by the COFCO Coca-Cola Group to the Tianjin
Bottler was RMB20,000,000.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.12A(1)(b) of the Listing Rules which came
into effect on 3 June 2010, the then connected person under each

of the agreements in relation to the above continuing connected

transactions numbered 14 to 17 is no longer regarded as a connected

person of the Company, accordingly the transactions contemplated

under each of those agreements were fully exempt from the reporting,

annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from 3

June 2010. Reasons to that effect were set out in the December 2010

Announcement.

R

Directors’ Report

KEREXS (&)

16.

17.

AR T O AR m B A E ()

M2010F1 A1H E £201066 A2
HIEEARE - RKZFIMER B R
BEME RIREEERERPRERD
AREEST N EANRSEHAA
R #109,853,000 T ; K Atga] O A
42 B LA FEAIN T MR AR R K 4R
AR RS MR S A
RSN /AR 5,862,0007T °

B RS 175 5

7201058108 @ g n O Af 4
BARERMMBRET LB RS HE - 8
A3 A HA e & R 4 ([ B 75 AR 75 17
#) c BB BRBEHBE - RO
BES - IDPN:223 i =
AR% o BAFSARIS IR M SFIE R 20107
5AMRAER2010%5 ABEFHE -

M2010F1A1H E £201066 A2
BILEAM - PR DA £ E R\ K
HRmELEREAERNREEE
A AR 20,000,0007T °

BIEBE2010F6 A3ARERZ R A
F14A12A(1) () 6 + AAET 7 £ E 548 RS
ERSFE AR 1TIEMBBEHER - HRAH
EATZEHRE  TEESABEALT - 11
ity B2010F6 A3 RIEZSHH
BT R GERGETFTLMRAE AAE
B FEEZ  AERBIIREIE R
F o BERERR2010F 12 ARG HRHE -

R ERAERAE 201044

101



102

=R

Directors’ Report

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ENTERED INTO BY THE GROUP 2011 UP TO
THE DATE OF THE 2010 ANNUAL REPORT

18.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

New COFCO Products Mutual Supply Agreement

On 31 January 2011, the Company and COFCO entered into
a new products mutual supply agreement for a term of one
year commencing from 31 January 2011 and expiring on 30
January 2012 (the “New COFCO Products Mutual Supply
Agreement”). Pursuant to the New COFCO Products Mutual
Supply Agreement, the COFCO Group shall supply consumer-
pack sugar products, honey products, tea products, peanut
products, cheese products, microwave foods, vegetable and
fruit juices and other products (excluding edible oils, sugar
and packaging products) to the Group while the Group shall
supply wine products, confectionery products, sparkling
beverages and still beverages, consumer-pack edible oils
and other products to the COFCO Group. In addition, the
COFCO Group shall reimburse the Group for the promotion
or sale and distribution expenses in relation to the sale and
distribution of the products supplied by the COFCO Group (the
“Expenses”). The Expenses shall first be paid by the Group and
then reimbursed by the COFCO Group. For the year ending
31 December 2011, the expected annual transaction value in
respect of the supply of products by the COFCO Group to the
Group will not exceed RMB300,000,000 while the expected
annual transaction value in respect of the supply of products by
the Group to COFCO Group will not exceed RMB80,000,000;
and the expected aggregate amount of the Expenses to be
reimbursed by the COFCO Group to the Group will not exceed
RMB100,000,000. Details of the New COFCO Products Mutual
Supply Agreement were disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 31 January 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Entrusted Loan Agreement

On 8 February 2010, COFCO Foods Management Co., Ltd. (“COFCO
Foods Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an entrusted loan agreement with COFCO Junding and
a commercial bank in the PRC, pursuant to which COFCO Foods
Management shall, through the bank, provide a short-term entrusted
loan of an aggregate of RMB130,000,000 to COFCO Junding for
a period of six months from the date of the each drawdown (the
“Entrusted Loan Agreement”). In consideration of the entrusted
loan, Longhua Group Co., Ltd. which holds a 45% equity interest
in COFCO Junding, has agreed to provide a guarantee to COFCO
Foods Management for 45% of the entrusted loan amount, i.e.
RMB58,500,000, as well as the applicable interest, penalty and
other damages. Details of the Entrusted Loan Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were disclosed in an
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2010.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 13 for the year
ended 31 December 2010 and the above continuing connected
transactions numbered 14 to 17 for the period from 1 January 2010
until 2 June 2010, and confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements
governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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Directors’ Report

ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’
letter has been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

No directors of the Company are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of
the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group
are set out in note 44 to the financial statement in this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LUAN Xiuju
Managing Director

Hong Kong
28 March 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 107 to 220, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2010, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

BHERRARARZERRE
(MRBEREZMRZNEGRAT)

A BZPERMARAR([EAR
A REMB AR (i [ E5E ) 7IHR
107 EEE 220 ARSI BRE - EF
BIER20105F 12 A31 BERE R AR T%
RRRIARBEZB IEFERNEERAR
R HFARHERAREK  HEBRAEHR
KEGEEBRERER  URETEGHEER
ZHEREMHAER

EERGAMBREMEAENER

EARERAAEREEERHMASHE
M 8 B 1 98 25 2 B LA 5% 2 ) e
MEERT  BEEEAEAATERMY
BARBHRE  UREHFEEDALEN
AP - LR ERGS B ISR S
P 7R 7 1 B o 5838 T B ) B A
SRR -

REETNEE

REBEHETHREESNER B
EHREMBEREBRRETR - AREEINH
SRR 1981 F AR ENANES 90 1§ M
TEEEY . AWEHMBH - ANXEED
TERAREANBTAETMEMALTE F
EEE -

AEBERBES R AR BEOES
RUCERE TR - SRR AR
BRI STIR PR - B R BT
DABRBEXSGAMERE TEEEA
HEERRL -

R ERAERAE 201044

105



106

B S A% B ol e oA
Independent Auditors’ Report

Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors'
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2010, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

28 March 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

HZE2010F 12 A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
20104 2009 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FHET

REVENUE WA 5 19,955,984 16,823,475
Cost of sales SHER AR (14,874,639) (12,122,493)
Gross profit EH 5,081,345 4,700,982
Other income and gains E A Kz 5 305,791 176,954
Selling and distribution costs SHEBA LS HKA (3,769,669) (3,301,814)
Administrative expenses T (748,202) (623,670)
Other expenses HAths7 H (6,830) (9,262)
Finance costs BB R 7 (45,425) (53,927)
Share of profits of associates JEMREE R BRI 64,038 60,438
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RRBEAT R 6 881,048 949,701
Income tax expense FriSfisz 10 (260,326) (229,396)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 620,722 720,305
Attributable to: FE(E T

Owners of the parent BRRIEAE A 11 427,567 568,081

Non-controlling interests e T 193,155 152,224

620,722 720,305

EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO BATREER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EREEA

OF THE PARENT EhRERER 13

Basic YN HK15.31 HK20.35

cents &l cents /&l
Diluted e HK15.30 HK20.35
cents &1L cents /Al

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HZE2010F 12 A31 BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010 2009 F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 620,722 720,305
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hi2mEmlA
Gains on property revaluation E R LG 14 9,092 -
Income tax effect etz e (2,182) -
6,910 -
Exchange differences on HE G INFETE RS
translation of foreign operations 2 FEH R 214,339 30,140
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHMEEWA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BHRFE) 221,249 30,140
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR FEXEKRALE 841,971 750,445
Attributable to: Jrg{gjj :
Owners of the parent NEVEB A 609,152 596,725
Non-controlling interests 3!5% A a 232,819 153,720
841,971 750,445

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010



S IR D e

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2010%F 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010%F 2009 E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W N 14 3,548,038 3,100,717
Investment properties WEWE 15 73,966 20,103
Prepaid land premiums B 16 247,174 213,551
Deposits for purchase of items of HEEME  BEK
property, plant and equipment REIEE e 31,783 14,239
Goodwill BES 17 1,680,015 1,641,854
Other intangible assets HibEpEE 18 67,955 43,257
Investments in associates REEZNRZIKE 20 545,201 446,952
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 21 209,387 206,596
Held-to-maturity investments BFEZDERE 22 57,915 98,252
Deferred tax assets R IAE = 30 35,003 26,811
Biological assets EMEE 23 119,263 92,242
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 6,615,700 5,904,574
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories FE 24 3,490,337 2,846,497
Accounts and bills receivables e BR T N ik 25 1,616,059 1,080,537
Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - e R E
other receivables o FEUR IR 1,269,875 646,955
Due from fellow subsidiaries BENENGIVSEN 38 28,418 4,417
Due from the ultimate holding company — F4&FERLA IR 38 11,190 5,314
Due from the immediate
holding company HEERATIRK 38 165 355
Due from associates /NI 20 1,680 993
Tax recoverable AT UL B IR 28,831 17,022
Held-to-maturity investments BEZIERE 22 25,217 -
Equity investments at fair BERAHEYAEBRZ
value through profit or loss EmRE 26 19,199 16,728
Pledged deposits TR 27 127,096 29,345
Cash and cash equivalents ReEKIREEEEE 27 1,741,203 1,943,103
Total current assets MENVEEEE 8,359,270 6,591,266
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Accounts and bills payables JEBR RN 5 28 999,864 916,302
Other payables and HAtb fERTFIR
accruals MIEGTEE 2,663,330 2,288,087
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGENENGIE ¢ 38 1,089,857 794,141
Due to the ultimate holding company REEAEIR A BIFRIA 38 31,337 34,352
Due to related companies R BAE R RIFUR 38 692,062 455,766
Due to non-controlling shareholders eI EE ] 38 8,926 5,679
Due to associates /NI EGE] 20 233,626 102,291
Interest-bearing bank and STRRITER K
other borrowings HEMER 29 1,021,152 303,092
Tax payable JERTTRIR 94,217 29,330
Total current liabilities DN =RE 6,834,371 4,929,040
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEZRE 1,524,899 1,662,226
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES EEHABERRBARE 8,140,599 7,566,800
R EMAERAT 201044
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010%F 2009 £
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABERRBER 8,140,599 7,566,800
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITER 29 495,000 500,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders eI E T 38 38,123 128,508
Due to the ultimate holding company REESYERR AN BIFOR 38 - 22,715
Deferred income FEIEUA 31,146 13,334
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIEEE 30 26,920 17,104
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERE 591,189 681,661
Net assets BEFE 7,549,410 6,385,139
EQUITY &N
Equity attributable to owners
of the parent BARHEE AEMLRE
Issued capital BEITRR 31 279,246 279,151
Reserves (G 33(a) 5,578,010 5,107,408
Proposed final dividend R AREIRR B 12 89,638 96,340
5,946,894 5,482,899
Non-controlling interests FEIERRER 1,602,516 1,402,240
Total equity e 7,549,410 6,885,139

Luan Xiuju
8RR
Director

EZE

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2010F 12 A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to owners of the parent

BLAERARR
Employee
share-nased
compensation Exchange Proposed Non-
Share  resene fluctuation final controling Total
Issued ~ premium EE  Catd  Reseve  resene  Retaned  dividend Inferests equiy
cpld account  BRAEE  esene  fns  ERRE pofs 85 Tol R e
BERE ROMEER EMEE ANERE  BR Wh  RERY  RERE & a e
Notes — HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$O000
Bg TR TAL TEL TR TR Thr TR TEn T TEm TEn
At 1 January 2009 H9EIALE 29138 - 131% 3240525 181792 46978 800716 107189 5092300 1232674 6324974
Proft for the year EERT| - - - - - - hR808l - TRROBL  1R4 70305
Otrercomprehensive ~ EREHAE
income for he year: A
Bchenge iferences  AERNERE
an ranslaton ER
of foreign operatons 2B - - - - T - - BRM 146 M0
Total comprehensive
momefortheyer  EREANNGE - - - - - BpM 568081 - BRTB IR0 THMS
Contributions from non-
controling sharcholders  FHERRELE - . - - . - - - I o
Transferfrom retained profts & R - - - -1 - ) - %) - %3
Equiy-seted share RaSEkE
opfonamangements & kY - -8 - - - - -8 -8
Brercise o share options /7B E k) 13 86 (20) - - - - - 638 . 638
Aequistion of a subsidiary W -FELR - - - - - - - - - M9 5090
Final 2008 dividend paid ~ 2IR2008FRERE - - - - - - - (107189 (107189) - (107189)
Interim 2009 dhidend paid 2% 2000 £ 2R S IV - - - - . - (108305) - (108309) - (10830
Proposed 2009 finl ividend 5 009 E KR & ¥ - - - - - - (630 %MW - - -
Dividends paid to non-
controling sharehalders  FFERRREL (TRE - . - - . . - - S99
At31 December 2009 H2009£12A31H 219,151 86 21747 3205050 193472 4984%9F 1162409 %340 5482899 1402240 6,885,139
FEERARAT 20104545
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

HZ2010F12A31 BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

Notes  HK$'000  HKS000  HK§'000  HK$'000
i3 fén TR TR TEn  TEn  TEn  TEn  TEn TR TEn  TEn TER

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEEARE
Employee
share-based
compensation Exchange Asset Proposed Non-
Share  resene fluctuation  revaluation final controlling Total
Issued ~ premium BE  Copitl  Resene  resene  resene’  Relaned dividend interests ~~~equity

cpitd accot  BEEE  resene  fnds  EXEE O EEEF  pefs  BR Tl ER B4
BRARE REGEE EMEE EAEE  BRE BE R REEA FERE & BE 0 4B
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000

At 1 January 2010 AN0ELF1A
Proft o the year EREA
Ohercomprenensie.~ EEEH2E
income for the year A
(Gains on poperty VEET R
reliaton netoftax B
Bichange dferenceson ~ BESEHK
Hranslation offoreign LER
aperations 2
Total comprenensive
nomefortheyear  FEREMALE
Brercse of shareoptions 17 R ?
Shareissteenpenses  RIEARR 2
Equiy-sttd share hrszEkE
apton amangements T k)
Patiel disposel nbe-#
o asubsidary (G
Final 009 dvidend pad ~ BEN0ERIRE 12
Interim 2010 dvidend peid BEN0ERERE 12
Proposed 2010
fnaldividend REN0ERHRE L
Diidends ped fonon- ~ FEARER
controling sharehoders RS

Transfer from reained profts R AHER

At31 December 2010

R0ERA3NR

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$5,578,010,000 (2009: HK$5,107,408,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

# The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from owned-
occupied properties to investment properties carried at fair value

during the year.

Y REBERB BRSNS ET
A (18 5,578,010,000,%5T (2009
iF : 5,107,408,000%7T) °

t o REFEA - BRYERBEZREY
RELNEEEMFEZDFES
B o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2010F 12 A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010 2009 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBRERE
Profit before tax R A% A 881,048 949,701
Adjustments for: HTINIBEEH AR
Finance costs BERA 7 45,425 53,927
Share of profits of associates FEAGE A B R (64,038) (60,438)
Interest income FBUA 5 (25,209) (21,117)
Dividend income from available- A HERE
for-sale investments Z B BHA 5 (43,963) (31,736)
Dividend income from equity RATEINAEZE
investments at fair value ZRERNE 2
through profit or loss f& B Uz A 5 (210) (581)
Fair value gains on equity NSDIEETIUN
investments at fair value BmoEREE
through profit or loss ZANFERE 56 (4,775) (1,734)
Loss on disposal of available- HEMHEERE
for-sale investments 2 518 6 453 -
Fair value gains on biological assets EBEZ ANFERGD 6 (7,092) (5,491)
Impairment of receivables W FIBRE 6 1,937 1,501
Equity-settled share option expense IR 4 B IR R <2 6 3,677 8,753
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEMh R A 6 6,472 4,369
Depreciation e 6 333,792 291,369
Fair value gains on REMHEL
investment properties N EY S 5 (3,858) (3,711)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWZE - BER
plant and equipment JEIEE 2 EE 6 4,440 2,328
Impairment of items of property, YIZ - BB L&
plant and equipment B ZRE 6 - 1,510
Recognition of prepaid land premiums RIEN TS 6 5,933 5,477
Provision against inventories FERE 6 33,201 51,932
Government grants AT ED 5 (32,595) (33,049)
1,134,638 1,213,010
hEERERAE 201044
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HZE2010F 12 A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010 2009 4
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET
1,134,638 1,213,010
Increase in inventories FEIGM (568,890) (144,233)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables FEU AR SR R SR HRIE N (491,133) (83,569)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TEFIE - e REAM
and other receivables JE WO IB A2 h1 (589,692) (84,859)
Increase in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries [& Z B A &) K ZIL HN (23,441) (4,183)
(Increase)/decrease in an amount due EEAERR R B R FR
from the ultimate holding company (3gm),m (5,754) 681
Decrease/(increase) in an amount due HEERRABIRK
from the immediate holding company B () 190 (195)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts B N AR FR
due from associates (3m),m (641) 1,781
Increase/(decrease) in accounts R EEE
and bills payables g, Crd) 50,859 (48,905)
Increase/(decrease) in other E A e3R8 K FERT
payables and accruals BEENCRd) 242,911 (13,456)
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ‘R [F ZH{EB A Tl IEIZ AN 263,562 352,158
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due REEEFER AT
to the ultimate holding company B CRAL), /1 (4,136) 20,581
Increase in amounts due to related companies R B&E A B FIEIE AN 216,706 89,210
Increase/(decrease) in amounts RIEFER IR
due to non-controlling shareholders FEE N, CRd) 2,998 (5,668)
Increase in amounts due to associates IR B N R FRIEHE BN 125,602 30,879
Cash generated from operations CEXEBIEZRE 353,779 1,323,232
Interest received B UF B 25,209 21,117
Interest paid BATFE (45,425) (53,952)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREAFEH (448) -
Mainland China income tax paid B AR B AKBEFTIS L (208,380) (230,173)
Net cash flows from EETEESE
operating activities ZIRBRFEE 124,735 1,060,224

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HZE20106 12 A31 AILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
20104 20094
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FAET
Net cash flows from KR ETEESE
operating activities e mFRE 124,735 1,060,224
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETHZRERE
Increase in pledged deposits AT SR N (95,081) (26,317)
Repayments from/(advances to) AfEHERE
available-for-sale investments B (830 934 (31)
Dividends received from associates B Uk & A RIIEE 51,720 42 844
Dividends received from BT HEE
available-for-sale investments & %8 43,963 31,736
Dividends received from equity B A FEY B
investments at fair value ZEmIRE
through profit or loss ) ¥\ 210 581
Proceeds from disposal of items HEWE - BER
of property, plant and equipment FAEIA B TS 50IA 23,530 22,064
Partial disposal of a subsidiary oL E—fEH B AR 18,035 -
Redemption of held-to-maturity BHZEIERE
investments gD 14,410 -
Purchases of available-for-sale BEAMEHE
investments "E (3,856) -
Purchases of equity investments at AR A FEYIA
fair value through profit or loss BamsERRE - (2,639)
Purchases of held-to-maturity
investments BABEZRIEEE - (98,252)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEMTB A A 34 - (176,951)
Additional investment in R—EEZ A F
an associate ZRBIMEE (85,931) (74,389)
Purchases of items of property, BEWME - BEX
plant and equipment FAEIEE (736,646) (516,650)
Additions to other intangible assets WEHMBEEE 18 (29,463) (10,203)
Additions to prepaid land premiums TEf THb e 380 16 (31,793) (20,050)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits for BEME  BE
purchase of items of property, MEHER 2
plant and equipment Ze (g%m),wmd (17,544) 18,918
Additions to biological assets HEYEEIEIN 23 (19,929) (108)
Receipt of government grants WEI BT BD 52,362 37,747
Net cash flows used in investing activites & /EEFTA 2 IR &7/ F58 (815,079) (771,700)

R ESAERAT 2010440 115
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HZE2010F 12 A31BILFE
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010 2009 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METBZ2RERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN FT1S R 31 4,667 638
New bank loans FTIGIRITE 2,077,483 1,199,786
New other loans g EMER 102,806 120,292
Repayments of bank loans EBIRITTER (1,387,317) (867,047)
Repayments of other loans EEEMER (112,048) (251,932)
Contributions from non-
controlling shareholders FEIERRAR R & = 4,665
Dividends paid BIRE (144,510) (193,945)
Dividends paid to non- [REDE; 224
controlling shareholders B AR B (43,512) (39,719)
Increase in payables P FIE B0 31,359 192,694
Decrease in amounts due to non- R B A B FEERAR
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries A% 5 2R > (91,229) (58,821)
Net cash flows from BMEEBESE
financing activities 2R R 437,699 106,611
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ReRBEELEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (RA), /48 hn 58 (252,645) 395,135
Cash and cash equivalents FHzRER
at beginning of year BeEEER 1,943,103 1,546,684
Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes, net [ERE BT 50,745 1,284
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEER
AT END OF YEAR REe%EER 1,741,203 1,943,103
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReERBEEL%EE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BB &R
Cash and bank balances B MIRTH 27 1,670,502 1,864,691
Non-pledged time deposits with FARRMRIEA
original maturity of less than NEHA 2 fE 3
three months when acquired R BT 27 70,701 78,412
Cash and cash equivalents as stated PR IR E
in the statement of financial position MEXREHCRE
and the statement of cash flows MIR&EEIEE 1,741,203 1,943,103
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Statement of Financial Position

2010%F 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2010 2009
2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Plant and equipment = N 5% A 14 826 1,074
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 19 2,106,711 6,183,859
Held-to-maturity investments BEEREHRE 22 57,915 98,252
Total non-current assets IEREEERE 2,165,452 6,283,185
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, deposits TEFIE - e Rk
and other receivables HAtb EUGRIAR 6,527 8,186
Due from subsidiaries NP NEIDNEN 19 4,343,882 -
Due from the immediate holding company & Z%E A 1K 38 165 165
Equity investments at fair BAFEIIAERZ
value through profit or loss ERIE 26 13,310 12,072
Held-to-maturity investments HAZIERE 22 25,217 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREFEER 27 22,463 32,036
Total current assets MEVEEEE 4,411,564 52,459
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and HAh e FkIE
accruals MEsTaE 45,851 29,774
Due to subsidiaries D) =NEIE R 19 68,083 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STERITER 29 636,000 -
Total current liabilities ik =R 749,934 29,774
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 3,661,630 22,685
TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABERRBER 5,827,082 6,305,870
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITER 29 195,000 500,000
Total non-current liabilities ERBaERE 195,000 500,000
Net assets BEFE 5,632,082 5,805,870
EQUITY B
Issued capital BT AR 31 279,246 279,151
Reserves e 33(b) 5,263,198 5,430,379
Proposed final dividend FhR R EAAR B 12 89,638 96,340
Total equity f& A 4218 5,632,082 5,805,870
Luan Xiuju Mak Chi Wing, William
Director Director
EZE oo
R ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

1.

Corporate information

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Based on
the confirmation of the board, the ultimate holding company
is COFCO Corporation, which is a state-owned enterprise
registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) was involved in the following
principal activities:

° processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling
beverages and distribution of still beverages;

° production, sale and trading of grape wine and other wine
products;

e  distribution of retail packaged cooking oil and other
consumer food products; and

° production and distribution of chocolate and other related
products.

2.1 Basis of preparation

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
biological assets and equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2010. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been
applied on a prospective basis. The following differences,
however, are carried forward in certain instances from the
previous basis of consolidation:

e Acquisition of non-controlling interests (formerly known
as minority interests), prior to 1 January 2010, were
accounted for using the parent entity extension method,
whereby the difference between the consideration and the
book value of the share of the net assets acquired were
recognised in goodwill.

o Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the
non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced
to nil. Any further excess losses were attributable to the
parent, unless the non-controlling interest had a binding
obligation to cover these. Losses prior to 1 January 2010
were not reallocated between non-controlling interest and
the parent shareholders.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010 (continued)

e Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset

value at the

date control was lost. The carrying amount

of such investment at 1 January 2010 has not been

restated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible Hedged ltems
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

HKFRS 5 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current
included in Assets Held for Sale and
Improvements to HKFRSs Discontinued Operations — Plan to sell

issued in October 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

the controlling interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases
- Determination of the Length of
Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong
Land Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Annual Report 2010

2.1 iRBEZE (1)

mEEE (H)

R2010F 1 A 1A.ZFiajia 228 ()

o (HERARIEGIME - AIAKEIRNE
REEHIREERREEEFEL
Bl BIREHREETENE
2o ZEREN201061A1R
MEREEILEEBS -

22 B HERBE S

AR B B R AF R TR P BN
ATHR] BB BB IS R -

BEMBREER  BARAEEHEESEN
# 15 (85T)

EEMBREEY  BEMBHEEAR1NL
ECACCHES) CHER

IBHEEN-BLFNE
ZERE

BEVBREEN  BAREMBREENRER

%25 (BT K) ROZRE - £8%2
EEROHAZNHZS

BEMBREEY  XFAH
535 (L)

GeERES] A RELH B
£ 275 (B3]

EBesES BRGEAIR 02T
FORBIX)  2BTA BZLHE

—REREPER

e (ARMBRE  AEEADEAALEE
2RZ89)
%

BEAMBREEY  BEMBRERARELRL
FORETRGIN  BEIFELEZARGEE
RO08EI0ARE REXULEERE
LEEIHEE —5tElHE
EA25E) RUBAA2 e

009525 E  HAWOFSAEMSERE
HEERZE iy E R AL EIEN

FEREFAN BERER4REIAHE
(BFTA) -ETEALHHEL

BEREELH v V€

BE RN EXERRFZ
EHERZHE



Y85 R P i ()

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised), amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKAS 17 included in Improvements to HKFRSs
2009 and HK Interpretation 4 (Revised in December 2009),
the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and HKAS
27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes
in the accounting for business combinations that affect
the initial measurement of non-controlling interests, the
accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition
and subsequent measurement of a contingent
consideration and business combinations achieved in
stages. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill
recognised, the reported results in the period that an
acquisition occurs, and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such
a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give
rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard
changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Consequential amendments were made to various
standards, including, but not limited to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28
Investments in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 January 2010.

2010912 A31 H
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments results
in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact on the
Group. Details of the key amendments most applicable to

the Group are as follows:

° HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the
statement of financial position can be classified as a

cash flow from investing activities.

° HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance on
classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases of land
should be classified as either operating or finance
leases in accordance with the general guidance in

HKAS 17.

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases —
Determination of the Length of Lease Term in
respect of Hong Kong Land Leases is revised as
a consequence of the amendment to HKAS 17
Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs
2009. Following this amendment, the scope of HK
interpretation 4 has been expanded to cover all land
leases, including those classified as finance leases.
As a result, this interpretation is applicable to all
leases of property accounted for in accordance with

HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and HKAS 40.

The Group has reassessed its leases in Mainland
China upon the adoption of the amendments
and the classification of leases in Mainland China

remained as operating leases.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1
First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards - Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters *

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets *

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ®

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes-
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets ®

Related Party Disclosures ®

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Classification
of Rights Issues !
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments ~ Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements
fo HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and
clarifying wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS
27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS
1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the classification
and measurement of financial assets compared with the
requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS
9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and
incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles
of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions
were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while
changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount
of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable
to changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the change
in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation
of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts which have been designated under the FVO are
scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues
to apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January
2013.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of
related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption of
related party disclosure to government-related entities for
transactions with the same government or entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
same government. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 24
(Revised) from 1 January 2011 and the comparative related
party disclosures will be amended accordingly.

While the adoption of the revised standard will result in
changes in the accounting policy, the revised standard is
unlikely to have any impact on the related party disclosures as
the Group currently does not have any significant transactions
with government-related entities.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2011. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes in
accounting policies, none of these amendments are expected
to have a significant financial impact on the Group. Those
amendments that are expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s policies are as follows:

(@) HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that the
amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration do
not apply to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the measurement
choice of non-controlling interests at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets to components of non-controlling interests that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation. Other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by another
HKFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance to clarify
the accounting treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily
replaced share-based payment awards.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

(b) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
that an analysis of other comprehensive income for
each component of equity can be presented either in
the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the
financial statements.

(c) HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:
Clarifies that the consequential amendments from HKAS
27 (as revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27 is
applied earlier.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which
the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets
are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses
from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of
surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion
to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with
the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) asubsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

(b) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is
in a position to exercise significant influence over the joint
venture; or

(c) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture's registered capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group's share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of associates is included
in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates and is not individually tested
for impairment. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at
the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured
until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (continued)
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based
on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1
January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which
were applied on a prospective basis, the following differences
applied to business combinations prior to 1 January 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the
purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-
controlling interest was measured at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for
as separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did
not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination
resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have
been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the
Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was
more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.
Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were
recognised as part of goodwill.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, biological assets, financial
assets, investment properties, and goodwill), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or
(i) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or its parent;

(d) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (c);

(e) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly,
any individual referred to in (c) or (d); or

(f)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the
deficit is charged to the income statement. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement to the
extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer
from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made
for the difference between the depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 2.8% 10 16.2%
Plant, machinery and equipment 4.5% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment are recognised in the income statement in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of eight years.

Water rights

Water rights are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 40 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Biological assets

The fair value of the grape vines is estimated by reference
to independent professional valuations using the discounted
cash flows of the underlying biological assets. The expected
cash flows from the whole life cycle of the grape vines are
determined using the market price of the estimated yield of
the agricultural produce, being grapes, net of maintenance
and harvesting costs and any costs required to bring grape
vines to maturity. The estimated yield of the grape vines is
affected by the age of the grape trees, the location, soil type
and infrastructure. The market price of the grapes is largely
dependent on the prevailing market price of the processed
products after harvest, being crude grape wine.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to
the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held to maturity investments and available-for-sale
financial investments, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction
costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010

24 TESHBEME (&)

EMEE

BEl s A PEIESEBIEEM
BEEREREBEMEE CRBRRER
EFhfhat - BB BELwARE
EZERRSRETNERRER (@
B)MAEE2HE  HHEREIK
PR AN N (R 0] < ) &8 4 AR AP 78 22 X
ABE - AR ETEEXRTGEY
B E - TIEEANAWRERMT
&R TERARE LBURR I
gz MIERBNRBEER) ZRT
miE -

REEY
NEERBES K2 BRI [ K
RNsEEBEAME - AIEBESED
SICER - MAKERHAA - B
AEERKERHOTHBRZEETE
AFERBEE  MEERNT 2RI
& AR H B A B AR FT AMA R
xR WMAKBEREAEA - KEHOE
T2 EMHESARBEILE RN
ARERAHIE -

RIBGERLTEN 2 L@ H¥ Tk
BRAGIER RN HEERREREE
T ARER °

RVER LG E
EEEGHEREIRHEN 2R
BEANDBREAFEIARGRZ
ERRE  BERRERFIE  KHEE
AR EMAHEESRRE (RFE
AME) » RRERRYERFETE
EMEEZNE - TREENLHER
FHZAFE - i (AL IR A FET
ABzHRE ) ERET 2 X HRAGT
o

EFBEATEARBEZSREER
RHAAIAEEAERERLEELE
ZR)HER - ERBERATEARLESR
KRB TIZE P —RREZ HRE R
RN EMEEZEARLE -



Y85 R P i ()

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances,
accounts and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from group companies and related companies,
quoted and unquoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the
Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised
in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue recognition”
below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When the Group
is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future
significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets in rare circumstances. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial investments or held-
to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets.
This evaluation does not affect any financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option at
designation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the income statement in other expenses.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold
to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently
measured at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income
statement in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity securities and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the income statement in other income,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement in other expenses and removed from the available-
for-sale investment valuation reserve. Interest and dividends
earned are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the income statement
as other income in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition" below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such securities are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near term
are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intent to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in
rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables
is permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the entity has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale
category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the
expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life
of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is
subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a "pass-through" arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less
any impairment loss previously recognised in the income
statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. The determination of what is "significant" or "prolonged"
requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the income statement. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
loans and borrowings. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and bills
payables, other payables, amounts due to group companies
and related companies and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification is as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using an appropriate
valuation technique. Such techniques include using recent
arm's length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing
models.

Inventories

Inventories, other than the agricultural products which are
measured in accordance with the accounting policy for
"Biological assets" above, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, in the period in which the
services are rendered;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders' right to receive
payment has been established.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions").

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model, further details of which are given
in note 32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that
it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if
they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

Retirement benefits are provided to certain staff employed by
the Group. In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, the Group's Hong Kong employees enjoy
retirement benefits under either the Mandatory Provident
Fund Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQ”) Scheme, or the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under which employer contributions have to be made. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. The Group's
contributions to both schemes are at a maximum of 10% of the
monthly salaries of the employees. When an employee leaves
employment prior to his or her interest in the Group's employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing ORSO Scheme
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of the forfeited contributions, in accordance
with the rules of the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme. However, in respect of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, only the employer voluntary
contribution amounts are refundable to the Group when the
members leave employment prior to their contributions vesting
fully. The Group's mandatory contributions vest fully with the
employees when the employees leave employment.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the relevant authorities of the provinces or
the local municipal governments in Mainland China in which
the Group's subsidiaries are located. The Group contributes to
this scheme in respect of its employees in Mainland China and
such costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.
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20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group's employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible
for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of termination of their employment. The
Group is liable to make such payments in the event that such a
termination of employment meets the circumstances specified
in the Employment Ordinance.

A provision has not been recognised in respect of such
possible payments, as it is not considered probable that the
situation will result in a material future outflow of resources
from the Group.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends are approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to
the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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3.

Significant accounting judgement and estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue withholding
taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by certain
subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted in
the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the
distribution of dividends.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2010 was
HK$1,680,015,000 (2009: HK$1,641,854,000). More details
are given in note 17.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, investment
properties are revalued at the end of the reporting period on an
open market, existing use basis by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the judgement, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period
are used. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2010 was HK$73,966,000 (2009:
HK$20,103,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Significant accounting judgement and estimates
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31
December 2010 was HK$154,000 (2009: Nil). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2010 was
HK$430,059,000 (2009: HK$403,445,000). Further details
are contained in note 30 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale. When
the fair value declines, management makes assumptions
about the decline in value to determine whether there is
an impairment that should be recognised in the income
statement. The carrying amount of available-for-sale assets was
HK$209,387,000 (2009: HK$206,596,000).

Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on an assessment
of the recoverability of accounts and other receivables and the
timing of their recovery. The identification of impairment of
receivables requires management judgement and estimation.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimates, such differences will impact on
the carrying value of accounts and other receivables and the
amount of impairment/write-back of impairment in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed. Impairment of
receivables of HK$1,937,000 (2009: HK$1,501,000) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
year. The aggregate carrying amount of accounts and bills
receivables, and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
as at 31 December 2010 was HK$2,885,934,000 (2009:
HK$1,727,492,000).

Estimation of fair value of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are stated at fair value less
point-of-sale cost. This requires an independent valuer’s
assessment of the fair value of the biological assets. Changes
in conditions of the biological assets could impact the fair value
of the assets. The carrying amount of the Group’s biological
assets at 31 December 2010 was HK$119,263,000 (2009:
HK$92,242,000). More details are given in note 23.

3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

a.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the beverages segment is engaged in the processing,
bottling and distribution of sparkling beverages and
distribution of still beverages;

(b) the wines segment is engaged in the production, sale and
trading of grape wine and other wine products;

(c) the kitchen foods segment is engaged in the distribution
of retail packaged cooking oil and other consumer food
products; and

(d) the confectionery segment is engaged in the production
and distribution of chocolate and other related products.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment result. Segment
results are measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that interest income, dividend income, finance
costs, share of profits of associates, as well as unallocated
head office and corporate results are all excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss, investments in
associates and other unallocated head office and corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, the amount due to the ultimate holding company,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Annual Report 2010
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4. Operating segment information (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

201012 A31H
31 December 2010

4. REFIER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2010
HZ2010F12A31 HILEE

Kitchen
Beverages Wines foods Confectionery Total
BBt ikl BERM KERR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEx TR TR TiEgn FET

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Other revenue

DEWA
HETIREP
HiA

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Interest income

Dividend income and
unallocated gains

Finance costs

Share of profits of associates

Corporate and other
unallocated expenses

SHER
s
FIRMA
REMAR
RARIS
BERA
RSB L TR
RAEREAM
RARRE

Profit before tax

BUAn Al

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment
receivables

Investments in associates

Corporate and other
unallocated assets

AHEE

#k -

HisA 7> EPFE]
felkR

NSRRI RE

REREMA
NEEE

Total assets

WE A RAE 201085
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

201012 A31H
31 December 2010

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4, REHIER (E)
Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2010 Beverages Wines foods Confectionery Total
HBZ2010F12R31HILEE R BE BERS RERR &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TET TR TR

Segment liabilities 2HE
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment bikiskansili
payables JERT 3R
Corporate and other DAl REA
unallocated liabilities AOEE
Total liabilities Bak

Other segment information: ~ E 2 EpEH!

Impairment losses NN ES
recognised/(reversed) RRE
in the income statement B8/ (&E)

Provision against inventories ¥ & B

Depreciation and amortisation 3 2 K #

Unallocated amounts ROIEE
Capital expenditure BARY
Unallocated amounts ROTEEH
*  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and Y BARELTEEREYNE  BELR
equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums. - EMmEEE  FHiT i -
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4. Operating segment information (continued)

o R R B RE (48
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

4. KEDHER (FH)

Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2009 Beverages Wines foods  Confectionery Total
HE2000F12A31BIEFE e ikl BHERM KERSR A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEr TET FET TET
Segment revenue: SEUBA
Sales to external customers HETIAEP 7,098,488 3,196,319 6,008,469 519,699 16,823,475
Other revenue HAl A 54,839 39,461 17,208 6,280 117,788
7,153,327 3,236,280 6,025,677 525,979 16,941,263
Segment results AEEE 386,956 585,697 18,644 (60,002) 931,295
Reconciliation: k-
Interest income FIBHA 21.117
Dividend income and i EUA K
unallocated gains FoEME 38,049
Finance costs BEKAK (53,927)
Share of profits of associates &5 & A A1 A 60,438
Corporate and other ARl REA
unallocated expenses ROEHY (47,271)
Profit before tax G Tpal 949,701
Segment assets THEE 4,662,377 3,700,619 1,477,517 456,873 10,297,386
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment k=il
receivables e el (4,114,915)
Investments in associates REERNR 2 RE 446,952
Corporate and other AR REAM
unallocated assets AP EE 5,366,417
Total assets BEE 12,495,840
MR ERAERAE 20104F4F
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. REHIER (EK)
Kitchen
Year ended 31 December 2009 Beverages Wines foods  Confectionery Total
HE2000F12A31BEFE Rt ik BHERM KERMA A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THT THL
Segment liabilities PHEE 3,760,652 2,479,050 1,821,246 310,641 8,371,589
Reconciliation: #H -
Elimination of intersegment bikiskansili
payables [ FE (4,114,915)
Corporate and other N REAM
unallocated liabilities *nias 1,354,027
Total liabilities BafE 5,610,701
Other segment information: ~ EAt D ERER
Impairment losses INLONES
recognised/(reversed) HERRE
in the income statement 18/ (BE) 2,080 (288) (237) 1,591 3,146
Provision against/(write-
back of provision
against) inventories FERE/ (E@) 17,938 4,417 (215) 29,792 51,932
Depreciation and amortisation 472 K i# 179,640 95,946 2,886 17,867 296,339
Unallocated amounts AOEEEE 4,876
301,215
Capital expenditure ERRAT 345,868 149,432 13,796 6,266 515,362
Unallocated amounts AP EE 31,566
546,928*

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

*

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers

Over 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
in Mainland China and over 90% of the Group’s non-current
assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, are situated in Mainland China.

Information about a major customer

During the year, there was no external customer accounted for

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums.

10% or more of the Group’s total revenue (2009: Nil).

Annual Report 2010
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Revenue, other income and gains

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns

and trade discounts, during the year.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

o R R B RE (48
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

WA ~ A R s

WA (KRB Z 2 %5) s AFE
IREERE ST MENCELER

BEFME

HAp AR WS AT

Group
TEE
2010 2009
20104 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Other income Heib A
Gross rental income e ARz 2,047 4,307
Bank interest income RITHBUA 17,983 17,356
Interest income from BHEFEEE
held-to-maturity investments ZFBUWA 7,226 3,761
Dividend income from AHfHERE
available-for-sale investments Z R B A 43,963 31,736
Dividend income from equity investments ~ I&AFES ABZ
at fair value through profit or loss ZRERRE 2 REWA 210 581
Government grants* B4 Eh * 32,595 33,049
Compensation income AEWRA 35,529 34,150
Tax refunds RH 5,138 891
Others H 55,025 32,548
199,716 158,379
Gains g
Realised gains on derivative instruments PTET R #H e
— transactions not qualifying as hedges —PEBRAE A RS 85,690 -
Sale of by-products and scrap items SHE BIEm RERIEE 10,856 9,186
Foreign exchange differences, net MEH ZRE - JFFE 896 810
Fair value gains on equity investments BRATHEYAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss BRI E 2 A EKE 4,775 4,868
Fair value gains on investment properties ~ && W% 2 A FEWZ
(note 15) (BF5E15) 3,858 3,711
106,075 18,575
305,791 176,954

*

Various government grants have been received for investments

in certain provinces in Mainland China in which the Company’s
subsidiaries operate. There are no unfulfilled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.

* REBERRALFNE R FEL
HEZ PEIABEE TE D Z RERT
ZIHRBFHEE - B2 AT
1] R B 2 IR T EE B35

o I £ A B A

2010 44
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

6. Profit before tax 6. BRBIATEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEZBRBEIDER TR, (A
(crediting): IS
2010 2009
2010 F 2009 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Cost of inventories sold ELFERAK 14,848,530 12,076,052
Provision against inventories GERE 33,201 51,932
Fair value gains on biological assets EEEANTFERG (7,092) (5,491)
Cost of sales HEMA 14,874,639 12,122 493
Auditors’ remuneration T BRI % B 4,130 3,800
Depreciation (note 14) WE (W 14) 333,792 291,369
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEmEmpaEgE
(note 18) (KI7£18) 6,472 4,369
Recognition of prepaid land premiums WREN TS
(note 16) (Ki7x16) 5,933 5,477
Minimum lease payments under operating 7 B T ith R IR F R4 &
leases in respect of land and buildings HEMNKERSIUE 112,032 98,708
Employee benefit expenses (including EERNFEZ (B
directors’ remuneration — note 8): EEH—ES) -
Wages and salaries TE NG 894,091 840,131
Pension scheme contributions* RURETEIfEFR 93,696 80,502
Equity-settled share option expense AR A EH A s AR iR 3,677 8,753
991,464 929,386
Other expenses include the followings: HEMALZBRENTSE
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME « = KRG
plant and equipment HE Z B8 4,440 2,328
Fair value losses on equity investments BAFEIABRE 2 Ex
at fair value through profit or loss B2 N EEE = 3,134
Impairment of items of property, Y - BRENRKEHEE
plant and equipment (note 14) ZRME (M5 14) = 1,510
Impairment of accounts receivable FEW AR FURE
(note 25) (M45x25) 1,634 1,324
Impairment of other receivables E b e W FRIA R E 303 177
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments BERMHDERERK 453 -
* At 31 December 2010, the Group had no forfeited contributions * R20I0F12A31H  KEFE#E

SR TN A BB HEEF JE B R 1k
FEVBIHEL (2009 F < )

available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in
future years (2009: Nil).
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2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

7. Finance costs 7. BERN
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERASITAT
Group
TEE
2010 2009
2010 2009 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FEL
Interest on: ME
Bank loans wholly repayable TFEREHEEZ
within five years RITER 24,159 17,141
Loans from a fellow subsidiary and a RZEMB AR LHB AR
non-controlling shareholder Z IR
of a subsidiary ZER 2,551 8,895
Others Hitp 18,715 27,916
Total interest expense on financial RN TFEFIAEBZEZ
liabilities not at fair value EREENE
through profit or loss GEEGES 45,425 53,952
Less: Interest capitalised W EERNMEFE - (25)
45,425 53,927
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

8. Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as
follows:

EEME

REERN > REFEBSZHMER
NEES EWRAT ETRA ) RFE
BRAVEDIFE161IRA T HREE 2 EF B
BT

Group
REE
2010 2009
2010 % 20094
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Fees: we
Executive directors HITES 200 200
Independent non-executive directors BUIENITES 645 755
Non-executive directors IEMITES 200 200
1,045 1,155
Other emoluments: Eiie
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMREYFE 5,927 5,127
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 2,161 1,957
Equity-settled share option expense AR 45 5 B e B <2 1,411 2,707
Pension scheme contributions IRRET B R 253 161
9,752 9,952
10,797 11,107

In the prior year, certain directors were granted share options
of the Company in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options which has been
recognised in the income statement over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

o 5 e R B R (4
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

8. EEM<= (&)

(@ BIYFHTES
FRN- XN TFEIFRATESEZ

during the year were as follows: aEmn
2010 2009
2010 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred Tt 245
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark IRV e 255
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANSEE 255
755

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2009: Nil).

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

RER  WEABIIFATESR
S E AN (2009 4F : ) ©

(b) MITESERIHTES

Fees
ik
HK$'000
Ti#n
2010 2010
Executive directors: HITESR:
Mr. Ning Gaoning BERERE
Mr. Qu Zhe e
Mr. Wang Zhiying FrBEE
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BESEE
Ms. Luan Xiuju L S
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRERE
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Mr. Ma Jianping HRYEE
Ms. Wu Wenting RERt

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme
in kind Discretionary expense contributions Total

& 2l bonuses RALE  BIKETEI remuneration
REWFZE BETL BRERX # “ame
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx T FHET FHET TET

WE A RAE 201084
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2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

8. Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8. EEME(H)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERFHTEE ()
(continued)
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme
inkind Discretionary expense  contributions Total

Fees & )28 bonuses  FRAEH  EIREEl remuneration
e REWAE  BBETO BREEY i3 ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL THL TEL FEL FEL TAL

2009 2009 F
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Ning Gaoning EgELE 200 - - 436 - 636
Mr. Qu Zhe HELE - 1,536 788 436 82 2,842
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BERRE - 663 51 397 - 1,111
Ms. Luan Xiuju Y - 2,213 801 347 42 3,403
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRELE - 715 317 347 37 1,416
200 5127 1,957 1,963 161 9,408
Non-executive directors: FRITEES -
Mr. Ma Jianping SRYEE 100 - - 397 - 497
Ms. Wu Wenting Ryt 100 - - 347 - 447
200 - - 744 - 944
400 5127 1,957 2,707 161 10,352
There was no arrangement under which a director waived AFER - WESEELMRER
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year A 2R EE A S 2 28 (2009
(2009: Nil). Ff)o
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three (2009: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining two (2009: two) non-director, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

hEREHFM2EE

REEATEESHMZEE B85
=% (20094 : =R)EF - HPes*
BRI EXHIFES - NERAESARA
(20094 : MB) mmFMZIFEER
BZME &8I

Group

TEE
2010 2009
2010 % 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREYHGR 1,594 1,566
Discretionary bonuses BI5IEAL 1,082 1,172
Equity-settled share option expense R 7 45 B AR R =2 181 347
Pension scheme contributions RIRFHEIEE R 86 87
2,943 3,172

In the prior year, the non-director highest paid employees
were granted share options of the Company in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are set out in
note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised to the income statement
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above non-director, highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

RUARTFE » ZFEZF & T MHE
B EAASEREHR R MERT
ARRBEERE  HEFBHRNVBRE
FsE32 - xSRI A FE(EREF
JBEAE A SRR ARER) THR R H B B
EE HSWtALFEMH®RS
%E@tﬂ#%%Z%%%ﬂE%%ﬁﬁW
& o

REHREE GFER) 2HMNT N T
ARz NBIRT

Number of employees

EE®E

2010 2009

2010 % 2009 5
1,000,001 &L=

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,500,00078 7T 1 1
1,500,001 BLZE

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2,000,000 787 1 1

2 2

R ERAERAE 201044



164

o5 A R ()
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2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

10. Income tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

10. A%

FEMNGHBEBDERNAFENEE
EA B EETERTUE M A 16.5% (2009
F :16.5%) MTHLR(EH o HAfilE 2
JERBE AN 2 RIB IR B AR EEE
ZRVERER ZRITH RS -

2010 2009
2010 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
Group: AEHE
Current — Hong Kong BIHR— &5
Charge for the year RAFE R 1,267 -
Current — Mainland China BIER — pA R B K Bz
Charge for the year AARFEHBR 256,147 226,807
Underprovision/(overprovision) BEFETR
in prior years (FB%E) st 3,166 (3,900)
Deferred (note 30) HEIE (FE30) (254) 6,489
Total tax charge for the year FELATR 260,326 229,396

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

10. Income tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

10. FriS®i ()

UTRFBARE - ERSMOMER
BIREMAE RDER X ER K EM
EARRAER (BB 2HEX
th o RBAMHEGE 2 FHHEAR
AR ERAB R (AVAER R ) BA M
R ZBEIAR

Group - 2010

EE-20105F

Hong Kong Mainland China Total
e R AR A5t
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %

TEL TERL TER

Profit/(loss) before tax

HAnER /(B8

Tax at the statutory tax rates
Lower tax rate for specific
provinces or enacted by
local authority*
Profit not subject to tax
due to concessions**
Profits attributable to associates
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Adjustment in closing deferred tax
due to change in deferred tax rate
Adjustment in respect of
current tax of previous periods
Effect of withholding tax at 10%
on the dividend income
Tax losses utilised from
previous periods
Tax losses not recognised

BAEREHE A

{ERIE st R HIE
HYBRE R -
R B EEMERRK
LR
NGyl
BARBLWA
AR S
RIEEHEZEMIFL
BRERBHRAR
BESRNETA
ZHE
EREMA# 10%
neilliitiveZ

PRBEREHE
RERBIE

Tax charge at the Group’s
effective rate

REBEUREINE
ZBEX

WE A RAE 201084
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

10. Income tax (continued)

10. &% ()

on the dividend income
Tax losses utilised from

SiliiierYAZ |

Group — 2009 REE —2009 F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B4 B AR Bt
HK$'000 % HK$000 % HK$'000 %
FHL TAL TEL
Profit/(loss) before tax HaEs,/ (B18) (19,949) 969,650 949,701
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEREAE A (3,291) 165 242412 250 239,121 25.2
Lower tax rate for specific provinces  {ERIE St TitE 5l
or enacted by local authority * MR & - - - (10,145) (10)  (10,145) (1.1)
Profit not subject to tax R B ERMRAR
due to concessions ** LR - - (21,943) (23)  (21,943) (2.3)
Profits attributable to associates BeNaEEES - - (17,6%0) (1.8)  (17,686) (19
Income not subject to tax BRI WA (14,538) 729 (30,830) (32)  (45,368) 48
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 S 17,829 (89.4) 20,150 21 37979 40
Adjustment in closing deferred RERH=ZE)
tax due to change in MEIEER
deferred tax rate B RE - - 6,132 0.6 6,132 0.7
Tax rebates R - - (3,613) 04) (3613) (0.4)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% R BUARI10%

9,088 0.9 9,088 1.0

previous periods FRBIA™HE - - (1394)) (14)  (13941) (15)
Tax losses not recognised REERHE - - 49,772 5.1 49,772 5.2
Tax charge at the Group's REBFUFXHE

effective rate MBS - - 2293% 236 229,39 24.1

* ok

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT") at a rate of 25%. However, certain
of the Group’s subsidiaries are operating in specific development
zones in Mainland China, and the relevant authorities have
granted these subsidiaries preferential CIT rates of 22% or 24%.

In addition to the preferential CIT rates granted to the Group’s

certain subsidiaries in Mainland China, tax holidays were also
granted by the relevant authorities to some other subsidiaries
of the Group, where CIT is exempted for the first two profitable
years of the subsidiaries and is chargeable at half of the
applicable rates for the subsequent three years.

Annual Report 2010

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$16,328,000 (2009: HK$12,987,000) is included in “Share
of profits of associates” in the consolidated income statement.

Y REBFPEERE  LFRK25%
oFi Rt G R R AU A
B o i KNEEETHE LA
TR B K 5 6 45 51 3 J At [ AE
R FHERERTZENE LA
22% 3,24 % HIEBIPRITIFFE

o BRAEET R EA R E T HE R
FERERLREIEHES)  FHEE
SRR T AL B T A M 165 2 5] %
HHY - ENFEHTE 23 7] & /5 7 &
AR RILZATIFH - WRBER A
ZHFEBATEN —F B
ik

Bt i1 ] FE (5 TR TR E £ 16,328,000 78
7T (2009 4F : 12,987,000 7T) + Jh&h
ARAWAREK D [BEBE QS
e
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

10. Income tax (continued)

11.

12.

Since 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration
of Taxation have issued a series of regulations and rules,
with retroactive effect on 1 January 2008, concerning group
restructuring (collectively, the “Group Restructuring Tax Rules”).
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group undertook
certain intra-group restructuring activities (the “Restructuring”).
Should the basis set forth in the Group Restructuring Tax
Rules be adopted, there might be relevant tax exposure to the
Group. After giving due consideration of key factors including
the relevant legal interpretation and opinion about the Group
Restructuring Tax Rules and the prevailing tax practices, the
Company considers that it is more likely than not that the
Restructuring will not give rise to the relevant tax exposure to the
Group, if any. Accordingly, no provision thereon has been made
in these financial statements.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the year ended 31 December 2010 includes a loss of
HK$21,565,000 (2009: HK$21,996,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note
33(b)).

10. frf&

11.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

(%)

H 20094 - B EER M B B A5 48 78
T BN EBEAEN— RZIED KR
Al (miEm [ SEEARKRL] - 8
2008 F1ALIBRREEBUS - B E
200812 A31 B ILFE - AEEHETT
TETEERNEEER((EE]) -
il [ R EARGARA | e ayEE
R - A BT s RIS A
o REEZETIERNR(BREEE
EERBRA R ERRENRER
ARRITREER) & - ARARE
BEAT ARSI BURE B AR R
R (A ) o Bt - BB 7%
BIRETIEHL B -

FRRHER AEERF

B ZE2010612 A3l HIEFERMNAA
BBEAREGRENBRAARRT]
2 B 15 & A 2 85 18 21,565,000 8
7L (2009 £F : 21,996,000 7T ) (Fff5:
33(h)) °

Dividends 12. B2
2010 2009
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Interim — HK2.30 cents P H — SR B
(2009: HK3.88 cents) 2.3081L (2009 4 :
per ordinary share 3.887811) 64,227 108,305
Proposed final — HK3.21 cents EARM-EREER
(2009: HK3.45 cents) 3.21 (L (2009 4 :
per ordinary share 3.4571l) 89,638 96,340
153,865 204,645

At a meeting held on 28 March 2011, the board proposed
a final dividend of HK3.21 cents per share for the year. This
recommended dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and will be paid out of the Company’s contributed
surplus. It is not reflected as dividend payable in consolidated
statement of financial position.

MR2011F3 A28 HE{THER L &
ECERMATEIRESR3.21E
ZAREBRR S o WEFRREAEART
RN EEREBAT RS LM - W
HBARRR Z ARG - IBE
WARRERE T AR R = bR A FE - A%

B o
o

R ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

13. B REBERERITEARE

I

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount for the
year ended 31 December 2010 is based on the profit for the
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$427,567,000 (2009: HK$568,081,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,792,434,710 (2009:
2,791,384,426) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the
year is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on:

BREF

HZE2010E12A31 B ILEE 2 SREAR
Pl Db SYNCI S el Tae =Y SN
FEAEZREE [ 427 567,000 7 7T (2009
£ . 568,081,000/87TC) - WEAFEED
AT INAE 19 T B AR 2,792,434, 710 A%
(20094 : 2,791,384,426 % )5t E o

RE R SIS BN BERTYIRE Q7]
BAaRESRA ARG AE RN
8o StEMARIEFSERRTIA
FEERTEBEBMDHEE - T8
REBBRERBFNE - RBRAAF
BERET BB FETERERS
EEBmATRERT 2 EERINE
FHE -

BREARESBIWELT

2010 2009
2010 F 2009 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Earnings EZR
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AREFTESRER
holders of the parent, BN R7A]
used in the basic earnings LB
per share calculation B ANEE & H) 427,567 568,081
Number of shares
RO EE
2010 2009
2010 fF 2009 F
Shares B
Weighted average number FARERER
of ordinary shares in issue AFFHER
during the year AFEEEETT
used in the basic earnings L 3m A hNE
per share calculation 98 2,792,434,710 2,791,384,426

Effect of dilution-weighted average

number of ordinary shares: w9
Share options WA

BHRE - LR

2,599,733 -

2,795,034,443  2,791,384,426

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

14. Property, plant and equipment 14. ¥ - BERRE
Group Company
*&EE N
Plant,
machinery
Freehold and
land equipment Construction Plant and
KXA%HE  Buildings JE  in progress Total  equipment
T BF HERRE EEIR &5 BERRE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TAL TEL TEL TERL TERL TR

31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009 and
at 1 January 2010:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

R2010612 4318

200912 A31H
R2010%1A18:
KA
ZEHRERRE

Net carrying amount

REFE

At 1 January 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided
during the year

Surplus on revaluation

Transfer to
investment properties

Transfer from construction
in progress

Exchange realignment

R2010F1A1E
MHREHTER
BERRFE

AE

e

ERRERR
EftAH

BREREME

BERIRER
B EE

At 31 December 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

M2010612 4318
MG REHER
BERRFE

At 31 December 2010:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

20106124318 :
R

S RERAE

Net carrying amount

REFE

WE A RAE 201084
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

14. Y% - BERERE (E)

Group Company
KEE YN
Plant,
machinery
and
equipment Construction Plant and
Buildings BE +  in progress Total  equipment
BT BRRSE TRIE B WEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THT THT THT THL THL
31 December 2009 R2009F 12 A31H
At 31 December 2008 and R2008F 12 A31H
at 1 January 2009: K200961A1R:
Cost KA 1,291911 2,515,652 167,677 3,975,240 1,814
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEERRE (299,265) (1,241,503) - (1,540,768) (1,814)
Net carrying amount REFE 992,646 1,274,149 167,677 2434472 -
At 1 January 2009, net of R200951H1R
accumulated depreciation NG EHTER
and impairment AEENFHE 992,646 1274149 167,677 2434472 -
Additions RE 87,913 267,726 161,036 516,675 1,239
Acquisition of subsidiaries =N 180981 227215 736 408932 -
Disposals & (1,774) (21,595 (1,023)  (24,392) -
Depreciation provided during the year R ERE (44,817)  (246,552) - (291,369) (165)
Impairment E - (1,510 - (1,510) -
Transfer from investment properties EReRIEE S 53,564 - - 53,564 -
Transfer from construction in progress B R Ti28% 122250 130,660  (252,910) - -
Exchange realignment JER R 1,828 2,322 195 4,345 -
At 31 December 2009, net of R2009% 12 A318 -
accumulated depreciation NG EHTER
and impairment WERFE 1392591 1,632,415 75,711 3,100,717 1,074
At 31 December 2009: R2009F12 A31H :
Cost AR 1,737,261 3,018,247 75711 4,831,219 2,799
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEERAE (344,670) (1,385,832) - (1,730,502) (1,725)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,392,591 1,632,415 75,711 3,100,717 1,074
CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14. Y% - MERRE (8)

All of the Group’s buildings are situated outside Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s buildings with
a net book value of approximately HK$41,042,000 (2009:
HK$48,793,000) were pledged to banks to secure the bank
loans granted to the Group (note 29).

As at 31 December 2010, certificates of ownership in respect
of certain buildings of the Group in Mainland China with
an aggregate net book value of HK$57,927,000 (2009:
HK$112,709,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC

AEBEREG ZBFHUREE NN

=]
oo ©

20105612 A31 8 + AN EIREFEL
741,042,000/ 7T.(20094F : 48,793,000
B 28T - IR AREERRITE
AT AR ERTT (FIRE29) -

HR2010E 12 A31H - & &£ B A &
EARERNE TEFOERERFES X
57,927,000 7T (2009 4 : 112,709,000
FETT) - TR B R i R B iE g

authorities. FHIFT AR o
15. Investment properties 15. REWME
Group
AEE
2010 2009
2010 F 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEEE 20,103 69,884
Transfer from/(to) e (2 %X
owner-occupied properties =ElEEZES 48,400 (53,564)
AR ERHEmMEE
Net profit from a fair value adjustment S FEE 3,858 3,711
Exchange realignment bE A% 1,605 72
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 B ZRMmE 73,966 20,103

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated outside
Hong Kong under medium term leases.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2010 by Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$73,966,000 (2009: HK$20,103,000) on an open market,
existing use basis. The investment properties are leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details of
which are included in note 36(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying value of HK$15,673,000 were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

AEBERREREMFRONE B AN
BAREHHEAOREE -

M2010F12A31A AU HE X4
BEREEME - KFEEHBER
BEXERERARKRAFGHAEMN
RATS EHAEBZREMES
71 1B 573,966,000 74 7T (2009 4 -
20,103,000787T) * ZFRE YW EHR
BREROMBETE=7 - BB
BN T HR S P R 36(a) ©

M20094F 12 A31H » AEBE 2 BREE
#15,673,000/8 L2 I EWME - Tink
REBEFIRTTRVE T F LAHER (I 5
29) °

R ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

16. Prepaid land premiums 16. S Lt &
Group
rEH
2010 2009
20104 2009 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEREE 219,462 160,793
Additions nNE 31,793 20,050
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) UeREM B A A (FIE34) - 43,793
Recognised during the year FRTER (5,933) (5,477)
Exchange realignment bE 8,070 303
Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A31 BZEmE 253,392 219,462
Current portion included in BIERBEMNFIE - &S
prepayments, deposits and N E A EYGEIE 2
other receivables BIHAES 2 (6,218) (5,911)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 5 247,174 213,551

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is held
under medium term leases.

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s leasehold land with a
carrying value of HK$15,419,000 was pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

As at 31 December 2010, certificates of land use rights
in respect of certain land of the Group in Mainland China
with an aggregate net book value of HK$5,329,000 (2009:
HK$2,385,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010

S+ 70 BRRE I AR 2 B3 AR
HWFEHEELH -

2009412 A31H - AEEHE T
ARME1E /& 15,419,000 7T + A LAER
FAREERITRVE 2 AR (H5E29) o

MN201056 128318 A&EEFE R &
BAENE T L HNEREFES LA
5,329,000 7T (20094F : 2,385,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

Beverages cash-generating unit
e Wines cash-generating unit
e  Confectionery cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating
units has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections ranged
from 11% to 13% and cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using growth rates ranged from 3% to 4%.

17. Goodwill 17. B8
Group
REE
2010 2009
2010 2009 ¢
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
At 1 January: R1A1E:
Cost KR 1,641,854 1,409,342
Accumulated impairment ZERE - -
Net carrying amount BREVFE 1,641,854 1,409,342
Cost at 1 January, net of R1IA1HZRA
accumulated impairment kR 2FHRE 1,641,854 1,409,342
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) U BEBT B A ) (M3t 34) - 209,180
Exchange realignment bE H R R 38,161 23,332
Cost at 31 December, net of MN12 A31 B2
accumulated impairment ks 2ETRE 1,680,015 1,641,854
At 31 December: MR12A318 :
Cost PR AR 1,680,015 1,641,854
Accumulated impairment Z2iHRE - -
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 1,680,015 1,641,854
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZRERRE

BEREBEHMEEBZEE 20/
EUATHEEEBEM (A T2HNE)
AERERIE -

o HMRESELEM
o BERREEAEM
s KHRMREELFEM

bl RN E A B2 ATU A R
TRBEREEEE - EREEAR
R A E TR B LR & L B B IR
BETERRREREAE - Re
MEREMERZBBEENFR1L%
£13% > MAFHEZINRER
3% EA% 2 BERTF AR -

R ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

17. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-
generating units are as follows:

17. & (&)

BBz R ENH (%)
TEERREEAEN L BHEREE
L

2010 2009

2010 % 2009 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT T

Beverages Uk 1,187,704 1,166,284
Wines itsE] 480,701 463,960
Confectionery NG 11,610 11,610
1,680,015 1,641,854

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the cash-generating units for 31 December 2010 and 31
December 2009. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the years immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

18. Other intangible assets 18. Hith B EE
Group Computer software Water rights Total
AEE B4 KHE &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
31 December 2010 2010%12H31H
At 31 December 2009 F 20094 12 A31 H
and at 1 January 2010: 2010 1H1H :
Cost B4
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z&HEEY
Net carrying amount BREFE
Cost at 1 January 2010, R2010F1A1HZ
net of accumulated S - HOBR 25
amortisation By
Additions NE
Amortisation provided
during the year A
Exchange realignment M 5 EE

Cost at 31 December 2010, H 20104128318~

net of accumulated A - 0Bk 25
amortisation e

At 31 December 2010: M2010F 12 A31 H
Cost PN

Accumulated amortisation Rt

Net carrying amount BREEE

RS 2010454 175
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

18. Other intangible assets (continued) 18. HihEEEE (&)
Group Computer software
& BB
HK$'000
FET
31 December 2009 2009fF 12 A31H
At 31 December 2008 MR2008F 12 A31 B K
and at 1 January 2009: 20091 A18 :
Cost DEN 40,213
Accumulated amortisation RETHEE (3,574)
Net carrying amount IREVEE 36,639
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of R20094F 1 A 1B ZA
accumulated amortisation OBk RETEESY 36,639
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) Ui BE — R EB R A (FizE34) 720
Additions nNE 10,203
Amortisation provided during the year FRE RS (4,369)
Exchange realignment bE 5 64
Cost at 31 December 2009, net 20094 12 A31 HZ A -
of accumulated amortisation kg Rt 43,257
At 31 December 2009: R2009F 12 4318 :
Cost B%N 51,260
Accumulated amortisation Ry (8,003)
Net carrying amount REFE 43,257
19. Investments in subsidiaries 19. RIIB AR ZIRE
Company
¥ NN
2010 2009
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - R E 2,106,711 2,106,711
Due from subsidiaries BB A FIRER = 4,128,076
Due to subsidiaries U VNGIE R - (50,928)
2,106,711 6,183,859
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and current liabilities of HK$4,343,882,000 and
HK$68,083,000, respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and are
repayable on demand.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at

31 December 2010 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

Investments in associates

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

19. RMBARZRE (&)

AARRRARBEEMARBREZ
P18 2 IR R e R R A RIFRIE 7 Bl
4,343,882,000/# 7T 268,083,000/ 7T -
B REER - BB RIRERER

RAEEEHBEAFRN2010F12 A31
BZ&1E - SRR EMEES9 o

20. RFERNTR 2 RE

Group
AEH
2010 2009
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Share of net assets MEEEFE 545,201 446,952

The amounts due from and to associates included in current
assets and current liabilities of HK$1,680,000 (2009:
HK$993,000) and HK$233,626,000 (2009: HK$102,291,000),
respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on
demand.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their
financial statements, or where appropriate, management
accounts:

TARDEELR RS A G 2B
BRNARAEREEQNBRAD
311741,680,0007% 7T (20094F : 993,000
# 7T ) 12 233,626,0007% 7T (2009 £
102,291,000/ 70) * 9 AEEKE - &
BRIZBRER -

ik

TEEARSEAEEBERT M
BRERERER (WER) BB E
PEE -

2010 2009

20104 2009 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Assets BE 8,821,300 6,195,943
Liabilities afE 5,953,302 3,913,130
Revenue A 13,487,229 11,178,437
Profit gl 314,979 296,093

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31
December 2010 are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements.

BAREER2010F12A31H 22
4 28 N F S

/N

o I £ A B A

FHE - BRI FTRE40 ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

21. Available-for-sale investments 21. ftHERE
Group
rEH
2010 2009
20104 2009 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
Unlisted equity investments elsewhere BAEIMER 2 FE LT
than Hong Kong, at cost HESITE B 209,387 205,662
Due from investee companies W E AT Z R - 934
209,387 206,596
The amounts due from investee companies at 31 December A2009F 12 A31H » LIWERRIHK
2009 were unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of HBEERR - REREETEENS -
repayment.
The unlisted equity investments were stated at cost less HMREZFRAFLMERREZA
impairment because the board is of the opinion that their fair FEEE S E - AR E R
values cannot be measured reliably. EIER ©
22. Held-to-maturity investments 22. EEZIHRE
The held-to-maturity investments consist of debt investments BEEIHARERFEEE LA
with fixed maturity dates and coupon rates, carried at B - REF R R DA S 18 B R 51 BR &Y
amortised cost. BFIRE -
23. Biological assets 23. £ YEE
Group
rEE
2010 2009
2010 2009 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FiET
At 1 January R1AL1H 92,242 86,643
Decrease due to harvest R U ek > (24,429) (21,408)
Additions during the year FRRE 19,929 108
Gains arising from changes in fair value EEGEHSAFELR
attributable to physical changes FEhPTE A 2 WS 31,521 26,899
At 31 December M12H31H 119,263 92,242
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2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

23. £ YEE ()

(@) £MEE 2D
REREMRER - AEEEH
PRAIEIERE 2 IR A BN T

23. Biological assets (continued)

(a) Analysis of biological assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s total
planted area of mature plantations is as follows:

Group
REH
2010 2009
2010 2009 £
Hectares HK$’000 Hectares HK$'000
N FET yN-Z:| T
Planted area: TETEEAE
— Mature — B 884 119,263 588 92,242

(b) BEEEZDM
RAFE  AEEBRHEKD
4,342, 00072 T (20094 : 4,151,200
D) ERFERGEHER

(b) Analysis of grape production
During the year, the Group harvested approximately
4,342,000 kilograms (2009: 4,151,200 kilograms) of
grapes, which had a fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs of HK$24,429,000 (2009: HK$21,408,000). The PR R 424,429,0007 7T, (20094F
fair value of grapes was determined with reference to their 21,408,000 T) - @E 2 A F
market prices. BETEMEE °

BEEEMEE 2 AT ERAED

Significant assumptions made in determining the fair

value of the biological assets are as follows: ZEE/E®JWOT
(i) the grape vines will continue to be competently () BEEBEEERLER -
managed and remain free from irremediable REAT 2 fE 5] A EIRR AL R
diseases in the remaining estimated useful lives; Te#s
(i) the expected prices of grapes are based on the past (i) BRZBEERIEZBE
actual average district prices; and BEZEBRFHERIEE
£ R
(iii) the future cash flows have been discounted at the (i) REKRERECILBED S
target rate of return on equity of the wines segment. 2R ERE R 2 BIELL
TTEBE o
24. Inventories 24. 7&
Group
rEE
2010 2009
2010%F 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FiBT
Raw materials = 1,599,702 1,255,286
Work in progress TR 59,718 59,826
Finished goods BIRK i 1,830,917 1,531,385
3,490,337 2,846,497
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31 December 2010

25. Accounts and bills receivables

25. EWERF R ZE

Group
REE
2010 2009
20104 2009 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
T F&T
Accounts and bills receivables FEWEE R N =g 1,640,697 1,104,538
Impairment BE (24,638) (24,001)
1,616,059 1,080,537

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally for 30 to
90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s accounts receivable relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Accounts and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts and bills receivables
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of impairment, is as follows:

BEEPIN AEBEBREF 28 51F
RDEBLERRL - —RREHE
FEENK - EEM—RNFI0RE
0B -BEEFHRAEEELR -
AREBSKGERHEREFEREER
WAk R B E B HIER - R 1E
SRRBRERE - aREEEERHE
Za kG - ER Lt - AR AEHE
BRARETRAEP 2 BWARR - 85
SRRz ETREEYTESE - KA
REZERTAE -

RS BR 2 AR B R KRR R ER
RES RS ZEH W BRI E D T
T

Group

AEH
2010 2009
2010 % 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Within 3 months =EARN 1,216,256 797,080
3to 12 months —“EARz+_fEAN 396,730 279,216
1 to 2 years —FEMFENRN 2,898 2,653
Over 2 years HBBME 175 1,588
1,616,059 1,080,537
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

25. Accounts and bills receivables (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of accounts
receivable are as follows:

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

25. BUYIRT R 215 ()
FEUAR SR E R R B 0 T -

Group

REE
2010 2009
2010 F 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
At 1 January R1AL1H 24,001 29,327
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB AR - 8
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRERBEEE (FH:E6) 1,634 1,324
Amount written off as uncollectible P BIERR W MIGE 2 B3R (1,827) (6,701)
Exchange realignment b 830 43
At 31 December ®12 A31H 24,638 24,001

Included in the above provision for impairment of accounts
receivable is a provision for individually impaired accounts
receivable of HK$20,808,000 (2009: HK$18,068,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of HK$23,993,000 (2009:
HK$18,068,000).

The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivable that are
not considered to be impaired is as follows:

|t FEURER FUR B BB B SR (A B R (A TE
W BE R 2 #4449 20,808,000 5 7T, (2009
F 1 18,068,000/ 70 ) © X HEWERR
B A 2 BREE 4) 423,993,000 7T
(20094F : 18,068,000/ 7T) °

B M8 R R E 2 18 Y R 3R T B BR 7 B IR
ez EFARM  BHERIRE—5
2 FEY AR o AREE W Wk 7% FAEER
Fr B R @R A E A E R R
Gl

ARARBEREZRUEFRREZ
BRER DTN -

Group
AEH
2010 2009
2010 F 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Neither past due nor impaired ES DI S RIE] 1,402,869 953,359
Less than 1 month past due BHEY1E A AR 8,537 13,660
1 to 3 months past due BEI1 = 31EA 3,310 40,979
More than 3 months but less BHAZE A AL
than 12 months past due BALR12{EA 31,338 68,299
More than 1 year but less wHI 1 F A
than 2 years past due BAR2F - 2,653
More than 2 years past due wHA2 F A - - 1,587
1,446,054 1,080,537
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

25. Accounts and bills receivables (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

26. Equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss

25. BUWRA R RE (&)

REVH IR ARBE 2 FEA AR R T % 2
MY |BEBRBREAZEREFE

EBRHBERREZ BRERIIES S
BEERAKERHLHERIE 2 BIE
FE# - ENAEER  ARBES
AR HRREREBZEEERLE
HIRERE S B ADHAR A A B
B - #0522t A% A AR AE HURUE
Bith o AEBEUENZFERTEE
R SR A E A5 IR THE G ©

26. BV EIIANBHE 2 EHZRE

Group Company
KEE ¥ NN
2010 2009 2010 2009
2010 £ 2009 F 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FExT FBT
Listed equity securities in BELEMRE -

Hong Kong, at fair value BATE 19,199 16,728 13,310 12,072

The above investments at 31 December 2010 and 2009 were
classified as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition,
designated by the Group as financial assets as at fair value
through profit or loss.

27. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits

20104 & 2009412 431 1 - kit
BRERB/TIERS - ERYITHER
% HEAKREIETE RERFERTA
B GMEE -

27. iﬂg&ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ BEREEMA

ﬁa%
Group Company
TEH b /N
2010 2009 2010 2009
2010F 2009 FF 2010 F 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT FHT FHET
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE R 1,670,502 1,864,691 22,463 32,036
Time deposits JE B 197,797 107,757 = -
1,868,299 1,972,448 22,463 32,036
B BLEE ERERTT
Less: Time deposits pledged Bk
for short term bank Z EHF
loans (note 29) (F5E29) (127,096) (29,345) - -
Cash and cash equivalents  R&MESEEIEE | 1,741,203 1,943,103 22,463 32,036
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$1,624,604,000
(2009: HK$1,182,140,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods between one day and three months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Accounts and bills payables

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts and bills payables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

27.

28.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

BeRhRLEERARCER
(&)

RBERR AEBAARERE
fLzREMBEFEMARDER
15 5% 5 1,624,604,000 % 7T (2009 4 -
1,182,140,000/87T) - ARB AT B
HABRSEMER  AMm - RETE
REBESNE B B GRD) K 5 1E - (FE R E
EERRE  ARBEREZBRITE
TTIMNERH 2 RITHARE LR RN

FHRNIRITZ R E THiRE HRITHER
MERGFEZF B EREIAE - RF
AEEAEZRETRKME - BT
HERDR-—AE=ARTEF2FH
TEBY - 4% %58 B T B3 SR 2R BRER
FE - RITEHR R EERFRF AR
AT R A RCER 2 (RE R A ZIRTT o

B RRREE

RBERRZ NEEEMAERERE
RECIREZEHATNOT

Group

rEE
2010 2009
2010 2009 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within 3 months =EAR 825,497 797,101
3 to 12 months —ERAZE+_EAN 161,753 104,573
1to 2 years —FEMENRN 11,879 13,925
Over 2 years BBMRF 735 703
999,864 916,302

The accounts and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and ENEREEBREATFE - —MH

are normally settled during one to three months and one to six
months, respectively.

RN R R—E=ER R—=/XEA -

MR ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

201012 A31H
31 December 2010

29. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29. ST EBRITERREMER
Group REH
2010 2009
2010F 2009 F
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)

BRAH  Matwity HK$'000 EELHD Maturity — HK$'000
I (%) ZHA THT FI% (%) FH#A THT

Current pioki
Bank loans-secured FOEF-HEH 171 2010 15,749
Bank loans-unsecured FIET - BEH 4-4.37 2010 272,578
Other loans-secured HEF-HHE 486 2010 14,765
Other loans-unsecured EfEH - -
303,092
Non-current ERE
Bank loans-unsecured FITET - BEH 11 2011 500,000
500,000
803,092
Analysed into: o
Bank loans repayable: HEEZRTEN
Within one year or —E M5 H
on demand RRNER 288,327
In the second year F-fF 500,000
In the third to fifth years, F-FEERF
inclusive (BRIEEERT) -
788,327
Other loans: EfER:
Within one year or —F N5
on demand wENEE 14,765
14,765
803,092
Notes: Bt -
(a)  Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: (a) FEEZRITEZII THEE
-
(i)  mortgages over certain of the Group’s buildings, which () KA EEEREAAEF) 41,042,000
had an aggregate carrying value of approximately JEIT (20094 : 48,793,000 7T)
HK$41,042,000 (2009: HK$48,793,000) (note 14); and ZETFEFZHBNF14) : K&
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

29. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29. FFERITERRHEMER (&)

(continued)

Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)

(a) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: (continued) (a) AEEZRTENTIATSEE (EHE

()

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits (i) FTEEHZETFERFNZH
amounting to HK$127,096,000 (2009: HK$29,345,000) #4127 096,000 7T (20094 -
(note 27). 29,345,000, ) (K1it27) »

In addition, the Group’s bank loans at 31 December 2009 was WIN - R2009F 12 H31 H » K%E /2
secured by mortgages over the Group’s investment properties ZIRITE T IE 1748 FR [ (B
situated outside Hong Kong, which had an aggregate carrying 15,673,000,870,2 tE&/E#ZIIMEH2
value of HK$15,673,000 (note 15) and mortgages over certain EHTREYZE (K1:F15) - RAAREE
of the Group’s land use rights, which had an aggregate carrying #315,419,000,8 70,2 & F & fHE
value of HK$15,419,000 (note 16). TR (Rt 16) -

(b)  Except for bank and other borrowings of HK$39,840,000 (2009: (b) B R20104F 12 .4 31 A 39,840,000,%
HK$12,209,000) denominated in United States dollars and JL (20094 : 12,209,000, 7T ) BER7T
HK$936,000,000 denominated in Hong Kong dollars (2009: R A B FETTATE K 936,000,000
HK$500,000,000) as at 31 December 2010, all other borrowings JE T (2009 4F : 500,000,000 7T ) X
were denominated in RMB. JETTETBSN TR M EH AN R

ATHE o

The other loans represent loans of HK$29,380,000 (2009: HMERDFESEEES 2 —BIH%

HK$14,765,000) from a financial institution owned by COFCO HiE 7 B3129,380,00078 7T (2009 4F :

Corporation. These balances are unsecured and bear interest 14,765,000/87T) - ZE &84 A EIEK

at rates of 4.59% (2009: 4.86%) per annum. o BEF 459 (20094 : 4862 )

RFIEET B -
Company ¥ NN
2010 2009
20105 2009
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BRAH  Matwity HK$000 ERAL  Matwity  HK$000
FE%)  HHA FEn M&E%)  2E88 TETL
Current il
Bank loans-unsecured FOER-EHA 0.72-1.1 2011 636,000 =
636,000 -
Non-current FRE
Bank loans-unsecured RTEH - EHE 1.1 2015 195,000 11 2011 500,000
195,000 500,000
831,000 500,000
Analysed into: A ‘
Bank loans repayable: BREZRTER:
Within one year or on demand —EREHSEBNER 636,000 -
In the second year RE_F = 500,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive ~~ RNE=FZERE(REEEMF) 195,000 -
831,000 500,000
MR ERAERAE 20104F4F
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

30. Deferred tax 30. EERHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the AFEERNELCRBEENREEZEF)
year are as follows: AN
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE
Group RE&EH
Fair value adjustments arising
from investment properties
and biological assets
REMEREYEEEE
ZAFERE
2010 2009
2010 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 1 January M1A1H 17,104 7,481
Deferred tax charge related to fair W B8 — FEI B B A R
value adjustments arising from BEAZ A TEAE
the acquisition of a subsidiary FrARRERYIEE T IR - 7,720
Deferred tax charged to the income RAFE WA RE AR
statement during the year (note 10) ZIEFERIA (FisE 10) 6,883 1,889
Deferred tax debited to the equity AARFE B RRAH HIER
during the year ZIRIERIA 2,182 -
Exchange realignment b N 751 14
At 31 December W12 A31H 26,920 17,104
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

30. IR A (&)
RAEE - BEFRBABRREEZE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows: R :
Deferred tax assets BEEHEEE
Group REH
Provision  Impairment
against of receivables
inventories e Others Total
FERE  FERE HAth &&T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FHL FHAT
At 31 December 2009 and M2009F 12 A31 H
at 1 January 2010 K 2010F1A1H 2,082 8,170 16,559 26,811
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RAFERARERA
to the income statement AR 2
during the year (note 10) ERERIA (P9FE10) 552 (1,967) 8,552 7,137
Exchange realignment b 5 A 80 250 725 1,055
At 31 December 2010 2010512 A31H 2,714 6,453 25,836 35,003
At 1 January 2009 R2009F1A1H 655 7,654 23,056 31,365
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RAFERARERA
to the income statement HAS (R 2
during the year (note 10) ELERE (HEE10) 1,425 504 (6,529) (4,600)
Exchange realignment fE A% 2 12 32 46
At 31 December 2009 and 20094 12 431 H
at 1 January 2010 K 2010F1A1H 2,082 8,170 16,559 26,811

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$430,059,000 (2009: HK$403,445,000) that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum
period of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses

can be utilised.

AEBAFERETEAEZRES
430,059,000/ 7. (20094F : 403,445,000
B AIMREL BB ARERKRK
RERF 2 MFE AR EHERRER
A e ARZFEERE ERNEE
RE—BREBMERR - MATR
RARRT S A A HEAREFRE
B ERZFERERRTCRREE °

o I £ A B A

2010 4E4F$it
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

30. Deferred tax (continued)

31.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate of 5% may be applied if there is a
tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2010, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

30. IEFERH (&)

RBEFEMERMEIOL - £REX
FERXZ Z SNVE R ERSNEIRE E TR
BB BEEREABMI0% 2 A
B o LA TE R 20084 1 A 1 B AR E
FAMR20074 12 A3l B 2 B S 2 &
A o s o B B2 5% S 51 I B B BT A R
AR AR WESE RS - RITEN
BMEETTHEL%  FIt - NEBA
YRR R B KPER L 2 32 S B A 7
FAH20084F 1 A 1 A EEFTERF D KA
BELEZIEMB

A2010F12 A318 » WA AEEE
RIS 2 BB A R BB TEIN R 2
RS 2 F) i FE A 2 TR IR i AR IR T
HE - EEZ2REZSEWERARER
FERERDIREBEFOEESTAK -

Share capital 31. B
Shares % 13
2010 2009
20104 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Authorised: VERE
4.,000,000,000 (2009: BREEO.10B T Tk
4,000,000,000) ordinary 4,000,000,000 % (2009 4F :
shares of HK$0.10 each 4,000,000,000 fi%) 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
2,792,459,756 (2009: BREEOC.10B T EE
2,791,512,076) ordinary 2,792,459,756 A% (2009 4F :
shares of HK$0.10 each 2,791,512,076 i%) 279,246 279,151

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to
947,680 share options were exercised at the subscription
price of HK$4.952 per share (note 32), resulting in the
issue of 947,680 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$4,693,000. An amount of HK$1,481,000 was transferred
from the share option reserve to the share premium account
upon the exercise of the share options.

Annual Report 2010

REE - 947 68010 BBRAEFAMT 2 BB
RRARBEFRA.95278 7T (HaE32)
EATE - BEI1T947,680 X F IR E
B0.1078 T2 Bt - IR e KB
BT F X 2 BT 49 /34,693,000 7T °
1,481,000 78 7T 17150 8 e 4 1 et BB
EFEERERDEER -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2010

Share capital (continued) 31. A (48)
A summary of the transactions during the year with reference FA - ARAIEBITERERKRANE -
to the above movements in the Company’s issued share capital MEBEE IR ZHMBNT
is as follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BEITROHEE 2ETRA BRHORER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT FHT
At 1 January 2009 R2009F1H1H 2,791,383,356 279,138 - 279,138
Share options exercised BT BE AR 128,720 13 826 839
At 31 December 2009 2009412 A31H
and 1 January 2010 K2010F1A1H 2,791,512,076 279,151 826 279,977
Share options exercised BT B 947,680 95 6,079 6,174
Share issue expenses M EE1TRY - - (26) (26)
At 31 December 2010 MR2010F 12 A31 H 2,792,459,756 279,246 6,879 286,125
Share options BBIRRE

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to
the financial statements.

Share option scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 21 November
2006, the Company conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme became effective on 21
November 2006 (the “Effective Date”) and unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate
senior management personnel and key employees of the
Company, and provide eligible participants with an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage eligible participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

32.

ARRBB IR 8 & B RIFFT 81317
HIRB R R RN I S SRS I RE 32 ©

BB

BIER 2006511 A21 Bl e —18E
BIRFES - NRRA RN —IRE
PetEat &) (13418l ) - &t 811 2006
FILA21 B EMBH DER - BRIE
SITBUHSIER] - 18 B 7% B R4
BMI0EF -

ZATEIE RSl B8 LB AR R
SREEEABRTIERE  EAA
RS HEE R A RN AIEAE AR
7 ZEARRSEENN/ARF
REBRRERBMEREAARE MERK
hzfEE-

MR ERAERAE 201044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20109 12 A31H
31 December 2010

32. Share option scheme (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the issued shares
of the Company at the date of the adoption of the Scheme.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
granted to each eligible participant pursuant to the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of its associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the relevant time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer. The exercise periods of the
share options granted commence subject to the applicable
vesting schedule and in any event end on a date which is not
later than seven years from the date of acceptance of the share
options, subject to early termination thereof as provided in the
Scheme.

The exercise price shall be determined by the board and shall
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (c) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 27 September 2007, a total of 20,619,000 share options
were granted to certain directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group. These share options shall be vested during the period
from 27 September 2007 to 26 September 2011 with an
exercise price of HK$4.952 per share and an exercise period
from 27 September 2009 to 26 September 2014. The closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant was
HK$4.95 per share.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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32. Share option scheme (continued) 32. B ERTEI(48)
The following share options were outstanding under the RARFEZER - RIFZEHEIT 515 i
Scheme during the year: REFTE -
2010 2009
2010% 2009
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options
per share per share
R S
e BREZE 118 BB
HK$ '000 HK$ '000
BT/’ T A/ Bk T
At 1 January W1A1H 4.952 18,054 4.952 18,708
Cancelled during the year FRFESH 4.952 (574) 4952 (525)
Lapsed during the year FREH 4.952 (188) 4952 -
Exercised during the year FRITE 4.952 (948) 4952 (129)
At 31 December n12A318 4.952 16,344 4.952 18,054
The weighted average closing price of the shares at the date of FRRITEERES B A MEFIR
exercise of share options during the year was HK$7.58 (2009: UTHE A&7 .58 7T (20094 : 6.9278
HK$6.92). JT) e
The vesting periods, exercise prices and exercise periods of MR2010F 12 A31 B REITHERE S
the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2010 are as BEE - TTHEERITEEAT
follows:

Number of options granted to

R EEEEE
Directors  Employees Total Vesting period Exercise price Exercise period
£ ==} &&T il HK$ per share 1710 HA
‘000 '000 '000 BiRITEE
Fn T T BT
1,680 3,112 4,792 27-9-2007 to 26-9-2009 4.952 27-9-2009 to 26-9-2014
1,820 3,956 5,776 27-9-2007 to 26-9-2010 4.952 27-9-2010 to 26-9-2014
1,820 3,956 5,776 27-9-2007 to 26-9-2011 4.952 27-9-2011 to 26-9-2014
5,320 11,024 16,344
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32. Share option scheme (continued)

The fair value of the share options of the Scheme granted
during the year ended 31 December 2007 was HK$32,227,000
(HK$1.563 each) of which the Company recognised a share
option expense of HK$3,677,000 (2009: HK$8,753,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted in 2007
was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.8
Expected volatility (%) 30.57
Historical volatility (%) 30.57
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.102
Expected life of options (year) 5
Weighted average share price (HK$) 4952

The expected life of the options is determined with reference to
the vesting term and original contractual term of the Scheme
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 947,680 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 947,680 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of HK$95,000 and share premium of
HK$6,079,000 (before issue expenses of HK$26,000), as
further detailed in note 31 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, a total of 16,344,000 (2009:
18,054,000) share options remained outstanding under the
Scheme. The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had
a remaining contractual life of 3.74 years (2009: 4.74 years).
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 16,344,000 (2009: 18,054,000) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of approximately HK$1,634,000 (2009: approximately
HK$1,805,000) and share premium of approximately
HK$79,301,000 (2009: approximately HK$87,598,000)
(before issue expenses).

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

At the date of the approval of these financial statements, the
shares issuable from the above outstanding share options
represented approximately 0.59% (2009: 0.65%) of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Reserves

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
111 to 112 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-
foreign joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits
of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
in Mainland China has been transferred to reserve funds
which are restricted as to use.

The Group’s capital reserve includes:

(1) the differences between the consideration and the
book value of the share of net assets acquired/
disposed when there is a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control: and

(2) the contributed surplus which represents:

(i) the excess value of the shares acquired over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor under the group
reorganisation in 1991, less the goodwill
arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates which remains eliminated against
the capital reserve; and

(i) the excess value of the shares acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor under the
reorganisation as explained in note 1 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2008.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010
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33. Reserves (continued) 33. e ()
(b) Company (b) AT
Employee

share-based
Share compensation

premium reserve
account  EEMRA  Contributed  Retained
Bty HEEH surplus profits Total
HER fE  BAE%n  RBEN =5
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
st FAT TAT AT AT TAT
At 1 January 2009 R2009F1A1H - 13,195 5,064,653 569,794 5,647,642
Total comprehensive
loss for the year AFEEEERLEE - - - (21,996)  (21,99)
Exercise of share options TP 32 826 (201) - - 625
Equity-settled share
option arrangements BAGEBREZHE 32 - 8753 - - 8753
Interim 2009 dividend paid BK 2009 F R ERR S 12 - - - (108,305)  (108,305)
Proposed 2009 final dividend ~ #E2009 6 RERE 12 - - (96,340) - (96,340)
At 31 December 2009 and 2009512 A31H
1 January 2010 R201051A18 826* 21,747 4968313  439,493* 5430,379
Total comprehensive
loss for the year TEERREESE - - - (21,565)  (21,565)
Exercise of share options iR e 32 6,079 (1,481) - - 4,598
Share issue expenses Bin B 32 (26) - - - (26)
Equity-settled share
option arrangements B EERRET 32 - 3677 - - 3,677
Interim 2010 dividend paid BIR2010FF R E 12 - - - (64,227)  (64,227)
Proposed 2010 final dividend ~ ¥0E2010F R8RS 12 - - (89,638) - (89,638)
At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H 6,879* 23,943 4878675  353,701* 5,263,198
*  These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of * BEMERE BRI
HK$5,263,198,000 (2009: HK$5,430,379,000) in the I Z B 7 17 5,263, 198,000
Company’s statement of financial position. JBEIT (2009 4F - 5,430,379,000
JET) °
The contributed surplus of the Company represents: RRBE 2 A BRIE
(i) the difference between the underlying net assets of (y WBRREAEEFESR
subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s NARIRIEINQIF 2 EEE
shares issued in exchange therefor under a group HEMEIT2IERB /A E
reorganisation in 1991; and B8 &
(i) the difference between the consideration payable (i) AEHAIEZ20084F 12 A

in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange therefor under the reorganisation as
explained in note 1 to the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2008.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

33. Reserves (continued)

(b) Company (continued)

On 15 April 2008, the board passed a resolution in relation
to a share premium cancellation pursuant to section 46 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, which was approved
by shareholders on a special resolution on 19 May 2008,
and was later approved by the registrar of companies of
Bermuda on 3 June 2008. Accordingly, the share premium
account for approximately HK$3,660,432,000 was transferred
to contributed surplus during the year ended 31 December
2008.

The employee share-based compensation reserve
represents the fair value of share options granted which
are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payment transactions
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will
be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution
to its shareholders. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of its
contributed surplus, if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i)  the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregated realisable value
of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

34. Business combinations

Business combination in 2009

(a)

On 9 January 2009, a 65% equity interest owned
subsidiary of the Company, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited (“CBL"), acquired a 40% interest in Beijing Coca-
Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Bottler”) from Coca-
Cola China Industries Limited at a cash consideration
of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to HK$307,479,000)
(the “Acquisition A”). Since then, the CBL's interest in
Beijing Bottler increased from 35% to 75% and Beijing
Bottler was consolidated as a subsidiary. Additional
cash consideration incurred after interim period was
HK$685,000.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010
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34. Business combinations (continued)

34. £BE 6 (B)

Business combination in 2009 (continued)

(a)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

(continued)

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Beijing Bottler as at the date of the Acquisition
A and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately

before the Acquisition A was as follows:

(a)

2009 g%ﬁéﬁr (1®)

(%)

RWBEEBEAZEZH - dERE
M ARl EENR BB Z AT
ERZZFWRBSHEARNBEZE
EEMENT

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition Carrying
L B B amount
R 2 ANFE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Property, plant and equipment L IE YN ] 406,152 385,354
Prepaid land premiums B e 41,990 41,990
Inventories ES= 120,767 110,688
Accounts receivable FEUAR K 112,220 112,220
Prepayments, deposits TR FIE ~ R RAEM
and other receivables e e 80,319 80,319
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 16,903 16,903
Accounts payable FERTERRK (102,911) (102,911)
Other payables and accruals HEMEMRIEREREE (96,331) (96,333)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER (353,715) (353,715)
Tax payable FESBITE (3,141) (3,141)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE (7,720) -
Due to a non-controlling interest R IEVERSAE RS (11,341) -
Non-controlling interests EISU T Fa (49,568) (47,843)
153,624 143,531
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17) IR E A 2 2 (MIFE17) 208,370
361,994
Satisfied by: ATEIFAZA
Cash consideration RERE 308,164
Previous investment in an associate  RIEAREE S A E) 2 18E 53,830
361,994

Annual Report 2010
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34. Business combinations (continued) 34. (B &0/t (H)

Business combination in 2009 (continued) 2009 FXEK A0 ()

(@) (continued) (a) (#&)
Out of the cash consideration equivalent to HK$308,164,000, T E 7308,164,000 7% JT H) 15
an amount of HK$194,133,000 was paid during the year S REH - EhA20194,133,000
ended 31 December 2009, and the remaining amount of BT 2 FIBEE R E E 2009 F 12
HK$114,031,000 was directly settled by a non-controlling A31BIFEARAI MR
shareholder of a subsidiary on behalf of CBL, which was 114,031,0007% 7t B & # @ i B
determined as a non-cash item and included in the balance of NGIEVE S8 3 U et iE] B¢ SN
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries in RIS - HIEEEE RIER D
non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2009. HEH - WEFA20094 12 A31

RZIEREBEBERNRME AR
BERBCRIAZ SR ET -

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash MKBEBEBAEEZRE RS
equivalents in respect of the Acquisition A is as follows: SEB\ARLFESTET
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid BERERE (194,133)
Cash and bank balances acquired FriE AR RIRT T 16,903
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FUWEBEEBBAMEAZEES N
in respect of the Acquisition A RE&E@EIER ML FE (177,230)
Since the acquisition, Beijing Bottler contributed B U BE 12 - B =2009F 12 A
HK$1,468,000,000 to the Group’s turnover and a profit BSIHEFEERERB AN SE
of HK$34,231,000 to the consolidated profit for the year 2 &L mND B &EE
ended 31 December 2009. 1,468,000,0007% 7T &2.34,231,000
BT A o
On 1 April 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the (b) M2008F4HA18  ARA2E
Company, China Great Wall Wine Co., Ltd. acquired a EBARFPREERBEEBERA
40% interest in Huailai Greatwall Vine Base Development BN 53k Stk
Co., Ltd. (“Huailai Base”). As relevant procedures had not BRAR ( [1ZREM] ) 40% #E
completed before the financial year ended 31 December o R AR FREE 2008 4
2008, the board was in the opinion that the 75% 12 A31 B I BF E M AR TER
equity interest in Huailai Base was an available-for-sale BEERANIEREM 2 75% ik
investment. On 31 August 2009, the transfer procedure AR HERE - B20094F8
(the “Acquisition B”) was completed. After that, Huailai RA318 - #EEERF ( [WEEE
Base was consolidated as a subsidiary. Bl) BL5EAK ° 1h18 - 1R EL DA

MEARERAE AR -
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34. Business combinations (continued)

Business combination in 2009 (continued)

(b) (continued)

34. £BE 6 (B)

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Huailai Base as at the date of the Acquisition
B and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately

2009
(b)

(%&

FREEH (I

REBEEEBHEZ R - BEKE
M2 Al BRI E E R B E R FER
EREZEWEFEHEBZAIZAE

before the Acquisition B was as follows: BREEWNT -
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition Carrying
Lt g By amount
R AFE BRTAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBT FiBT
Property, plant and equipment L E YN L] 2,780 2,445
Prepaid land premiums FE e 1,803 1,801
Other intangible assets HEmEpaE 720 720
Inventories 5E 190 190
Prepayments, deposits TERFIE « e RHM
and other receivables FEWEIA 103 103
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITER 279 279
Accounts payable FERTARSR (23) (23)
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIERERAE (524) (524)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R A (1,332) (1,248)
3,996 3,743
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17) RS E A 2 B (HFE17) 810
4 806
Satisfied by: ATB) AT
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 4,806

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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34. Business combinations (continued) 34. %50t (1)
Business combination in 2009 (continued) 2009 F XK E G (H])
(b) (continued) (b)y (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents MRBEEREAZRERIRSE
in respect of the Acquisition B is as follows: SEBEBERAFEIMEOT
HK$'000
FiBT
Cash and bank balances acquired Frig AR & RIRITHETT 279
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ~ FtUEEEEBATEL ZEE N
in respect of the Acquisition B RE&EEIER RAFRE 279
Since the acquisition, Huailai Base contributed HK$639,000 Qﬂﬂl,ﬁﬁ% ' ﬁ§2\009¢12ﬂ31\5
to the Group’s turnover and HK$117,000 to the consolidated iﬁ@’l&‘%%%iﬂi\%$%2 =S
profit for the year ended 31 December 2009. B N ERE s A5 B E BL639,000
BIT M 117,000% 7T °
35. Contingent liabilities 35. RREE
Save as disclosed in note 10, at the end of the reporting PRINGE LOFTIREE B SN - RIREHIR -
period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial R BEHREPRTIRZAARBEN
statements were as follows: Nk
Company
ARAF]
2010 2009
2010 2009 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Guarantees given to banks in h—REM B R AR
connection with facilities Z EVE MART
granted to a subsidiary R ZER 387,500 387,500
At the end of the reporting period, the banking facilities REREHR - BRIBEAQ R RRITIRE
granted to a subsidiary subject to guarantees given to banks by ZERMBTFHEBRR ZRITRLE &
the Company were not utilised (2009: Nil). RENA (20094 : #) o

MR ERAERAE 20104F4F
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36. Operating lease arrangements 36. KREHOLTH
(@) ERHBEA

(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to twelve years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

AEBRBLEHOLHEEE
KREWME(HEL)  EHEZ
HEHE—Z2+_F17% - —%m
5 MAOZERIEERP A
we  WRIAAERREBEERT
NHEREE -

RBERR - AEEREHEME
PRI 2 TR HH & A R
ZARRKEHESERRNT

Group

REE
2010 2009
2010 F 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Within one year —FR 5,719 1,564

In the second to fifth years,
inclusive F_EFERFT (BEEEMTE) 16,591 1,425
After five years AFE 27,173 -
49,483 2,989
(b) As lessee (b) fEHREEA

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEBRBEEROLHERE
TMREYE - MEBROKHD
ZHEHA—FE+FAE -

REBE R - AEBERE DA H
HEEMOEN ZARRERE
e

Group

KEH
2010 2009
2010 % 2009 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 44,143 53,778

In the second to fifth years,

inclusive F_EFERT (BIEEREMT) 52,240 69,208
After five years AFi% 82,217 89,485
178,600 212,471
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37. Capital commitments

38.

Y5 A P i ()

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
36(b) above, the Group had the following capital commitments

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

37. EXREIE

BRI 3P RE 36(b) w2 48 & FH 497
EIN ARERBERRBATER

at the end of the reporting period: AYE

Group

TEH
2010 2009
2010 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiBT

Property, plant and equipment: Y - BB R

Authorised but not contracted BEREERTLY 398 2,420
Contracted, but not provided for BRTAMERHRE 14,289 7,713
14,687 10,133
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no PERERIR - AR B WS KFRPE -

significant commitments.

Connected and related party transactions

(@) Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during

38. BEALRS

(@) FRMFmE R FRE 2R

7 R KRN -

REERKEE
NEREATETZERAR SN

the year: N
Group
REE
2010 2009
2010 2009 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Transactions with fellow B[R RIE A A
subsidiaries: 2R
Sales of goods ** HEEM** (i) 24,747 2,235
Purchases of goods ** BEEM* (i) 4,565,545 3,650,662
Service fee income ** RS & YA ** (i) 15,649 964
Rental expenses * e+ (i) 24,303 11,767
Interest expenses FEZH (i) 1,508 5,726
Transactions with the ultimate  E2ERARIZAT A B)
holding company: 2R
Sales of goods * HEEm* (i) 935 291
Rental expenses * e+ (i) 2,584 9,205
Transactions with associates: MEENR 2R
Sales of goods SHEE MW (i) 14,147 13,864
Purchases of goods * EBEER- (i) 1,756,242 1,273,332
Transactions with related EEYE A/
companies: * IR
Sales of goods HEEM (i) - 38
Purchases of goods * BEER* (i) 2,341,574 2056,447
MR ERAERAE 20104F4F
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31 December 2010

38. Connected and related party transactions
(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

(continued)

*  These related party transactions also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions discloseable in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

** A certain portion of these related party transactions
are connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions disclosable in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

# Related companies are companies under significant
influence by the Group’s ultimate holding company.

Notes:

(i) These transactions were carried out in accordance with the
terms and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(if)  Interest expenses arose from the loans from COFCO
Finance Corporation Limited (“COFCO Finance”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of COFCO Corporation, which are
unsecured, bear interest at rates ranging from 4.37% to
4.86% (2009: 4.37% to 4.86%) per annum and of which
HK$29,380,000 (2009: HK$14,765,000) is repayable
within one year (note 29).

Transaction with a related party

Pursuant to certain licensing agreements entered into
between the Group and a related party, the Group was
granted the exclusive rights to use certain trademarks
for its kitchen foods business. The licensing fees for the
current year and the prior year were waived by the related

party.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Except for (1) the loans of HK$29,380,000 (2009:
HK$14,765,000) from COFCO Finance, the terms of
which are detailed in note 29 to the financial statements;
(2) the amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
of the Group’s subsidiaries of HK$114,031,000 as at
31 December 2009 which were not repayable within
one year from the end of the reporting period, and
(3) an amount due to the ultimate holding company
of HK$22,715,000 as at 31 December 2009, which
was not repayable within one year from the end of the
reporting period, the remaining balances with the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, related companies and
non-controlling shareholders of the Group’s subsidiaries
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

Annual Report 2010

38. BEALXRS (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(%)

Y REREALIRSRELD
MBAIFKTE - TMERRZB T INEE
CHRERZGHAFBBER
% o

o BOREREALIRZIRE
ETRARE - BREATHE
CHRERGEFBHER
5 o

L BEBLRRAXAEERRE
BRABEATFEZ AT -

() EEXZRREET G
TEZ EALAFITHETT

(i) ZEFIEHALTELERGFIEY
BEREMT DA HESFE])
(FPIEEB BRG] 2EN B
RE)ZEH  ZEBHBEL
HF - 154 B4.37/E F4.86/F (2009
F 437 F486/F ) it &
H 7129.380,000,% 7T (20094 :
14,765,000,7T ) BR—FNEE
(Hfz£29) -

B-F@EBEALZRS
REASEEBEALI N ZE
THHHE  AREERBR
A IRNEEERMERER
ETER MAFEARLFE
ZEREEREREA LI -

BE AL 2 REZEREE

B (1) H 28175 2 B30 29,380,000
#77(2009 4F : 14,765,000 7T)
(R EF I PR B TS 3R 25 B 51 29)
(2)M 2009412 831 H » &#E7ER
WEBRKRES —FAEE ZER
7N £ B I B A B FEIE AR A% B FE
114,031,000% 7T + K (3) 522009
F12A31H » EERREHRE
—FEAREEZEMRLIERA
AFRIE 22,715,000 7THN » R
NE - REMEBAR - BEAT
N AR BB A T FEIEARAR B 2
ERBENEER 2B NERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

38. Connected and related party transactions
(continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of

(e)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

38. BEALRS (&)

(d) AEEFTEEEEAS ZHRMH

the Group

Group

AEH
2010 2009
20104 2009 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short term employee benefits HEEREF 16,921 14,726
Equity-settled share option expense A% ZN45 & RERY FERT L 2,145 4,116
Pension scheme contributions RIREHEIE TR 473 366

Total compensation paid to key NFEEEEREAE

management personnel 2 RN 4aEE 19,539 19,208

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to the financial statements.

Transactions with other state-owned enterprises
The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government through its
numerous authorities, affiliates or other organisations
(collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). During the year,
the Group had transactions with State-owned Enterprises
including, but not limited to, sales of and purchases
of processed foodstuffs and raw materials. The board
considers that transactions with other State-owned
Enterprises are activities conducted in the ordinary course
of the business, and that dealings of the Group have not
been significantly or unduly affected by the fact that the
Group and other State-owned Enterprises are ultimately
controlled or owned by the PRC government. The Group
has also established pricing policies for products and
services, and such policies do not depend on whether or
not the customers are State-owned Enterprises. Having
due regard to the substance of the relationships, the
board of the Company is of the opinion that none of these
transactions is a material related party transaction that
requires separate disclosure.

EEMenE—THFBENYS
WEMES

() BEMEIRLEE RS
AR — 8 B BT E &
FEBBESRME BELQ
A E B SRS M
(R TBEALE]) BEMKBER
BhgE - FR - AEEERA
TERETZIRZBEBTRNH
ERRBEMIR G MRV -
Exgdh BHEORALEE
TZRZUBER AT EEBIZE
TZER AEEZRHUER
ZRER 8 Ko At B A 1 3 i P B R
FR&REEH SRR cTEMBE
AXTEFE - AEETGIEE
RAZE on S AR5 2 EBIGR » ek
ERRTEHRTEFEEEBHE
EEMGIE - KEEZEZFH
B2EE  KRBEZTERR
HERHATBNFEEEBRE
ZERBEALRS °
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2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

39. Particulars of the Principal Subsidiaries

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2010 are as follows:

39. TEMBRRZFHE

ARAREBHBAREZE2010F12 A

B1HZFHBWT

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration  of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name Rl BRTRE/ KT Principal activities
2% RaE- kg HIMEFHEE REBAH FEEEK
China Great Wall Wine Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB180,000,000 100 Production and sale of grape
HERBBEEEERAR mE/FEAE AR 180,000,0007T wines and beverage products
HEREEDED
REHER
Yantai Greatwall Wines and Spirits Co.,  The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
Ltd. * hE/hEAE AR 1,000,0007C HEEHEE
EBERMBEHERRLA
Qinhuangdao Huaxia Greatwall Wines  The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
& Spirits Co., Ltd.* B/ REARE ARH1,000,0007 WEREE
REREBRMBEERLA"
COFCO Greatwall Winery (Yantai) Co., ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB108,000,000 100 Production and sale of
Ltd. * B/ REAE  AR¥108,000,0007 grape wines
HRERAEEE(ER)BRAR HEREEDER
COFCO Huaxia Greatwall Wine Co., The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 Production and sale of
Ltd. * RE/REAE  AR200,000,0007 grape wines
HEZEERNEEBERAA" HEREERER
COFCO Huaxiahong Wines & Spirits The PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 80 Wholesale of grape wines
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** B /R EARE AR 3,000,000 7T HEEEH
REEBEE (RN ERAH
COFCO Junding Vineyard Co., Ltd. **  The PRC/Mainland China RMB140,000,000 55 Production and sale of
PIEEEEEERNR RE/PEAE  AKE140,000,0007T grape wines
HERHERER
COFCO & Arrive Vine Plant (Yantai) The PRC/Mainland China EUR500,000 58.38 Plantation of vine and
R&D Co., Lid. * HE /R ARE 500,000 BT production of related products
HERSMEREEER(Ha)HE BEIELEEREER
BRAR
COFCO Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB11,760,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
HEEEERAR B/ B ARE AR# 11,760,000 7T WEEEE
COFCO Foods Penglai Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of grape wines
HRERMERERLR B/ R EARE AR#1,000,0007T WEEEE

Annual Report 2010



39. Particulars of the Principal Subsidiaries
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

39. TEMB AR ZFH1E (F)

(continued)
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration  of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name B AT ERTRE/ ADF L Principal activities
a R E -k TMERHE REEAH FTEEK
Shandong COFCO Junding World The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 55 Sale and distribution of
Famous Chateaus Club Co., Ltd. ** B/ R EARE AR 10,000,0007T grape wines, spirits,
LIRPIEETR R A ALY products and storage
BRAA BER  EREERR
MIHE R R B
COFCO Shaoxing Winery Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB68,670,000 100 Production and sale of Chinese
HERERERAR R/ REARE AE#68,670,0007C yellow rice wines
HERHEPEERE
Huailai Greatwall Vine Base The PRC/Mainland China RMB6,860,000 75 Plantation of vine
Development Co., Ltd. ** B/ REARE AEH6,860,0007C Eags
BERGRBEEE AT
BROE ™
Huailai COFCO Greatwall Sungod The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Production and sale of
Chateau Co., Ltd. * ME /R E AR AR 1,000,0007T grape wines
BRTFERIRTETERAR" EEREEREN
Zhangjiakou Jin Guan Wines Co., Ltd. *  The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wine processing and bottling,
FROLTEEEER LR HEREARE ARH1,000,0007 sale and distribution of
wine products
EREMIRER -
HERNHBEER
COFCO Greatwall Wine (Ningxia) Co., ~ The PRC/Mainland China USD16,080,000 100 Import and export of grape wines
Ltd. * mE /PR AR 16,080,000% T and related materials
HERNAEE(EE)ARAA" ENOEERRAES
Shenzhen Le conté Marketing The PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 90 Distribution of
Services Co., Ltd.** HE /B AR AR 15,000,0007C chocolate products
HImemaEERAw PHORNER
COFCO Le conté Food (Shenzhen) The PRC/Mainland China US$24,994,370 100 Production and distribution
Co., Ltd. * mE /PR AR 24,994 370% 7T of chacolate products
RiESHRm ORI BRAR EERAEDORNER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 6b Investment holding
g AR SRR AR AT B HK$2,463,217,002 REER
Ll
2,463,217 00278 T
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) ~ The PRC/Mainland China 1S$30,000,000 6b Investment holding
Investment Ltd. * R/ REARE 30,000,000 BAR
RigR O M &g (R R E
BRAR*
WA RARAT 20104 205
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

39. Particulars of the Principal Subsidiaries

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

39. TEMB AR ZFH1E (F)

(continued)

Place of Percentage

incorporation/ Nominal value of equity

registration  of issued share capital/ attributable to

and operations registered capital the Company
Name SRR,/ BRTRE/ KA AL Principal activities
£ SRR AMEREE REBDL TEEK
Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd. **  The PRC/Mainland China US$15,500,000 32.5*  Beverage bottling production,
REAOALSRBABRAR e/ hEARE 15,500,000 % 7T sale and distribution
FHEREE  IAREE
Hainan COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC/Mainland China US$11,700,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited * BB 11,700,000 T sale and distribution
RO ERRERAR BERMEE  RRREE
Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages ~ The PRC/Mainland China US$8,000,000 65  Beverage bottling production,
Company Limited * R/ hEARE 8,000,000 7T sale and distribution
WETEOTLSHERAR FEFAEE - RAREE
Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China RMB23,000,000 6b Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited * R E AR AR 23,000,0007T sale and distribution
ALREA OMERHBRAR BRI EE  RRREE
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China S$5,000,000 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited * HE /B AR 5,000,000 7T sale and distribution
HERTRIATERHBRAR BREIAEE  RRREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 b2 Beverage bottling production,
(Xinjiang) Limited ** HEREARE AE®60,000,0007C sale and distribution
HIBR D REHK (378) BR AR BRI EE  RAREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jiangxi) ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 65  Beverage bottling production,
Limited * HE /R ARE AR 40,000,0007T sale and distribution
g A AEHK OIE) RAF FHERAEE  BAREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$12,500,000 48.75*  Beverage bottling production,
(Shandong) Limited ** RE/REARE 12,500,000 % 7T sale and distribution
HIgR D AEHE (ILE) BRAR BRI EE - RAREE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jinan) ~ The PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 4875 Beverage bottling production,
Limited ** HE /AR 5,000,000 %7t sale and distribution
PIER O AR (B R ) BIR AR * BRRIEE  BRREE
Beijing Caca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. **  The PRC/Mainland China US$19,500,000 4875 Beverage bottling production,
ERAATEHRHABRAR REREARE 19,500,000 7T sale and distribution

Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

39. TEMB AR ZFH1E (F)

(continued)
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration  of issued share capital/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company
Name HEMEY,/ BRTRE/ KA Principal activities
2 HRREELY EREAEE  BAESK TEER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner The PRC/Mainland China RMB48,000,000 4355*  Beverage bottling production,
Mongolia) Limited ** FE /B AR AR 48000,0007T sale and distribution
RiEE] DA EHE (REE) FRERAE  REAREE
BRAA™
COFCO Food Sales & Distribution The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 Distribution of consumer
Co., Ltd * mE/REIAE AR200,000,000 7T pack edible ofls and other
HERmEEERAA " consumer food products
N NEERAH
REMEER R
COFCO Foods Management Co., Ltd. *  The PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 Research and development
HERMERERAR" mE AR 10,000,000% 7T in food, wines and beverages,
management and
consulting services
MEkAERm - BREE
BV E R
Vina Santa Andrea Limitada Chile CLP7,750,000,000 100 Exploitation and operation of
2 BFBR vineyards, production and
7,750,000,000 7T sale of grape wines
RERGEEEE
SEREETER
COFCO Wines & Spirits (Huailai) The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Sale of grape wines, brandy
Co., Litd. * HE/REARE ARH1,000,0007 and beverage
HIEEE (BR) HERR LR HERDE  oF RSN
COFCO (Ningxia) Vine Plantation The PRC/Mainland China US$7,040,000 100 Plantation and sale of vine,
Co., Ltd. * E /B AR 7,040,000 7T production and sale of grapes
TiE(EE ) gBERARAR" BERHETEEN
YERBEERD

* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
**  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures
# These are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and, accordingly, are accounted for subsidiaries by
virtue of the Company'’s control over them

All of the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the

Company.

Except for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and Vina
Santa Andrea Limitada, the statutory audits of the above
subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong
or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the board, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. Giving details of all subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the board, result in particulars of excessive length.

© EBALE

o RAARRE

© RFHRAARNLENBAALN
BAA - A ARARAHKEAAAE
LIRS AHE AR -

NEMBXERMEB ARG HARRME
ERA -

FrApte ] QAT ZaR Rl B R AR K Vina
Santa Andrea Limitada¥h » F#ltffEB A
RIWIER BB L KM EBEARE
XEBRMPEEEMAK B R RIEITEEE
% o

ERIIRARBZHBRR > MESR
GRR REWMBLRAEAFEE
RETBEAZEABRASEEETF
BEZEX2HD BEZERA - &M
EWB AR ZHIBEHE I BARBER
JLk °

R ERAERAE 201044

207



208

o5 A R ()
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

40. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31

December 2010 are as follows:

40. T EBENTZFHE

RARFEERERFR2010F12A31
AZFBmT

Percentage
Nominal value Place of of equity
of issued share capital/ incorporation/ attributable to
registered capital registration the Company
Name BETRE/ Rt KT Principal activities
&8 EMEREE Falisit REBEDL TEBER
Nanjing BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$19,000,000 The PRC 13 Beverages processing
HRRERmARAT 19,000,000 7T H FET
Hangzhou BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$20,000,000 The PRC 13 Beverages processing
MNP ERRARAT] 20,000,000%7T H FENT
CBPC Limited Ordinary Hong Kong 16.3 Procurement of raw
HK$10,000 Bk materials for Coca-Cola
TAER bottlers in Mainland China
10,000 7T EHREAEAT AL
ERERERA
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Ordinary Hong Kong 137 Investment holding
Holdings Limited HK$27,000 55 REER
gl
27,000% 7T

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the board, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. Giving details of all associates would, in the opinion of

the board, result in particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the board, the Group is able to exercise
significant influence over the above companies as the boards of
these companies comprise representatives of the Group, who
participate in the policy-making processes. Accordingly, they

are accounted as associates of the Group.

All of the above associates are indirectly held by the Company.

The statutory audits of the above associates were not
performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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41. Financial instruments by category 41. BRERE P z2E@MI A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEHR - SEeTANER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: [EROENE
2010 2010F Group
Financial assets SREE PN
Financial
Available- assets at fair
for-sale Held-to-  value through
financial Loans and maturity  profit or loss
assets receivables  investments EATVE
AHLE ERR BEE  SIABHEZ Total
SREE KR HHRE SREE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL TEL TR TR

Due from associates
Due from fellow subsidiaries
Due from the ultimate
holding company
Due from the immediate
holding company
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Accounts and hills receivables
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Held-to-maturity investments
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

BANEIRT

RZMBRARRT
RRERRRARK

ERERARRK
BAFEFAES L
R E
AHLERE
U ENES
ATABNE  #E
REMENRTIEL
TREE
BRENHRE
BERER
ReRReSERR

WE A RAE 20104
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued) 41. BERE D 2RI A (F)
2010 20105 Group
Financial liabilities cHMEE rEH

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

BREERASIE

ZERMAR

HK$’000

FHET

Due to associates R E & N RIFRIR 233,626

Due to fellow subsidiaries YNGEES]NGIE ¢ 1,089,857

Due to the ultimate holding companies REAE NN B RIB 31,337

Due to related companies REAE N RFIA 692,062

Due to non-controlling shareholders IR IEVERS A B 2 B 47,049

Loans from fellow subsidiaries RKEREKBATER 29,380

Accounts and bills payables BRI RE 999,864
Financial liabilities included in FAEMENFIERETAE

other payables and accruals e = 1,754,044

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 1,486,772

6,363,991
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

41. ZERE D 2SR T A (&)

2009 20094 Group
Financial assets SRBE r5E
Financial
assets at fair
Available- value
for-sale Held-to- through
financial Loans and maturity profit or loss
assefs receivables  investments BATE
g Bk BEE  JIABEZ Total
SREE i3] SR E SREE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT AT FAT AT
Due from associates BEARRR - 993 - - 993
Due from fellow subsidiaries RIZM BRI - 4417 - - 4417
Due from the ultimate holding
company REEERARRGR - 5314 - - 5314
Due from the immediate holding
company BEERARRT - 355 - - 355
Equity investments at fair value BATHER A BR
through profit or loss LRERRES - - - 16,728 16,728
Available-for-sale investments At HERE 206,59 - - - 206,59
Accounts and bills receivables YRR ZE - 1,080,537 - - 1,080,537
Financial assets included in SABNGE - 28
prepayments, deposits and REMERIEZ
other receivables SREE - 273,455 - - 273,455
Held-to-maturity investments BERIMEE - - 98,252 - 98,252
Pledged deposits [REREIER - 29,345 - - 29,345
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReSEER - 1,943,103 - - 1,943,103
206,596 3,337,519 98,252 16,728 3,659,095
R ERAERAE 201044
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41. BEHE P 2eMT A (&)

41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

2009 2009 4 Group
Financial liabilities THAE REHE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
LB ERATIE
ZEmAasE
HK$'000
FHET
Due to associates REEE N R)FRIA 102,291
Due to fellow subsidiaries KRR B R RFIA 794,141
Due to the ultimate holding companies REAE NN B RIR 57,067
Due to related companies RESEBRRFRIA 455,766
Due to non-controlling shareholders IR IEVERS AR B 2 FOIE 134,187
Loans from fellow subsidiaries REREKBATER 14,765
Accounts and bills payables EERA N RE 916,302
Financial liabilities included in FAEMENFIERETAE
other payables and accruals ZEemEE 1,707,547
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRTTER 788,327
4,970,393
2010 2010% Company
Financial assets SREE AN
Financial
assets at fair
Held-to-  value through
Loans and maturity  profit or loss
receivables  investments BAYE
EZR BEE  JAE®Z Total
EkzE BERE SREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx TEn TER
Due from subsidiaries L EUNGIDE 4,343,882 = - 4,343,882
Due from the immediate holding company & ZIZAR A AR 3% 165 - - 165
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENTFUA » B4 A
deposits and other receivables BN EREE 3,551 = = 3,551
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReZEER 22,463 = = 22,463
Held-to-maturity investments BEZIHRE - 83,132 = 83,132
Equity investments at fair BATENNER
value through profit or loss JERHRE - - 13,310 13,310
4,370,061 83,132 13,310 4,466,503
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41. Financial instruments by category (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

41. ZERE D 2SR T A (&)

2010 20105 Company
Financial liabilities cRas AT
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BB K ATIE
ZEmEs
HK$’000
FER
Due to subsidiaries R NGIE e 68,083
Financial liabilities included in FFAHMEN BN ETAE
other payables and accruals ZERBE 45,851
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETERITEN 831,000
944,934
2009 2009 Company
Financial assets SREE NS
Financial
assets at fair
Held-to-  value through
Loans and maturity profit or loss
receivables  investments BAYE
ERR BEE  HINBHEZ Total
BRI HERE SREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEL FHIL TEL
Investments in subsidiaries (note 19) PIBARHRE (FFE19) 4,128,076 - - 4,128,076
Due from the immediate holding company BRI AFIR 165 - - 165
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENTFUA « 24 R
deposits and other receivables BN S REE 4,701 - - 4,701
Cash and cash equivalents RBeRBe%EHEA 32,036 - - 32,036
Held-to-maturity investments BHEZIBRE - 98,252 - 98,252
Equity investments at fair BATEINERL
value through profit or loss EnE - - 12,072 12,072
4,164,978 98,252 12,072 4,275,302
WA RARAT 20104 213
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

41. Financial instruments by category (continued)

2009
Financial liabilities

41. BERE D 2RI A (F)
2009 F Company
THAE RAF]
Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

R HRASIE

=N

HK$'000

FBT

Investments in subsidiaries (note 19) PAMIE A R A (3 19) 50,928
Financial liabilities included FFAHMENFRIB N ETAE

in other payables and accruals =y =L 29,774

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 500,000

580,702

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which any inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED  Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

42. Fair value and fair value hierarchy (continued) 42. P ERATFEEBR (E)
Assets measured at fair value: HNFEGECEE -
Group
REH

As at 31 December 2010
72010512 H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E EZE F=E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHERT FET FET FET

Equity investments at fair BEAFESAERE
value through profit or loss 2 #E#IEE 19,199 - - 19,199

Group
&
As at 31 December 2009
R2009% 12 A31 H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F—E F_[E FZE 4T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FET FET

Equity investments at fair LRAHERT ABm®
value through profit or loss ~ Z 5% & 16,728 - - 16,728
Company
RATE

As at 31 December 2010
201012 H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
g o F=E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET

Equity investments at fair LA ERT A&
value through profit or loss 2 #5384 13,310 = = 13,310

Company
Vi N/NE]|
As at 31 December 2009
MR20094 12 A31 8

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E F_E F=E st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR

Equity investments at fair AT ERT A&
value through profit or loss 2 #5384 12,072 - - 12,072

R AR 2010 4E4E 215
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43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank loans and other loans, and cash and bank
balances and time deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on minimising potential adverse effects of these risks,
with material impact, on the Group’s financial performance.
The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term interest-bearing
bank loans and other borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of the
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
are disclosed in note 29.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

43. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

43. B ERERE B ERBER (&)

Interest rate risk (continued) IR = B (48)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
basis in profit
points before tax
HEEH AR
(T~ F%) #hn, R
HK$'000
T
2010 20104
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (6,238)
United States dollar E 100 (133)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 6,238
United States dollar E 100) 133
2009 2009 F
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (3,833)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 3,833
Foreign currency risk HNEE | By

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most of the
Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group
has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign
currency risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit before tax and equity in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period.

AEEMEERFBERELE - MAK
BrBRANERKEE ABRRRS
AIEBABTRARKE - AEH
b 8 ) B AR OT A E K S h EL P D
B2 SNEREE -

TRINRALE Z B AE A & x5 bE

fE R AIBE 2 A IR B (RNEEBLLL N
SHREBERRR) 2MHEHE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

PR EE R R RBUR ()

B/ RTEER BLATRR
A/ (PR #i/(6D) (B)*

s B ()
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
HK$/US$ in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*

Exsm/

% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
2010 20104
If Renminbi weakens against Hong Kong dollar AEANRE B TEER TS 5 - (477,087)
If Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar EANRBABTLER 5 (5) - 477,087
If Renminbi weakens against United States dollar AEANRERFTER TS 5 (2,888) -
If Renminbi strengthens against United States dollar ~ ZAREHETER 5 (5) 2,888 -
2009 2009
If Renminbi weakens against Hong Kong dollar AEANRE B TEER TS 5 - (115,483)
If Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar ENRELBLER L5 (5) - 115,483
If Renminbi weakens against United States dollar AEANRERFTER TS 5 (5,117) -
If Renminbi strengthens against United States dollar ~ ZAREHETER 5 (5) 5,117 -

* Excluding retained profits

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities” profit before tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purpose.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The carrying amount of the accounts receivable represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

43. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policies are to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and to have available funding through bank and
other borrowings to meet its working capital requirements.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group
including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, an amount due to the ultimate
holding company, an amount due to the immediate holding
company, amounts due to related companies, amounts due
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and amounts
due to associates, have been disclosed in notes 29, 38 and 20,
to the financial statements. For accounts and bills payables,
they are generally on credit terms of one to three months
after the invoice date or the date of the six months after the
bills were issued. For the financial liabilities amounting to
HK$1,754,044,000 (2009: HK$1,707,547,000) included in
other payables and accruals disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position, there are generally no specified
contractual maturities for these liabilities, and they are paid on
a regular basis or upon the counterparty’s formal notification.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for capital management during the years
ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010.

2010912 A31 H
31 December 2010

43. B ERERE B ERBER (&)

nBETER
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2010912 A31H
31 December 2010

43.

44.

45.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED

Financial risk management objectives and 43. R EMEEEERBCER (&)
policies (continued)
Capital management (continued) EXREE (&)
Group
AEE
2010 2009
20104 2009 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t S RITEZR R EMEFK 1,516,152 803,092
An amount due to a non-controlling RIEFE R IR
shareholder A = 114,031
Less: Cash and cash equivalents o IBeMReEEY (1,741,203) (1,943,103)
Net cash position FIREAR (225,051) (1,025,980)
Net assets attributable to owners of BREHBABILEE
the parent FE 5,946,894 5,482,899
Net assets attributable to owners of BREHB AEILEE
the parent, exclude net cash positions FE - TEE
FR AR 5,721,843 4,456,919
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44. REREEIE
In January 2011, Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS (“Top R20114 18 - AREIZ2EMBERF]
Glory Europe”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS
with a registered capital of EUR4,150,000, was incorporated in ([Top Glory Europel) PNABFEMAK
France. 3 FEfE A& 4,150,000 BT ©
In February 2011, Top Glory Europe acquired the 100% MR201142 A * Top Glory Europe B 78
equity interest in Société Du Chateau de Viaud SAS (“Chéateau 325 = 77 YZ B Société Du Chateauu de
de Viaud”) from an independent third party at a cash Viaud SAS ([ Chateau de Viaud |) 100%
consideration of EUR8,253,000. Chateau de Viaud is engaged % #E - 3R € (B & 8,253,000 K T °
in the operation of vineyard and production and sale of grape Chateau de Viaud it S8 ER + £
wines. EREEEEHE -
Approval of the financial statements 45. R E 2 E

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board on 28 March 2011.
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Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated and reclassified as appropriate, is set out

below:

AEBBERFAVRFEZRENEE

BEEFTRESHEDREAE TR

REZEAMBRE  AEEIIREHD
BOERERBRME)  BRAARENTX :

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BILEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
20105 20095 20084 2007 & 2006 £
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx FET TET TET TET
(Restated)
(&5))
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FECEER
REVENUE ThON 19,955,984 16823475 14240283 9,743,011 6,497,453
PROFIT FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES SRR 862,435 943,190 662,716 917,353 494,437
Finance costs BEMAE (45,425) (53,927) (31,382) (33,078) (45,426)
Share of profits of associates [E(hEEE N ELER 64,038 60,438 124,996 49167 49,624
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR Al 1 881,048 949,701 756,330 933,442 498,635
Income tax expense FEfiAY (260,326) (229,396) (136,251) (135,792) (105,877)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
FROM CONTINUING SEICEER
OPERATIONS ZEERF 620,722 720,305 620,079 797,650 392,758
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRI ER
Profit for the year from BRI ER
discontinued operations FRZmF - - - 239,769 831,909
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEHA 620,722 720,305 620,079 1,037,419 1,224,667
Attributable to: FE1E 7 -
Owners of the parent SARHEA A 427,567 568,081 483,427 791,686 990,064
Non-controlling interests R 193,155 152,224 136,652 245,733 234,603
620,722 720,305 620,079 1,037,419 1,204,667
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE AR
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS TR R
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 14,974,970 12495840 10447863 8992460 21,798,297
TOTAL LIABILITIES gaiE (7,425,560) (5,610,701)  (4,122,889)  (3,358,959) (10,236,168)
NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS 3ty (1,602,516)  (1,402,240)  (1,232,674)  (1,074.850)  (1,807,721)
5,946,894 5,482,899 5,092,300 4,558,651 9,754,408
hEESAERAT 201044
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Financial Calendar

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS
Monday, 28 March 2011

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Friday, 3 June 2011 to Wednesday, 8 June 2011 (both days
inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Wednesday, 8 June 2011

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend: HK2.30 cents per share

Proposed Final Dividend: HK3.21 cents per share (Payable: Friday,
17 June 2011)
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